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A. Basic Principles
1.

Organisation and structure

This management report refers to Landesbank Berlin AG including the Berliner Sparkasse
hence the designation Landesbank Berlin AG / Berliner Sparkasse (LBB/BSK) is used
below.
Landesbank Berlin AG (LBB) is a non-listed joint stock company [Aktiengesellschaft] and a
credit institution within the meaning of the German Banking Act (KWG). It is the
governmentally appointed sponsor of Berliner Sparkasse (BSK) and according to the Berlin
Savings Bank Act [Berliner Sparkassengesetz] it is deemed an own savings banks
association. The Berlin Savings Banks Association is a member of the German Savings
Bank Association [Deutscher Sparkassen- und Giroverband] (DSGV) and therefore one of
12 regional savings banks associations. It represents the interests of LBB/BSK within the
Sparkasse Financial Group and with regard to the state of Berlin. The Berliner Sparkasse
is a public institution with partial legal capacities and is managed as a branch of Landesbank
Berlin AG.
Section 2 Para. 1 Berlin Savings Bank Act defines the public services that the Berliner
Sparkasse, which was founded in 1818, is expected to provide: "The Berliner Sparkasse is
responsible for promoting saving and satisfying local borrowing requirements, in particular
those of small and medium-sized enterprises and of the economically weaker groups of the
population." With regard to the principles of business policy, Section 4 Berlin Savings Bank
Act is decisive: "The business of the Berliner Sparkasse is to be managed according to
commercial principles, taking general economic aspects into account." In this sense, the
LBB/BSK acts and carries out its work with the aim of fulfilling its public service mandate at
all times. The focus of its business activity is placed on the needs of the customers.
LBB/BSK regularly adjusts its products and services to the current market conditions.
LBB/BSK is a member of the institution-based protection scheme of the Sparkasse
Financial Group. The most important task of the protection scheme is to provide an institute
guarantee scheme. The aim is to ensure the continued existence of each member so that
the institutes’ commercial relationships with their customers can continue as contractually
agreed. The Sparkasse Financial Group's protection scheme also fulfils the statutory
deposit protection requirements.
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LBB/BSK in the group of companies as at 31 December 2021*
Regionalverbandsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe mbH
General partner

Erwerbsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe mbH & Co. KG
General partner

Beteiligungsgesellschaft der SFinanzgruppe mbH & Co. KG

89.37 %

10.63 %

Landesbank Berlin Holding AG

100 %

Landesbank Berlin AG/

100 %

Berlin Hyp AG

Berliner Sparkasse
66.67 %

S-Kreditpartner
GmbH

Other participating
interests
S-Servicepartner Berlin
GmbH (70 %)
LBB
Grundstücksgesellschaft
mbH (100 %)

...

* The presentation is limited to the essential participating interests and associated companies.

2.

Supervision and regulatory provisions

LBB/BSK is, as the group of Erwerbsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe mbH & Co. KG (SErwerbsgesellschafts-Group) on the whole, subject to direct supervision by the European
Central Bank (ECB). Ongoing monitoring is performed by what is known as the "Joint
Supervisory Team", which is made up of employees from the ECB, the Federal Financial
Supervisory Authority (BaFin) and the Deutsche Bundesbank and coordinated by the ECB.
As at 31 December 2021, the CET1 capital ratio in the individual institution LBB/BSK
amounted to 18.5 %. The capital ratio of LBB/BSK profited substantially from the use of
internal models, which are recognised under supervisory law (IRBA-internal ratings based
approach, AMA – advanced measurement approach). Due to the finalisation of the package
reforming the regulatory framework for banks, as agreed by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision in December 2017 — frequently also referred to as "Basel IV" —

Management Report

5 of 147

capital benefits from the application of internal models are expected to be limited in the
future. Changes to the standardised approach to credit risk are also expected to lead to
slightly higher capital requirements. LBB/BSK will take suitable measures in a timely
manner to maintain the capital ratios in order to counter this effect.

3.

Business activity

In the second year of the corona pandemic LBB/BSK also comprehensively ensured the
elementary basic provision of the citizens of Berlin with central financial services as well as
the provision with cash. All corporate centres, self-service centres and ATMs were fully
available throughout the entire period. The temporarily restricted opening times of the 78
branches were successively extended again to the standard opening times. In addition,
other contact options such as online banking, telephony, email or chat were maintained or
expanded. LBB/BSK continued to orientate itself to the recommendations of the federal
government, of the crisis team of the federal government, the Robert Koch-Institute (RKI)
as well as of the state government in Berlin. The private customers as well as companies
affected by the economic implications of the corona pandemic were advised and supported
extensively with regard to their financial questions and concerns. For consultation talks in
the Berliner Sparkasse the 2G rule was introduced on 8 December 2021 for the protection
of the employees as well as the customers.
The Corona crisis also continued to have a significant impact on LBB/BSK itself. The results
of operations were indeed not encumbered again by an increased risk provision, but the
latent risks still exist in the credit sector and are covered by the existing provision. The net
commission income continued to remain behind the pre-pandemic level against the
background of changed and less customer contacts as well as the restriction to the travel
activity in several sectors. Increased hygiene requirements resulted in additional expenses.
Individual effects are described in detail in the remainder of the management report.
LBB/BSK also fulfilled its role as a modern universal bank under these difficult conditions.
It advises its customers in all essential questions of finance. The focus is placed in this case
on the business with private and corporate customers, the regional commercial real estate
financing, the business with large company customers as well as private banking. Services
range from payment transactions and financial investment to the financing of private or
commercial investments and structured asset consulting and investment. LBB/BSK also
offers services relating to pensions, insurance and private real estate financing.
A mixture of sales channels is available for business with private customers. This consists
of classical branch business with personal advice in one of the sales offices as well as the
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"Neighbourhood Advice Team" ["Beratungsteam im Kiez"], which customers access at
regional contact points. In addition, there is the Media Advisory Centre, which offers contact
and advisory options via video, chat or telephone as well as comprehensive online banking,
also for the smartphone or tablet. Availability by telephone is guaranteed throughout (24/7).
The Private Banking service provides wealthy customers with tailor-made advice on all
financial matters. Within the framework of this holistic support, in addition to classic topics
such as asset investment and financing, inheritance and foundation management with its
cross-generational advice must be emphasised.
Another highly specialised support concept is available to physicians and therapists in
private practice with the “Health Practitioners Center” [HeilberufeCenter]. The personal
support covers business matters such as practice financing or payment transactions as well
as all private needs of the customers.
LBB/BSK has bundled its expertise in private construction financing in six real estate
centres and BSK Immobilien GmbH, which acts as a property broker. Customers looking
for personal advice with a great deal of flexibility in terms of place and time can get advice
from our mobile consulting service, regardless of our opening times. The Club at the high
end ["Klub zur hohen Kante"] (advisory team is specially geared to the needs of young
customers. For day-to-day needs, LBB/BSK also offers the largest network of self-service
machines in the city of Berlin.
The credit card business, which consists of the portfolios with the cooperation partners
Amazon EU S.à.r.l. and ADAC Finanzdienste GmbH in particular, is complemented by
LBB’s own-brand credit card portfolio. Due to the change in the strategic objective of
LBB/BSK and the concentration on its core business as well as ensuring the typical structure
of a big city Sparkasse, the cooperation business with Co-Branding Cards is to be ended.
The activities will be pressed ahead on a portfolio-specific basis. A sale of the ADAC
portfolio is envisaged in 2023. LBB/BSK is coordinating closely with Amazon regarding the
further procedure. The portfolios will be further managed in 2022.
In the field of business with corporate customers, LBB/BSK is a partner and service provider
for companies of all sizes and industries in the region of Berlin. This includes not only
corporate customers but also trade and business customers.
Business start-ups and innovative start-ups based within the region, as well as associations,
foundations, public companies and regional authorities consider LBB/BSK to be a reliable
financial services provider. The BusinessLine advises business customers with an annual
turnover of up to EUR 500,000 exclusively by telephone.
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For larger commercial customers and corporate customers, regional and sector-specialised
corporate centres are also available for individual support. These consist of the units "Digital
Economy", "Retail and Hospitality", "Foundation and Succession", "Crafts", "Media and
Creative Industries" and "Startups". The largest corporate customers are served personally
by the Corporate Customers Unit.
Specialised advisory services are also provided by experts in the areas of "international
business", "digitalisation", "leasing and subsidies" and "payment transactions".
With many years of expertise and a regional focus, LBB/BSK is an active real estate
financier on the Berlin market. It is on hand to give all groups of customers advice on their
financing requirements, from investors and housing associations to wealthy private
customers. Finance is provided for commercial real estate in the range of EUR 5 to 50
million. Larger financing is mostly realised together with consortium partners from the
Sparkasse Financial Group.
The Treasury and Corporate Clients business division is arranged on the one hand with the
core functions of hedging and refinancing customer business, liquidity management, DepotA with credit substitute business within the scope of classic asset allocation and strategic
deadline transformation in a manner typical of a savings bank. On the other hand, it also
conducts business with corporate customers and public-sector institutions.
The central divisions and back office units provide additional services in the areas of
compliance, credit, finance, risk controlling, organisational and productivity management,
corporate development, customer and product management, risk management and legal,
audit and human resources.
LBB/BSK is also integrated into a close network of specialised alliance partners within the
Sparkasse Financial Group.
S-Kreditpartner GmbH (SKP) is the more specialised alliance partner for the car and
consumer credit business in the Sparkasse Financial Group. As at 31 December 2021, 343
of 371 savings banks were linked to the SKP via a cooperation agreement. In addition to
LBB/BSK, Deutsche Sparkassen Leasing AG & Co. KG is also a shareholder in SKP.
LBB/BSK holds 66.67 per cent of the voting shares. Decisions made by the group of
shareholders require a majority of votes of 75 per cent.
SKP makes the suitable products available to the partner savings banks for this purpose
and supports comprehensive consultancy to customers. All technical processes and
personal support provided by SKP are aimed at giving the savings bank adviser on site the
freedom they need to give their customers optimum advice on S-Privatkredit [private credit]
and S-Autokredit [vehicle financing]. Especially for the online business the SKP additionally
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offers its partner Sparkasse banks a range of services under the brand S Kredit-per-Klick
that has also been available since this year in the current account (account turnover credit)
and in the S-App (express credit). Moreover, the SKP concentrates in the vehicle and
recreational vehicle trade on the dealer purchase financing.
LBB/BSK provides a proportion of the SKP refinancing, taking the profile of the consumer
loans into account. The terms and conditions (interest, collateralisation, terms) are in line
with the typical structures on the market.
In the field of risk controlling, LBB/BSK and Landesbank Berlin Holding AG (LBBH) act in a
managerial role for SKP.
S-Servicepartner Berlin GmbH (S-Servicepartner) is an alliance partner in the back office
that supports LBB/BSK in further strengthening its core competencies in sales. In this way,
LBB/BSK consistently follows the strategic guidelines of the Sparkasse Financial Group. SServicepartner offers a broad and balanced range of back-office services in the fields of
assets and liabilities, SEPA and foreign payment transactions, as well as in the field of
international business and securities business.

4.

Strategic goals

In terms of its strategic direction, LBB/BSK predominantly focuses on the joint business
strategy of the German savings banks. By doing so, it helps to achieve the savings banks’
joint strategic goals: fulfilling the public mandate, exploiting the market as much as possible
and attaining a stable risk position and the highest possible level of efficiency, i.e. a low
cost/income ratio.
In this way, LBB/BSK is positioned in five different dimensions, each with their own strategic
objective:


LBB/BSK strives to be the best credit institution for the people and businesses in
Berlin. These include the customer satisfaction and visibility in the city as well as the
market leadership.



For its owners, LBB/BSK wants to be a valuable company that is constantly
improving in comparison with the 25 largest savings banks. Within the scope of the
future programme "Z25!" a cost programme was set up with ambitious targets and
a monitoring measures controlling was established for ensuring sustainable
profitability and independence. With this cost programme, LBB/BSK combines the
goal of reducing the administrative expenses of the core savings bank by around
30% by 2025, i.e. by at least EUR 250 million compared to 2019. About 60% of
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these savings are in material costs and 40% in personnel costs. For more than 90%
of the cost target aimed at for 2025 with the material costs measures in varying
degrees of hardness are envisaged today already. The savings target for the
personnel expenses is already fully supported with measures. LBB/BSK sees
starting points for the cost reduction with the material costs, in particular in the
consistent use of processes and IT systems of the Sparkasse Financial Group and
its affiliated service providers, with which personnel costs are primarily saved in the
outsourcing of the pension obligations, which were implemented in the reporting
year already by the spin-off of substantial parts of the pension obligations to a
pension fund not in the form of an insurance.


LBB/BSK offers its customers attractive and simple services and products. These
will be available more comprehensively also digitally in future.



LBB/BSK wants to continue to be an attractive employer. For this purpose, LBB/BSK
promotes its employees with manifold further training programmes and relies on
modern, also digital and mobile forms of cooperation.



In order to be efficient, flexible and productive, LBB/BSK is modernising its
infrastructure by investing in the IT and standard solutions of the Sparkasse
Financial Group and is automating more processes.

In the five strategic dimensions, the strategic goals are realised, gauged and monitored over
a five-year period.

5.

Controlling

LBB/BSK’s corporate policy is managed based on an annually recurring process of strategy
and planning, in accordance with regulatory requirements. It is therefore risk and valueoriented and generally follows the procedural steps of planning, implementation, evaluation
and adjustment. The central controlling instruments include in particular the financial
statements, plans, financial and risk reports prepared according to commercial laws and
regulatory requirements, as well as liquidity, new business and portfolio reports. Potential
deviations and their causes are continuously analysed based on plan-actual and planforecast comparisons.
The following financial performance indicators are therefore important to LBB/BSK:


Transfer of profit or loss to Landesbank Berlin Holding AG (LBBH)



Administrative expenses



CET1 capital ratio: ratio of CET1 capital allowable under supervisory law to total risk
amount



Balance sheet total
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Receivables from customers



Liabilities to customers



Cost-Income-Ratio (CIR): Ratio from the administrative expenses and the revenues
(interest surplus, commission surplus and other operating income)



Return-on-Equity: Ratio from the "earnings before taxes and profit transfer" plus the
amended special item for general bank risks according to Section 340g of the
German Commercial Code (HGB) and the average balance sheet equity including
the special item for general bank risks according to Section 340g HGB

Moreover, there is the following non-financial performance indicator:


Employee capacities

The customer satisfaction is the supporting non-financial performance indicator.
With regard to the 2021 financial year, LBB/BSK prepared a separate non-financial report
in accordance with Section 289 b and c HGB (Sustainability Report). This is not part of the
management report, but it will be released together with it. In addition, LBB/BSK will publish
its Sustainability Report on its website at https://www.berliner-sparkasse.de/de/home/ihresparkasse/ihre-sparkasse-vor-ort.html.

6.

Social commitment

The Berliner Sparkasse Foundation, the Stiftung Brandenburger Tor (Brandenburg Gate
Foundation) and the Berliner Sparkassenstiftung Medizin (Berlin Savings Bank Foundation
for Medicine) form a building block of LBB/BSK's social commitment. They support social
projects, education and equal opportunities for children and young people, art and cultural
projects as well as medical research with a focus on rare diseases.
The funds from "PS-Sparen und Gewinnen" (PS Savings and Winning) were used to
support children's and youth projects as well as institutions for the care of the disabled and
elderly in cooperation with the Senate Departments for Integration, Labour and Social
Affairs as well as Education, Youth and Family.
Berliner Sparkasse awards the Roman Herzog Prize for the further development of
cooperation in society and participates in the Prize for Understanding and Tolerance of the
Jewish Museum Berlin as well as the Margot Friedländer Prize, which honours schools for
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their culture of remembrance of the Holocaust. Furthermore, LBB/BSK participated in the
Inclusion Prize initiated by the State of Berlin.
A widespread neighbourhood funding programme supports a multitude of small projects in
schools, sports clubs, and social and cultural institutions in all districts of Berlin.
LBB/BSK is a sponsor in the fields of sport, culture and social affairs, as well as at important
events in the history of the city. For example, it supports the youth work of the Füchse Berlin
handball club and promotes top-level and popular sports together with the state sports
federation.
We work together with the Komische Oper Berlin to foster cultural diversity and the
participation of all social classes in the opera. The partnership with the Museum für
Naturkunde Berlin includes various event and podcast series to impart knowledge. At Berlin
Zoo, LBB/BSK supports the educational programme of the so-called "Zoo School" and is
involved in species conservation programmes through animal sponsorships.
There is close cooperation with the FU Berlin in the promotion of start-ups and through an
endowed professorship on the topic of digitalisation. An endowed professorship on the topic
of banking regulation is jointly funded with the S-Finanzgruppe's School of Finance &
Management. In addition, LBB/BSK supports the Berlin Music Commission, a network of
Berlin's music industry, and the Berlin-Brandenburg Business Plan Competition. Together
with the Berlin University of Applied Sciences, LBB/BSK supports potential founders on their
way to self-employment.
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B. Economic report
1.

Basic economic conditions

The German gross domestic product increased in the whole year by more than average
2.9%, however missed the expectations that were set high after the sharp fall in the previous
year. The economic environment was influenced to a special extent by the progress of the
corona pandemic. Long-lasting contact restrictions had thus further put the brakes on the
business activity at the beginning of the year. Later on, logistics and production increasingly
faltered. State bridging aid, on the other hand, contributed to the stabilisation. The number
of company insolvencies fell further over the year. Based on the recovery of private
consumption the gross domestic product recovered in the second and third quarter,
however also then remained still just under one percentage point below the status before
outbreak of the pandemic. Above all the brakes were put on foreign trade in this recovery
phase and the investment activity remained very muted.
The rampant occurrence of infections made it necessary to reduce the contact density in
the final quarter. The savings rate of the private households thus rose once again so that
from an overall economic point of view in the third phase the gross domestic product even
shrank by 0.3%.
The economic performance in Berlin increased in the first half of 2021 with 2.1% to the
previous year slightly slower than the gross domestic product throughout Germany.
However, the increase in employment subject to social security contributions in Berlin
accelerated in the third quarter to 1% compared to the same period of the previous year
and thus increased the lead over the nationwide value (0.4%). The backlog in growth in the
business area of LBB/BSK could thus have been compensated for throughout the whole
year. However, the effects of the pandemic were strongly felt throughout the tourism sector.
Even in the third quarter, which was marked by recovery, the number of guests and
overnight stays in Berlin only reached three-fifths of previous levels. At the same time the
online and mail order trade, which are strongly represented in Berlin, profited from the
changed demand behaviour of the consumers. The digitalisation boost also opened up
additional opportunities for expansion for the companies in the provision of software and
data services.
The pandemic brought along relocation of activities into the residential environment of
private households. The housing offers did not keep up with the pressure from demand.
With the building permits the number of building projects rose in the first eleven months of
2021 alone compared to the same period of the previous year, whereas the number of
approved apartments fell by 11% to just under 16,000. The rise in property prices continued
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over the course of 2021. High purchase prices and offered rents impeded the move to the
city. In 2021, net migration is likely to have shown a catch-up effect compared to the
previous year. However, the immigration surplus is still likely to have fallen short of the
already moderate level of 23,000 in 2019.
With a growth of expectedly 2.3% employment increased considerably in the whole year.
The number of unemployed did indeed fall in Berlin over the year by 23,000 to 179,000 and
the unemployment rate decreased over the course of the year from 10.1% to 8.8% still.
However, the surcharge in the unemployment rate due to corona, according to the list of the
federal agency in Berlin, with 1.4 percentage points towards the end of the year remained
high, whereas nationwide it only amounted to 0.2 percentage points still. The still moderate
development of the labour market figures is expressed in a marked increase in the longterm unemployment, of which in Berlin towards the end of the year with 73,000 almost twice
as many of working persons were affected as before the corona outbreak.
The European Central Bank left its deposit rate at -0.5 % over the year and at the same
time continued its bond purchase programme with the focus on the Pandemic Emergency
Purchase Programme (PEPP) initiated in the previous year. The increase in the monthly
PEPP purchasing volume initiated as of the spring was however withdrawn as of the autumn.
Further steps for the withdrawal of the very expansive course were however not carried out,
although inflation as a central monetary political target figure accelerated substantially and
amounted to 5.0% towards the close of the year. With increasing inflation risks the capital
market interest rose, however this was also counteracted again by economic concerns. The
yields of ten-year government bonds ultimately fluctuated over the year in a range between
-0.5% and -0.1%. The yield curve continued to feature with a distance of 40 basic points
between two- and ten-year terms only a slight increase. The credit portfolio of all banks in
Germany towards domestic companies and private persons rose over the course of the
year by 5.2% and thus in a similar volume as in the previous years.

2.

Business development

The 2021 financial year continued to be affected by the impact of the Corona pandemic.
The recovery of the German economy from the effects of the pandemic is progressing
considerably slower than expected and the forecasts for the economic growth in the coming
year were also reduced substantially.
The consequences from the current pandemic development and its effects on the quality of
the credit portfolio are not fully foreseeable. LBB/BSK has taken into account the risk of time
discrepancies with regard to current information regarding the current financial
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circumstances of the borrowers as of the balance sheet key date and rating deteriorations,
which occurred on the balance sheet key date and will only become known after the balance
sheet key date with the evaluation of the submitted information relating to the financial
circumstances of borrowers. In this respect, there is a significant risk provision for the
protection of corresponding latent default risks in the amount of EUR 75 million.
The key performance indicators for LBB/BSK developed as follows during the 2021 financial
year:
Performance indicators

ACTUAL
31.12.2021

Forecast for 2021
30.06.2021

1

ACTUAL

31.12.2020

1

31.12.2020

Transfer of profit to LBBH (EUR million)

42

32

32

43

Administrative expenses (EUR million)

852

< 886

886

857

Employee capacities

2,992

3,001

3,001

3,147

Hard core capital ratio in %

18.5%

13.5%

13.5%

16.6%

Balance sheet total (EUR million)

52,484

52,200

46,200

49,145

Receivables from customers (EUR million)

27,381

< 29,000

29,000

25,787

Liabilities to customers (EUR million)

34,395

> 31,900

31,900

30,964

Cost-Income-Ratio in %

85.3%

> 86.1%

86.1%

86.2%

Return-on-Equity in %

10.1%

3.1%

3.1%

1.8%

1 as reported on the relevant key date

LBB/BSK was able to transfer an operating result in the amount of EUR to LBBH in the
reporting year. The results of LBB/BSK were thus at the same level as the previous year.
The originally planned transfer of results of EUR 32 million could be exceeded due to a
higher operating result.
The administrative expenses amounted to EUR 852 million which was EUR 34 million
significantly below the budgeted figure. The personnel expenses were EUR 24 million below
the planned level. The background was essentially the outsourcing of a large part of the
pension obligations as of 31 October 2021 to a pension fund that was not yet included in
the planning. In the other administrative expenses, it was possible to achieve savings in the
advertising costs and the IT expenses. In contrast, the costs for services of third parties
were higher.
Employee capacities continued to decline in line with expectations.
The CET1 capital ratio as at 31 December 2021 of 18.5 % was above the forecast amount.
This resulted from a non-scheduled transfer to the fund for general bank risks according to
Section 340g HGB in connection with the outsourcing of the pension obligations and thus
for the CET1 capital and from lower weighted risk assets. In the planning increased capital
requirements from deteriorated ratings due to the corona pandemic were expected still.
Owing to the further participation in the ECB refinancing programme Targeted longer-term
refinancing operations (TLTRO III) in the total amount of EUR 7.8 billion (previous year:
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EUR 6.6 billion), which was not yet taken into consideration in the planning at the beginning
of the year, the balance sheet total as of 31 December 2021 was substantially above the
originally expected value of EUR 46.2 billion.
Receivables from customers by product

Change
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

absolute

in %

Mortgage loans

11,111

10,736

375

3.5

Municipal loans

1,532

1,442

90

6.2

Other advances

14,738

13,609

1,129

8.3

Total

27,381

25,787

1,594

6.2

in EUR million

The volume of customer receivables increased in 2021 by , primarily as a result of the
growth in new business for property loans (relating to mortgage loans and other receivables).
However, it was not possible to achieve the forecast value of EUR 29 billion.
Liabilities to customers by product
in EUR million
Daily due liabilities
Term deposits
Savings deposits
Registered Pfandbriefe
Borrowers note loans
Total

Change
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

absolute

29,204

25,725

3,479

13.5

189

244

-55

-22.6

4,545

4,555

-10

-0.2

454

437

17

3.9

3

3

0

0.0

34,395

30,964

3,431

11.1

in %

The liabilities towards customers in the reporting year exhibited an increase that exceeded
the original expectation. The fall in the savings and term deposits was compared – despite
the charging of a custody fee – to an increase in particular with the liabilities due daily.
The cost-income ratio of 85.3 % was slightly below the original expectation. The cause for this
was considerably lower administrative expenses than planned.
The return on equity was higher than expected with 10.1 % due to the significant conversion
of reserves pursuant to Section 340f HGB in the fund for general bank risks pursuant to
Section 340g HGB.

3.

Results of operations

Result

Change
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

absolute

in %

Interest surplus

772

767

5

0.7

Commission surplus

248

233

15

6.4

Administrative expenses

852

857

-5

-0.6

Personnel expenses

383

380

3

0.8

Other administrative expenses

447

452

-5

-1.1

in EUR million
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22

25

-3

-12.0

Other operating income

-20

-6

-14

<-100.0

Operating profit before risk provisions

148

137

11

8.0

-105

132

-237

<-100.0

-104

124

-228

<-100.0

-1

8

-9

<-100.0

253

5

248

> 100.0

1

35

-34

-97.1

Risk provisions
Risk provisions in the loan business (net)
Result from securities of the liquidity
reserve
Operating profit
Results from financial assets
Fund for general bank risks

213

0

213

<-100

Earnings before taxes

41

40

1

2.5

Other taxes

-1

-3

2

-66.7

Profit transfer

42

43

-1

-2.3

0

0

0

-

Net profit for the year

Slight improvement in interest surplus
The interest surplus of EUR 772 million was slightly above the previous year's figure of EUR
767 million, in particular due to the participation in longer-term refinancing operations of the
ECB (TLTRO-III). The TLTRO III transactions resulted in an interest reduction of EUR 45.8
million (previous year: EUR 0.0 million). A lower investment result had a contrary effect.
Commission surplus above previous year
At EUR 248 million, commission surplus was EUR 15 million higher than the previous year’s
figure. Just over half of the surplus was attributed to payment transactions and account
management. The increase in the commission surplus could in particular be generated in
the securities business. Further growth is a result of higher income in the field of account
management and in the card business as well as in insurance brokerage.
Administrative expenses less than the value in 2020
The administrative expenses of EUR 852 million were EUR 5 million lower than the previous
year's amount of EUR 857 million. The increase in personnel expenses of EUR 3 million
results in particular from the conclusion of contracts for the socially-compatible reduction in
personnel in the amount of EUR 12 million. Above all the lower expenses for retirement
pensions through the outsourcing of a large part of the pension obligations as of 31 October
2021 to a pension fund in the amount of EUR 6 million and the fallen number of personnel
had a contrary effect. The fall in the other administrative expenses is a result of lower costs
with services of third parties, advertising and IT expenses. On the other hand, the expenses
with the other material costs increased (in particular security reserve).
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Other operating income encumbered by the formation of provisions
The balance of the other operating income and expenses amounted to EUR -20 million and
was

EUR 14 millionbelow the level of the previous year. Formation of provisions in

particular for legal risks from the customer business as well as the personnel sector led to
increased other operating expenses. Other operating income from reversals of provisions
in connection with the third-party card business and lesser compounding effects as well as
higher income from the Group service charges had a contrary effect to a lesser extent.
Risk provisioning declining
In 2021, provisions could be used for general bank risks for reinforcing the special items for
general bank risks. Therefore, the net income from risk provisioning in the loan business
amounted to EUR 104 million. This means compared to the same period of the previous
year a fall by EUR 228 million .
For the risk-adequate depiction of existing latent default risks in the credit business in
connection with the corona pandemic an additional general value adjustment exists for
latent risks in the credit portfolio of EUR 75 million (previous year: EUR 75 million) which
was determined on the basis of simulated changes in the decisive parameters (Probability
of Default and Loss given Default).
The valuation of the securities of the liquidity reserve showed a relief of EUR 1 million,
whereas in the previous year still depreciations from the expansion of the Credit-Spreads
as a result of the corona pandemic were necessary.
Financial asset results falling
In the previous year, income from the sale of shares held in VISA Inc. (USA) in the amount
of EUR 30 million. In the reporting year there were no corresponding results.
Funds for general bank risks increased
The fund for general bank risks according to Section 340g HGB was substantially reinforced
to cover the financial risks from the pension fund remaining at LBB/BSK by EUR 213 million .
In the previous year, an allocation was not possible.
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Net assets

Assets
in EUR million

Change
31.12.2021

Receivables from credit institutions
Receivables from customers
Debentures

31.12.2020

absolute

in %

1,837

3,301

-1,464

-44.4

27,381

25,787

1,594

6.2

8,028

9,296

-1,268

-13.6

Shares and other non-fixed-interest securities

236

250

-14

-5.6

Participating interests, shares in affiliated companies

592

566

26

4.6

Tangible assets

68

74

-6

-8.1

Other assets

14,342

9,871

4,471

45.3

Total assets

52,484

49,145

3,339

6.8

Compared to the key date in the previous year, the balance sheet total as at 31 December
2021 increased by EUR 3.3 billion to EUR 52.5 billion .
The receivables from credit institutions of EUR 1.8 billion were EUR 1.5 billion below
the level in the previous year of EUR 3.3 billion.
Receivables from customers increased compared to the key date of the previous year by
EUR 1.6 billion and amounted to EUR 27.4 billion. In particular the portfolio of real estate
financing grew further.
The portfolio of debentures and other fixed-interest securities decreased slightly by EUR
1.3 billion to EUR 8.0 billion. Due items were only replaced by new investments to a small
extent.
The item Shares and other non-fixed-interest securities mainly included shares in
investment funds from proprietary investment on the accounting date.
The change in the item Participating interests / shares in affiliated companies mainly
resulted from the payment to the capital reserves of S-Kreditpartner GmbH in the sum of
EUR 25 million.
The increase in other assets is due to greater deposits in relation to the Deutsche
Bundesbank.
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Liabilities

Change
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

absolute

in %

Liabilities to credit institutions

10,464

9,062

1,402

15.5

Liabilities to customers

34,395

30,964

3,431

11.1

in EUR million

Securitised debt

3,110

3,255

-145

-4.5

Provisions

498

1,692

-1,194

-70.6

Subordinate liabilities

393

396

-3

-0.8

2,161

2,161

0

0.0

1,200

1,200

0

0.0

Equity
Share capital

961

961

0

0.0

Other liabilities

Reserves

1,463

1,615

-152

-9.4

Total liabilities

52,484

49,145

3,339

6.8

The increase in liabilities to credit institutions by EUR 1.4 billion to EUR 10.5 billion was
mainly due to the increased borrowing within the framework of the ECB tender (TLTRO-III).
The liabilities to customers only increased by EUR 3.4 billion to EUR 34.4 billion
compared to the key date in the previous year. The fixed-term deposits were reduced overall.
The growth related to daily due liabilities.
The volume of securitised debts decreased slightly by EUR 0.1 billion to EUR 3.1 billion .
The spin-off of substantial parts of the pension obligations to a pension fund not in the form
of an insurance led in the reporting year to a reduction in the provisions for pension
obligations by EUR 1.2 billion. LBB/BSK continues to have subsidiary liability for the
obligations according to Section 1 Para. 1 Sentence 3 BetrAVG (German Occupational
Pensions Act).
On the accounting date, LBB/BSK’s equity of EUR 2.2 billion remained unchanged
compared to the figure on the key date in the previous year. A balance sheet profit or loss
was not incurred owing to the profit and loss transfer agreement with LBBH.

5.

Financial position

The liquidity management that is relevant for banks and savings banks is based on the
principles stipulated in Section 11 KWG, the "minimum requirements for the risk
management" ("MaRisk" in the version of 16 August 2021) as well as on the provisions of
the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) (Part VI, Articles 411 to 428). The liquidity
management is carried out by the Treasury and Corporate Clients division. Over the course
of 2021, the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) was always above the target value of 100 %;
it totalled 180 % as at 31 December 2021. LBB/BSK's solvency was ensured at all times.
LBB/BSK operates a forward-looking liquidity planning and maintains a liquidity reserve to
ensure the daily readiness to make payments. It uses a balanced mix of instruments for the
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refinancing of its lending business. This includes savings, sight and term deposits of
customers, covered bonds, other securitised debt as well as liabilities to credit institutions.
Corresponding collateral is kept by LBB/BSK, for refinancing operations with the ECB, in
order to be able to use this disposition-related item. Corresponding balances are kept at the
Deutsche Bundesbank, head office Berlin and Brandenburg, in order to fulfil the minimum
reserve regulations. In 2021 the TLTRO-III-Programme of the Euro system was used by the
LBB/BSK.
In a market environment that continues to be challenging and which was also characterised
by the effects of the Covid 19 pandemic throughout the financial year 2021, the liquidity and
refinancing situation of LBB/BSK was always in order. The function of the monetary and
capital markets was not disturbed in the continuing lockdown and pandemic environment of
2021 either. The regulatory option of falling below the LCR minimum ratio due to Corona
did not have to be used at any time. The internal risk limits and advance warning levels for
the liquidity risk of LBB/BSK were also never undercut in the financial year. Customer
deposits, an important component of LBB/BSK's refinancing, remained stable even in the
pandemic environment. Fluctuations in deposits always remained within normal business
limits. In January 2021 LBB/BSK issued a mortgage pfandbrief for EUR 250 million, with a
term of 10 years. It was not necessary to raise further funds on the capital market owing to
the good provision with deposits and the participation in the ECB-Programme TLTRO-III.
More detailed statements relating to the liquidity situation are made in the risk report.
The balance sheet equity remained unchanged at EUR 2.2 billion on 31 December 2021
and was therefore 4.1% of the balance sheet total. It included the share capital EUR 1.2
billion and the reserves EUR 1.0 billion.
The equity of LBB/BSK under banking supervisory law according to CRR amounted to EUR
2.9 billion as at 31 December 2021 after the adoption of the annual financial statements
(key date of the previous year: EUR 2.8 billion). Based on the risk positions according to
CRR a total capital ratio is calculated from this for LBB/BSK of 21.3 % (previous year:
19.4 %). The CET1 capital amounted to EUR 2.6 billion as at 31 December 2021 after the
adoption of the annual financial statements. In relation to risk-weighted items, a CET1
capital ratio of 18.5% is calculated for the key date of 31 December 2021 (key date in the
previous year: 16.6 %).

6.

HR report

LBB/BSK offers its employees a variety of interesting, skilled work, mostly involving direct
contact with customers. Flexible working hours models such as family-friendly part-time
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working hours, flexible working hours, varied formats and schemes for personal and
professional development aimed at target groups as well as innovative feedback and
dialogue foster motivation and entrepreneurial attitudes among employees. In addition,
LBB/BSK offers and provides things that exceed its collective agreement obligations,
making it even more attractive as an employer. LBB/BSK is committed to a family-oriented
corporate culture and in 2021 was awarded the participation seal of the Progress Index
Reconciliation "Factors of success family", which is an initiative of the Federal Ministry for
Family Affairs, Senior Citizens, Women and Youth.
The employee capacity of LBB/BSK was 2,992 as at 31 December 2021. The share of
female employees was 61% of the total workforce. As of the key date of 31 December 2021,
1,094 employees worked part time, which corresponds to a percentage of around 32% of
the total workforce.
LBB/BSK is one of the largest training companies in Berlin, with many different opportunities
for school leavers and university graduates. The training to qualify in banking with the
additional qualification in real estate includes not only sales and technical content, but also
events and programmes that promote the political and social education of the trainees. In
collaboration with the School of Economics and Law Berlin (HWR), the dual course of study
"Bachelor of Arts in Banking" is also offered. For the time of the first training the die Berliner
Sparkasse makes digital terminal devices available to its junior employees. Through the
digitalisation of training contents, the contents are available paperless and independent of
the location. In addition, LBB/BSK is implementing the requirements from the further training
for sustainability from the Junior Employees Collective Agreement Contract concluded in
August 2021.
In addition to initial training, LBB/BSK offers a trainee programme for direct entry for
university graduates. Among the employees were 165 apprentices, students on dual study
programmes and trainees at the end of the year. Young professionals therefore make up
around 4.6% of the workforce.
In collaboration with the Nord-Ostdeutsche Sparkassenakademie [North-East Germany
Sparkasse Academy] (NOSA), talented students are offered the opportunity to take part in
the Sparkasse business administrator and Sparkasse business management programmes.
Moreover, further part-time study courses are also promoted financially. The student
programmes strengthen commitment to the company in a consistent and sustained manner.
LBB/BSK encourages its employees to continue with life-long learning through a wide range
of qualifications for personal and professional development. It offers lasting effective, target
group-orientated and needs-based tools and methods.
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Employees can choose between programmes leading to a career in management or a
specialist career path. Measures such as Reverse-Mentoring contribute to the crossgeneration networking. New internal educational formats have been developed in order to
meet current requirements. The focus was placed hereby on digital formats all relating to
the topics "Effective leadership – also at a distance", "Improvement of the digital
competence", "Agile working", "Handling of changes", "Lead in a healthy way" as well as
specialist competence. Here too, LBB/BSK works closely with the Nord-Ostdeutsche
Sparkassenakademie [North-East Germany Sparkasse Academy] and other providers from
the savings bank sector.
LBB/BSK actively protects and promotes the health of its employees. Among other things,
this includes occupational medical care, a company sports programme and ergonomic
workplaces. One key part of health management is the well-established independent
psychosocial programme of care provided for employees facing difficult personal situations.
A healthy work/life balance is supported by various health-promoting offers, including in
cooperation with the company medical doctor.
With consistent and immediate crisis management the company succeeded in effectively
limiting the corona pandemic from the start. Timely and comprehensive publications and
updates on the infection control and hygiene concept in the form of FAQs on the intranet
and an email hotline for staff questions ensured transparency and security of action, as did
organisational and mechanical protective measures. Infection chains were ultimately
interrupted very quickly. It is also important to mention that the employees demonstrated a
high level of own responsibility. By the participation in a Berlin pilot project, it was possible
to additionally offer a larger number of corona protection vaccinations early.

7.

Declaration regarding the company management

For LBB/BSK, ensuring equal treatment for all our employees is a matter of course within
HR policy. Promoting diversity is just as much a part of our corporate culture as creating a
working environment in which acceptance, tolerance and mutual trust are practised.
LBB/BSK

meets

the

requirements

of

the

German

Equal

Treatment

Act

(Gleichbehandlungsgesetz, AGG). We employ individuals with and without disabilities, of
different ethnic origins, of different sexual orientations, of different religions and from all age
groups. LBB/BSK signed the Diversity Charter in 2015 and is a member of the Alliance
against Homophobia (Bündnis gegen Homophobie) and the Success Factor Family
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corporate network. Furthermore, LBB/BSK has signed the charter "Equality wins - for a new
corporate culture in Berlin".
The equal participation of men and women in management positions has been part of our
HR policy for a long time. A family-friendly corporate culture, among other things with parttime positions and flexible working hours, as well as a mentoring programme, especially for
women, is helping us to increase the number of women in management positions. This is
accompanied by a corresponding application of provisions of Berlin Regional Equality Act
(Landesgleichstellungsgesetz, LGG) for the advancement of women pursuant to the Berlin
Savings Banks Act (Berliner Sparkassengesetz) and the stipulation of target figures
pursuant to the "Act for the Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Positions
in the Private Sector and the Public Sector" [Gesetz für die gleichberechtigte Teilhabe von
Frauen und Männern in Führungspositionen in der Privatwirtschaft und im öffentlichen
Dienst] (Federal Participation Act [Bundesteilhabegesetz]), which came into force in 2015.
The Management Board represents the first level, after this on the second level are the
divisional managements and on the third level management and expert functions with
leadership and specialist responsibility. Pursuant to Section 111 Para. 5 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Supervisory Board has set targets for the proportion of
women on the Supervisory Board and on the Management Board. The Supervisory Board
ensures that an appropriate proportion of women are taken into account, both when
considering potential candidates and nominating them.
The target for the proportion of women on the Management Board is 25% by 30 June 2022;
the target quota for the Supervisory Board is 18.8%.
In accordance with Section 76 Para. 4 AktG, the Management Board has set a target of 35%
for the percentage of women on the second and third management levels by the above date.

8.

General statement

In the fiscal year 2021 it was possible to fulfil the earnings expectations. Interest surplus
and commission result were indeed below the expectations, this could however be more
than compensated for by substantially lower administrative expenses and lower risk
provision expenses. By taking the transfers for the special item for general bank risks in the
amount of EUR 213 million and the thus associated reinforcement of the capital under
regulatory law into consideration EUR 42 million could be remitted to LBBH. Appropriate
consideration was given to all recognisable risks in the loan business as well as legal risks.
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The business policies of LBB/BSK will in future also be determined besides further cost
reductions by an increased exhaustion of market potentials.
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C. Accounting-related internal control and risk management
system
Besides ongoing financial accounting, LBB/BSK’s accounting in the 2021 financial year
involved in particular the preparation of the annual financial statements, a half-year financial
report as well as the associated management reports. LBB/BSK’s Finance division is
responsible for accounting. The accounting processes are standardised and are regularly
monitored as part of the overall strategy for the limitation of the risks.
The accounting-related internal control system (ICS) comprises the principles, measures
and processes (regulations) for ensuring the correctness and reliability of accounting,
compliance with the applicable legal regulations and ensuring the effectiveness of controls
related to accounting. The measures within the accounting-related internal risk
management system (RMS) for the identification, assessment and limitation of risks ensure
that the preparation of annual financial statements and management reports is in line with
accounting standards.
The implementation of the controls is carried out based on the assessment of
appropriateness, efficiency and cost-effectiveness.
The aim of the accounting-related ICS is to enter, process and document the occurring
business transactions completely, promptly and correctly in line with the statutory
regulations, the statutes and other internal guidelines. Assets and liabilities should be
correctly recognised, disclosed and measured in the financial statements. Successes are
to be determined properly. The controls also serve the purpose of making this information
relating to the financial statements available as far as possible promptly, reliably and
completely.
Parts of the accounting-related ICS are process-integrated measures and measures
independent of the process. The process-integrated measures comprise organisational
security measures such as separation of functions, access restrictions, guidelines and
competence regulations as well as controls through target/actual comparisons and
programmed plausibility checks. Measures independent of the process exist in the form of
audits by the internal auditing department and superordinate reviews by the management.
In line with the overall risk strategy, the accounting-related internal RMS consists of
quantitative and qualitative methods of recording risks (risk event database, selfassessment and risk indicators), measures for risk control and risk monitoring, and regular
reporting.
For the measurement of the financial instruments the Finance division supports itself on
respective quotations from the risk controlling division. Credit risks are assessed in the
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credit, risk management and legal divisions, and this is included when preparing the
financial statements.
The Finance division lays down centralised standard rules for the preparation of annual
financial statements, management reports and tax balance sheets.
LBB/BSK uses process and procedure documentation for the preparation of financial
statements and management reports, which also includes the controls to be carried out in
the process. Business transactions are processed and recorded using IT systems. The
trading books and other inventory evidence are kept in an electronic form.
One System Plus (OS Plus) is used as the central financial accounting system in LBB/BSK.
The accounting is set up to the extent that an expert third party can obtain an overview of
the business transactions and the financial position within a reasonable period of time.
The controlling of the risks in the accounting is part of the controlling of operational risks.
The management of the operational risks is described separately in detail.
The accounting process includes controls that involve system-based comparisons, single
controls, random samples and plausibility checks, as well as comparisons with existing data
sources. In the event of deviations from the standard process, the accounting processes
concerned, as well as the relevant controls, are evaluated and revised. An examination of
these processes and the effectiveness of the accounting-related ICS is also carried out in
the event of a change to the accounting-related systems used, as well as in the event of
changes in the tasks of the divisions concerned.
The internal auditing department, as an internal and independent authority, carries out
measures and assessments independent of the process in order to monitor compliance with
the accounting-related regulations and therefore the effectiveness of the controls
implemented. The internal audit takes this into consideration in its rolling annual planning
and regularly carries out audits in the divisions of finances and organisation and productivity
management. In addition, controls have been installed by the management (high-level
controls) in the form of a reporting and instruction system.
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D. Risk report
1.

Risk management system

The risk management system is based on the framework concept of the minimum
requirements from the risk management (MaRisk) by additionally taking the specifications
arising from the supervision by the ECB into consideration.
The risk controlling function according to MaRisk is performed by the risk controlling division
of LBB/BSK. LBB/BSK carries out risk controlling in relation to counterparty default risks,
liquidity risks and market price risks. However, the reporting system and the overall bank
management, including risk controlling in relation to operational risks, have been
outsourced to Landesbank Berlin Holding AG (LBBH) as the agent. The management of the
risk controlling function is separated from the divisions, which are responsible for the
initiation and conclusion of business transactions, up to the level of the Management Board.
LBB/BSK is, as a subsidiary of LBBH, integrated into the supervisory group of
Erwerbsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe mbH & Co. KG (Group). The superordinate group
company under supervisory law is LBBH. There are standard group risk policy principles
and a group-wide risk management system. The methods for measuring risks are also
standard group wide. The risk management system is composed of a host of interlocking
principles and regulations. It is the aim of the various stipulations in place – by complying
with all statutory and supervisory law requirements – to be a stable and reliable business
partner for customers and counterparties. The owners of LBB/BSK should consider it to be
an attractive investment with a high potential. With regard to the public the focus is placed
on fulfilling the public mandate of the savings bank [Sparkasse] according to the Berlin
Savings Bank Act.
As a superordinate policy, the business strategy creates the basic strategic framework. It
stipulates that the controlled entry into risks within the scope of a risk strategy is an
elementary part of the banking business. The risk policy principles and technical risk
methods ensure that the risks which are entered into do not endanger the substance of
LBB/BSK, taking into account the substance of the LBBH Group, and that these can be
controlled at all times.
LBB/BSK and its organisational units have to ensure that all risks are transparent and
measurable within the scope of the standard group methods.
The risk-bearing capacity and liquidity are ensured by the specific allocation of the available
risk resources of capital and liquidity reserve in the LBBH Group and LBB/BSK.
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The risk strategy of the LBBH Group defines the risk strategy framework for the business
activities of LBB/BSK. These are specified in detail in an institution-specific risk strategy for
LBB/BSK and is the responsibility of the Management Board. Among others, risks are
stipulated which do not conform to the strategy, i.e. that are principally to be avoided. The
compliance with the risk strategy is monitored regularly.
LBB/BSK takes the opportunities into account, in which the management promotes
business in profitable regions and business types or those which are considered to be
profitable in future in its strategic stipulations. At the same time too risky or less profitable
business divisions are limited by stipulating business which is principally to be avoided. The
risk management, for which the risk controlling division is responsible, deals with the
identification, analysis, control, documentation and reporting of the risks.
The risk manual, which stipulates the framework for operative risk controlling and applies
both to the LBBH Group as well as to LBB/BSK, defines the detailed framework conditions,
responsibilities and methods of the individual phases of risk management. The used
methods refer to the risk measurement. The existing limit systems and escalation processes
for each risk type are also presented in the manual and the supplementary detailed
documentation.
As a rule, the risk inventory as an independent action determines the overall risk profile.
With the support of a multitude of stipulated processes, such as the updating of the
restructuring plan, it is examined whether possible risks exist or can occur, which have not
been taken into consideration so far. The results are documented and, if applicable,
necessary measures are derived. The essential risks for LBB/BSK are defined by way of
the risk inventory.
As independent authorities, the responsible risk controlling units have the task to identity
and assess the risks, to support the risk control in the company and to regularly inform the
management. The identification, measurement, assessment, control and also the qualified
and prompt monitoring and control of the risks are carried out according to the stipulations
of the risk strategy and the risk manual.
The risk management system includes both risk evaluations according to stipulations under
supervisory law as well as a risk analysis from an economic point of view.
In 2021 the risk management of LBB/BSK was determined unchanged by the general
stipulations of the LBBH Group. The business strategy, risk strategy and risk manual of the
LBBH Group define the framework of the business activities as well as the risk
measurement methods. By taking the special features of LBB/BSK into consideration the
Management Board of LBB/BSK decided to also apply the stipulations of the LBBH Group
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to LBB/BSK. The identification, analysis, documentation and reporting of the operational
risks, the entire bank risk as well as the risk bearing capacity calculations of LBB/BSK have
been carried out based on an agency business by the risk controlling of the superordinate
LBBH.

Current developments
At the end of November 2021, the consolidation method under supervisory law for the
consideration of the SKP was converted from the full consolidation to the partial
consolidation. With this change the pro rata inclusion of the 66.67-percentage share in the
SKP in the normative and economic control of the LBB/BSK-Group was carried out (incl.
SKP). For the economic risk bearing capacity this means both a reduction in the risks as
well as the risk cover amount for the LBB/BSK Group. The greatest implications related to
the counterparty default risk, the effects in the market price and residual risk are slight.
Owing to marginal implications in the OpRisk a full offsetting of the risks of the SKP
continues to be carried out there.
General explanations on the Covid-19 pandemic can be found in the economic report. The
overall risk situation is proving to be stable despite the crisis. At the present time, there are
still general uncertainties regarding further pandemic-related developments and their
effects on the risk situation. Effects on the individual risk types are described in the following
statements.
The agreement concluded between the UK and the EU in December 2020 on the UK's exit
from the EU, the so-called Brexit, does not result in any significant risks for LBB/BSK.
In 2021 all cleared derivatives, the maturity of which lies after 30 June 2022, were
transferred by the British central counterparty LCH Limited to Eurex Clearing AG. All
business transactions remaining at the LCH will expire by 30 June 2022. The bilateral
business transactions with counterparties in the United Kingdom were fully transferred to
the EU.
Outsourcing of the pension liabilities:
In the 4th quarter of 2021 the majority of the pension liabilities of LBB/BSK, LBBH AG as
well as of S-Servicepartner Berlin GmbH and of S-Servicepartner Deutschland GmbH were
outsourced to a pension fund not in the form of an insurance of Metzler Pensionsfonds AG.
For the purpose of minimising insolvency risks during the transfer of the associated covering
funds the largest part was transferred in the form of a non-cash contribution. An already
existing fund vehicle was used for this purpose (TBG Fonds) that was endowed in advance
with the necessary volume of cash. As of the key date besides the transferred liabilities the
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pension fund contains the original assets of the transferred TBG-fund units, primarily
however units of a monetary market fund for the inclusion of the contributed cash.
Consequently, the assets of the pension fund are so far only subject to very low market and
credit risks, which nevertheless are offset against the corresponding risk bearing capacity
limit of the LBB/BSK Group and the LBBH Group.
In the 1st quarter of 2022, the start of the investment of the pension fund is envisaged in
the Target-Asset-Allocation so that then the market and credit risks in the pension fund will
increase substantially. These should then be quantified on the basis of a view to individual
positions and unchanged offset against the stated limits.
The following table shows the status of the HGB book values of the outsourced pension
liabilities for the various companies as of 31 December 2021.
Pension liabilities of the various companies
Sponsoring
companies
SP Berlin

Outsourcing portfolio in
EUR million
215

SP Deutschland

22

LBBH AG

22

LBB/BSK

1,294

Also, after outsourcing of the pension liabilities to Metzler Pensionsfonds the outsourcing
companies will be liable through the subsidiary liability to an unlimited extent for the pension
commitments to its current and future pensioners. In addition, contractual liability
agreements of LBB/BSK exist with regard to the pension liabilities of LBBH AG and of SServicepartner Deutschland GmbH as well as of S-Servicepartner Berlin GmbH. Within the
meaning of a conservative risk control the risks of all pension fund assets as well as pension
liabilities of the stated companies are taken into consideration in the ICAAP of the fictitious
LBB/BSK-Group (thus LBB/BSK including the partially consolidated SKP). In connection
with the outsourcing of the pension liabilities reserved funds of Section 340f HGB reserves
were rebooked into Section 340g HGB reserves for pensions.

1.1
Responsibilities and organisational structures in the risk management
process
The Management Board bears responsibility for the risk profile, the risk strategy, the risk
bearing capacity concept including the distribution of risk potential, the definition of limits,
the proper organisation of risk management, the monitoring of the risk of all business
transactions and risk control. It is kept up-to-date by the Risk Controlling division through a
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monthly Risk Report. A host of further reports are created in the risk management process
and submitted to the Management Board.
The Supervisory Board is regularly informed by the Management Board about the total risk
and capital profile. The credit committee formed from the members of the Supervisory Board
deliberates with the Management Board concerning the principles of the business policies
in the loan business under the aspect of creditworthiness risks and the risk management,
in particular the counterparty default, market price, liquidity and the operational risks.
The internal audit is an essential part of the entrepreneurial monitoring system independent
of the process. This includes a regular examination and assessment of the risk
management processes for all types of risks. In terms of organisation, the internal audit is
subordinate to the CEO and reports independently to the Management Board.
The bodies named below were installed for controlling and monitoring the risk situation:


The disposition committee controls the strategic interest rate risk situations of the
banking book.



The risk management committee of the LBBH Group deals with the risk strategy
including specifications for capital management, capital and risk allocation (risk
bearing capacity, limit systems), risk measurement methods and their validation, the
estimate of the current risk situation, the restructuring plan and solvency, credit and
liquidity reporting issues to be managed at the group level with reference to the other
tasks of the committee. Recommendations are given to the decision-makers or
corresponding bodies of LBB/BSK among others.



The credit risk committee is responsible for discussions and coordination
concerning the risk strategy as well as key topics in the credit and credit risk
controlling environment in light of the statutory framework conditions, including the
assessment and acceptance of analyses to validate the rating procedures in
particular.



The new product committee coordinates the approval process when the trade of
new products, on new markets (including new distribution channels) and of new
product variants (including new currencies) is commenced.



The OpRisk committee is responsible for the implementation of the risk
management and risk early detection system for operational risks.



The RepRisk committee is responsible for managing reputational risks that may be
identified within the framework of an early detection system or as required.

The risk controlling division is the independent risk monitoring unit for all types of risks. Its
tasks include the methods and models which are to be applied for the identification, measurement,
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aggregation and limitation of risks, as well as for the further development of the risk management
system. The division takes over the operative risk controlling.
The responsibility for the operative risk control in accordance with assuming a position is
allocated to the defined bearers of responsibility. The total bank risk control is, for example,
carried out by the joint Management Board, or the market price risk control by the Treasury
in complying with the binding stipulations of the disposition committee. The risk control in
the Credit division is, for example, carried out for individual borrowers by the respective
decision-makers according to the competence regulations, whereas the Treasury division
is responsible for the liquidity risks.
Among other things, a fixed crisis team exists within LBB/BSK for potentially existential
emergencies. This is a special organisational unit which, as a central body, bundles the
necessary competences across all divisions under a single management. The crisis team
has rules of procedure that have been published as part of the rules and regulations. These
regulate the specific distribution of tasks in the event of a crisis.
The crisis team manages the crisis management activities of the divisions, regulates the
provision of relevant resources for crisis management and informs internal (Supervisory
Board, emergency teams, specialist divisions) and external bodies (supervisory authorities,
press, service providers, business partners, customers).

The crisis team is generally composed of the following permanent members:













Chairperson of the Executive Board (chairperson of the crisis team),
Other members of the Executive Board (deputy chairperson of the crisis team),
Head of Auditing,
Head of Organisational and Productivity Management,
Head of Compliance,
Head of Human Resources,
Head of Customer and Product Management,
Head of Corporate Development,
Head of Corporate Communications,
Head of Executive Staff,
Chairperson of the Works Council,
Information Security Officer of Berliner Sparkasse.

Since the onset of the Corona pandemic, the crisis team has met as needed. In addition,
the current corona situation as well as thus ensuing measures were regularly the object of
the ordinary Management Board meetings.
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Total risk control

The Management Board will carry out a risk limitation and risk allocation in line with the
business policy orientation as well as by taking financial risk bearing capacity and the risklimiting regulations under supervisory law into consideration, for example by limits, upper
limits or structural stipulations. The risk reporting carried out according to MaRisk with
regular reporting in which all types of risks are summarised. It is on this basis that the current
overall risk situation will be discussed in the meetings of the Management Board, or the
Supervisory Board and it is examined to what extent reactions are necessary.
An examination of the risks, which may substantially impair the net assets, results of
operations or the liquidity position (risk inventory), is regularly carried out in LBB/BSK
through various activities throughout the group. This includes strategic dialogue and
medium-term planning as well as regular audits on the group of internal consolidated
companies. Potential risks are also handled by different boards and/or committees,with their
potential impact and, where required, any necessary measures also being discussed. In
addition, a systematic analysis and identification of the risks takes place within the scope of
the regular reporting. During the limitation allocation process or during coordination with the
various business divisions regarding risk strategy, planning or future activities, for example,
the possibility of whether this could give risk to new risks is discussed.
LBB/BSK defines as essential risks within the meaning of the MaRisk the risks, whose
implications may be serious enough to jeopardise the continued existence of LBB/BSK in
its entirety. The review is carried out at least once a year. These include:


Counterparty default risks,



Liquidity risks,



Market price risks (including interest rate change and credit spread risks in the banking
book) and



operational risks.

In the case of counterparty default risks, country-specific risks are taken into account as
part of market price risks, in addition to share price, option and exchange rate risks. Other
risks, such as shareholder risk, real estate risk and refinancing cost risk, are not managed
by LBB/BSK as substantial types of risk within the meaning of MaRisk owing to their mere
low significance. This decision was confirmed by the risk inventory for 2021; these risks are
disclosed under the separate position of residual risk and taken into consideration in the
total risk in the risk bearing capacity calculation.
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For the purposes of risk-bearing capacity, a distinction is made between monetary and nonmonetary risks. Monetary risks are taken into consideration during quantitative aggregation
to determine total risk (internal risk-bearing capacity concept).
The insolvency risk is allocated to the non-monetary risk types as due to its peculiarity it
cannot be usefully limited by risk coverage potential. The refinancing cost risk is disclosed
in the risk bearing capacity with the residual risks.
New letters of comfort have not been issued by LBB/BSK. There is not considered to be
any risk from the assertion of claims from old letters of comfort. This matter is reviewed
regularly. Further explanations regarding this can be found in the Notes under "Contingent
liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments".
With the signing of the self-obligation of German Sparkasse banks for climate-friendly and
sustainable budgeting LBB/BSK has committed itself to the stated objectives such as, for
example, the orientation of the financing and proprietary investment to climate targets. On
the whole climate and environmental risks are not understood as an independent risk type,
but as a driver to the existing risk types (in particular the counterparty default risk). In
connection with the creation of the non-financial report the non-financial risks were also
assessed with regard to the essential non-financial aspects of LBB/BSK. There were no
indications of risks, the occurrence of which is highly likely and the implications of which
would have a serious negative impact on the aspects of people, environment and/or the
society. The further development of these methods is carried out by the affiliated service
providers of the S Financial Group.
The internal risk bearing capacity concept includes a system of measurement processes
and limitations of all essential and non-essential risks that can be covered by risk cover
funds (monetary risks) that excludes the exceeding of a stipulated maximum asset value
loss apart from a slight residual probability. The assumptions to be used as a basis hereby
are, as well as the corresponding limits, examined regularly, but at least annually and, if
applicable, adjusted by a resolution of the Management Board. Like changes in the risk
measurement process, changes to the risk-bearing capacity concept are also subject to a
model change policy, which defines distinct assessment criteria for the materiality of model
changes and clearly assigns and documents roles and responsibilities for discussions and
decisions on model changes.
Based on the individual types of risk recorded, the total risk is determined by way of
aggregation of the scaled individual risks, where applicable, for the period under review of
one year. The assessment of the total risk situation is carried out by comparing the capital
available for covering the risks (risk coverage assets) with the total bank risk. The results of
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various stress tests, which include both the risks as well as the capital side, are also taken
into consideration.
The continuing corona pandemic also led in 2021 to basic macroeconomic conditions that
deviate from the original plan assumptions. The internal stress test programme that was
adjusted to the pandemic situation in 2020 already was methodically further developed by
taking the changed requirements under supervisory law into consideration. This in particular
related to the reasonable inclusion of "Bottom-up-Analyses" in the stress tests as well as a
historical benchmarking of the assumptions made. The methodology of the internal stress
tests was also further developed. In addition, the stress tests were interlinked from the
liquidity and capita point of view pursuant to ICAAP and ILAAP Guideline in a joint crossrisk type scenario analysis with regard to processes and methodology. The scenarios
analysed on this basis revealed no need for action with regard to the capital and liquidity
situation.
For the risk-adequate depiction of existing latent default risks in the credit business in
connection with the corona pandemic an additional general value adjustment exists for
latent risks in the credit portfolio of EUR 75 million (previous year: EUR 75 million) which
was determined on the basis of simulated changes to the decisive parameters (Probability
of Default and Loss given Default).
Pursuant to Section 27 of the Pfandbrief Act (Pfandbriefgesetz), each Pfandbrief bank must
have a risk management system that is suitable for the Pfandbrief [covered bond] business.
The risk management of the cover registers is integrated into the total bank risk
management system of LBB/BSK for counterparty default, market price and liquidity risks
as well as for operational and other risks. In addition, there are limits used to ensure
compliance with stipulations under supervisory law. The compliance with these limits for the
risk management of the cover registers is monitored daily and presented to the Executive
Management within the scope of the general risk report pursuant to MaRisk.

2.

Overall picture of the risk situation and internal capital adequacy

The established processes, methods and systems of the risk management system were
tried and tested in the reporting year and placed LBB/BSK in the position at all times to
derive and implement reasonable measures for controlling risks.
The analysis of the risk bearing capacity at individual institution level for LBB/BSK is carried
out analogously to the procedure at group level. The total risk is compared with the risk
coverage assets for LBB/BSK. LBB/BSK had sufficient leeway in terms of its risk-bearing
capacity at all times, based on both internal benchmarks and from a regulatory point of view.
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The total risk including S-Kreditpartner GmbH (SKP) totalled at the end of the year EUR
1.441 million (2020: EUR 1.678 million), with EUR 311 million (2020: EUR 309 million)
attributed to SKP. The risk coverage assets of LBB/BSK including SKP amounted to EUR
2.760 million (2020: EUR 2.873 million). The reduction is essentially a result of the partial
consolidation of the SKP.
The own funds of LBB/BSK under supervisory law according to the Capital Requirement
Regulation (CRR) amounted to EUR 2,948 million as at 31 December 2021 after the
adoption of the annual financial statements (key date of the previous year: EUR
2,790 million). With regard to the risk situations according to CRR a total capital ratio is
calculated from this for LBB/BSK of 21.3% (key date of the previous year: 19.4%) and a
CET1 capital ratio of 18.5% (key date in the previous year: 16.6%), each taking into account
LBB/BSK’s CRR transitional arrangement. The ratios thus substantially exceeded the
minimum stipulations under supervisory law.
This also applies to the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) of LBB/BSK according to
CRR/delegated regulation. It amounted to 180% as at 31 December 2021 (key date of the
previous year: 192%).
The balance sheet risk provisions for LBB/BSK amounted to EUR 364 million (key date of
the previous year: EUR 523 million).
The following quantitative details relating to the risk situation are carried out based on the
management approach. This means that the risk situation is presented based on the data,
according to which the internal risk control is carried out. The risk situation is broken down
according to risk types and reported to the Management Board and the bodies. As a result,
the internal risk view partly deviates from the balance sheet approach. Essential reasons
for the differences between the internal control and external accounting lie in the definition
of the credit volume as "exposure" (defined as the drawdown or market values plus open
external commitments).
In order to determine risk-bearing capacity, the desired prospect of continuation was taken
as a basis in accordance with the ECB guidelines on internal capital adequacy assessment
process (ICAAP) of November 2018. The calculation of the risk coverage assets is still
based on the regulatory tier 1 capital; in line with the continuation approach, subordinate
liabilities (supplementary capital) have not been taken into account. The risks of SKreditpartner GmbH as the sole material subsidiary of LBB/BSK are taken into
consideration when calculating risk-bearing capacity.
In the reporting year, the risk coverage assets (LBB/BSK including SKP) fell from EUR 2.873
million in December 2020 to EUR 2.760 million as at 31 December 2021 .
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Through the partial consolidation of the SKP the offsetting of the so-called minority shares
of approx. EUR 161 million were removed from the core capital. In addition, the
supplementary capital decreased by approx. 38 million. Over the course of the outsourcing
of the pension liabilities into a pension fund the contingency reserves contained in the risk
covering amount in the corrective item according to Section 340f HGB was converted into
reserves according to Section 340g HGB and thus into core capital.
In addition, the results from the risk inventory for 2021 were included in the risk analysis;
for example, the results of the validation of the market price risk model were taken into
consideration.
The aggregation of the individual types of risks to form a total risk was carried out by means
of simple addition. Diversification effects are not taken into consideration.
The assertion of a claim depending on the type of risk, the total risk and the resulting leeway
in LBB/BSK as at 31 December 2021 was as depicted below.
Claims by type of risk for LBB/BSK including SKP in EUR million as at 31 December
2021
31.12.2021
Leeway

31.12.2020

1,319

1,195

52%

58%

2,760

2,873

1,441

1,678

Counterparty default risk

869

980

Market price risk

288

421

Operational risk

95

90

188

186

Utilisation
Risk coverage assets

Risk drawdown
Total risk

Residual risks

The risk covering amount and the overall risk fell in particular owing to the partial
consolidation of the SKP whereby the greatest implications related to the counterparty
default risk, the effects in the market price and residual risk were slight. Due to marginal
implications in the OpRisk a full offsetting of the risks of the SKP continued to be carried
out there. Substantial changes in the risks are explained in the sections relating to the
individual types of risks. The leeway increased with a substantially decreased overall risk.
Risk-bearing capacity was maintained throughout the entire reporting period, both with
regard to the assertion of claims and in the event that the total limit was reached.
In order to ensure the risk bearing capacity there is a limit system and escalation processes
derived from this. Should one of the limits be almost reached, i.e. as a rule there is a risk
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capacity utilisation of more than 90%, the Management Board will decide about measures
in order to prevent limits being exceeded.
In February 2021 due to corona there was a one-off shortfall in the early warning threshold
of the indicator of "realised and planned Return on Assets". The corona crisis-induced early
warning threshold breach of the indicator "GDP-change compared to the previous year,
existing since the previous year already, no longer existed since July 2021.
The indicator "Development of consumer insolvencies in Berlin" exceeded in Q2/2021 for
the first time with +79.8% the early warning threshold value of +30% increase compared to
the same quarter of the previous year (after +8.8% in Q1). In Q3 2021 the rise in consumer
insolvencies increased compared to the same quarter of the previous year by 157%. In
2020 the consumer insolvencies fell sharply because of supporting measures of the public
sector and due to an impending new statutory regulation for the residual debt release
procedure. Against this background the high growth rates in 2021 at least partly concern
catch-up respectively shift effects. This fact will be further observed.
No further need for action was seen with regard to the implementation of action options of
the reorganisation plan. The supervision was informed about the facts within the scope of
the monthly risk report (MRR).

3.

Risk categories

Special features of credit risk management during the Corona crisis
The credit risk control during the corona crisis continues to be challenging as, on the one
hand, the burden for the companies and thus the increased credit risk is only reflected to a
limited extent in the available information and figures and, on the other hand, the support
measures of the public sector and the concrete monetary substitute services for many
companies are continuing to have a delayed effect.
Accordingly, relevant loan losses are to be expected in 2022 and possibly also later. The
Bank continues to carry out regular investigations and documents the current analysis of
the "vulnerability" in the various branches/sectors by means of a traffic light logic. In addition,
within the scope of the credit risk reporting the risk situation continued to be
comprehensively analysed and reported. Among others the extensive special reporting
(corona situation report, corona credit risk report, traffic light report with assessment of the
various sectors and industries was especially retained with regard to their corona
vulnerability).
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The credit risk situation in 2021 was ultimately presented more positively than had to be
feared in 2020. Therefore, the aforementioned reports were omitted per October and
November 2021. Special attention continued to be dedicated to the early warning reporting
of the back office areas in 2021.
The risk of time discrepancies with regard to current information regarding the current
financial circumstances of the borrowers as of the balance sheet key date and rating
deteriorations, which occurred on the balance sheet key date and were only announced
after the balance sheet key date with the evaluation of the submitted information relating to
the financial circumstances of borrowers, was taken into account by LBB/BSK. In this
respect an additional general value adjustment of EUR 75 million exists for the protection
of corresponding latent default risks.

3.1

Counterparty default risks

The counterparty default risk is defined as the risk of a loss owing to the default of a business
partner. This could mean that a contractual partner of the institution does not pay or not pay
within the deadline or the institution is obliged to make a payment itself owing to the nonpayment of a third party. In addition, this definition includes the shareholder risk, which is
derived from making equity available. The shareholder risk is evaluated separately, the
annual examination confirmed the immateriality.
In the commercial loan business, the counterparty default risk in the case of granting of
loans is identical to the credit risk. Issuer, counterparty and borrower risks from capital
market business are based on the market prices of the underlying financial instruments. An
issuer risk exists if a security is held instead of a loan. With the counterparty risks (risk of
the potentially disadvantageous replacement of a derivative transaction with the default of
a business partner) add-ons are taken into consideration in addition to the market price
(product-specific Add-Ons) for the Potential Future Exposure unless individual collateral
agreements exist (collateralisation agreements). Borrower risks relate to money market
investments. Further risk categories, above all customary in trading transactions, and which
belong to the counterparty default risk, are the settlement risk (risk that no consideration is
provided during the processing of a trading transaction despite own performance) as well
as the country risk (transfer risk).
The measurement and control procedures of the Bank always include off-balance-sheet
transactions as well with regard to the credit risk.
Further credit risks arise due to the fact that LBB/BSK has issued loans to internal borrowers,
i.e. SKP and Berlin Hyp. As at the key date of 31 December 2021, SKP’s credit exposure
was EUR 1,462 million and Berlin Hyp AG's credit exposure was EUR 0.4 million.
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These borrowers are borrowers within the LBBH Group to which LBB/BSK belongs under
supervisory law. Transparency within the reporting is provided for all of SKP's risk positions.
The internal borrower LBBH does not have its own banking licence and does not therefore
have any active loans, but does have participating interests in Berlin Hyp and LBB/BSK.
There is also transparency here with regard to the underlying transactions. This
transparency forms the basis for risk control purposes.
Based on the circumstances as described, loans to these internal borrowers have a special
position. For the sake of completeness, these risks from internal transactions within the
LBBH Group are presented at this point. They are not included in the subsequent
quantitative presentations of counterparty default risks.

Other credit risks: Credit Exposure1-presentation of internal borrowers of LBB/BSK
31/12/2021
in EUR
million

31/12/2020
EUR
million

%

Change
EUR
million

%

%

Landesbank Berlin
Holding AG

0

0

366

20

-366

-100

Berlin Hyp AG

0

0

0

0

0

0

SKP

1,462

100

1,509

80

-47

-3

Total

1,462

100

1,876

100

-413

-22

For mathematical reasons, rounding differences may occur in tables.

The loan volume of LBB/BSK in relation to SKP has reduced in 2021 due to the further
development of the treasury function in SKP and the associated broadening of the
refinancing base.
The credit volume of LBB/BSK in relation to LBBH was redeemed in 2021.

Creditworthiness/risk assessment
The creditworthiness of each borrower is regularly estimated by using internal rating and
scoring procedures. These procedures are orientated to default probabilities and lead to a
classification on a standard rating master scale with the classes 1 to 18, whereby a further
differentiation is carried out within individual classes.
LBB/BSK uses customer-group-specific rating and scoring procedures on a statistical basis,
which were developed in projects together with other regional banks [Landesbanken], the
German Savings Banks Association or specialised service providers. The quality of the

1

Credit Exposure: including utilisations of open external limits and investment book values

Management Report

41 of 147

procedures is regularly examined and optimised. The credit risk controlling performs the
tasks of the "authority responsible for the credit risk monitoring" according to Article 190
CRR.
The scoring/rating class of the applicant is generally decisive for determining the
competency level, the lending guidelines and the intensity of the credit monitoring. The
credit authorisation manual includes the individual credit decision authorisations and the
credit decision authorisation table.

Credit portfolio model
The quantitative analysis of the counterparty default risks based on statistical methods is
carried out for credit portfolios by means of the self-developed credit portfolio model CVaR.
This model that is based on group-specific adaptation of standard models, allows the
aggregation of the borrower-related counterparty default risks to form a risk ratio on portfolio
level, the so-called Credit-Value-at-Risk (CreditVaR). This ratio is determined daily based
on the confidence level 99.9 % with a holding period of one year for the portfolios of
LBB/BSK and its business divisions. The unexpected loss, the result of the CreditVaR less
the expected loss, is reported. The Unexpected Loss at the confidence level of 99.9% amounted
to EUR 725 million as at 31 December 2021 .
The credit portfolio model estimates the probability of major losses from correlated loan
defaults based on borrower-specific exposure, rating class, collateralisation and correlation
estimates. Owing to its structure, the model used reacts sensitively to risk concentrations
or industry concentrations and also takes risk of country transfer events into consideration.
The credit portfolio model additionally takes both the migration risks of capital marketrelated financial instruments as well as of commercial business into consideration.

Risk limitation
Counterparty default risks are limited and controlled both on the level of the individual
borrowers as well as on portfolio level within the scope of a strategic credit portfolio
management.
Risk concentrations are limited operatively by upper limits per group of affiliated customers.
The upper limits are produced according to fixed regulations from the risk coverage assets,
the ratings of the borrowers and the collateralisation circumstances of the loan commitment.
The concept was approved by the bodies and is subject to regular review. The largest risk
concentrations are presented on a quarterly basis in the Monthly Risk Report (MRR Long
Report), among other things.
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Risk concentrations with regions and industries are to be minimised as far as possible.
However, this option is not available in certain places from a business model-specific
perspective, e.g. as a result of the concentration of LBB/BSK’s business in Berlin. Country
risks are measured continuously by using a suitable exposure term and strictly limited. The
country limits are examined annually and, if applicable, re-stipulated.

Individual borrower limits and their monitoring
The counterparty default risks in trading transactions are limited at individual borrower level
by individual limits for borrowers for the parameters amount, term and type of business.
These limits are recorded systematically and monitored daily.
In the retail lending business comprising standardised credits such as instalment credits
and overdraft facilities, IT-supported processes are used for the approval to a large extent.
In case of larger commitments a vote by the back office is additionally required. Individual
credit decisions are made for the business that is not to be processed in standardised
processes in clearly defined processes depending on the amount of the commitment and
the risk content. The decision on larger exposures is made by the respective competence
holder and the processing is carried out in the back office.
In order to recognise credit risks at an early stage and actively manage these, the individual
risk of the borrowers is monitored by using various manual and automated processes. As a
rule the borrower ratings are updated at least annually. The regular examination of the
existence and intrinsic value of the collateral items, which undergo revaluation if necessary,
is also carried out within this framework. In case of deteriorations in rating, a decision is
made regarding the nature of continuation of the commitment.
Early warning systems are used to identify borrowers, with whom there are indications of
increased risks. Based on quantitative and qualitative early warning indicators
corresponding monitoring lists will be created, which list borrowers who are to be examined
separately. Conspicuous loan commitments and, in particular, previously initiated or
intended measures for reducing risk are discussed during what is referred to as risk dialogue,
including early warning meetings. The loan, risk supervision, risk control and sales
departments all take part in these.
The quality of credit monitoring is constantly improved and refined in order to accelerate the
decision-making process and increase the quality of the information available for identifying
and assessing potential risks. The credit business, the used risk measurement methods
and the credit processes in particular are examined regularly by the internal audit. Measures
are derived from this for the further quality improvement in the credit analysis and monitoring.
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Portfolio control
The new business and the loan portfolio are limited by portfolio limits based on the credit
portfolio model. For this purpose, there are limits for the unexpected loss with a 99.9%
confidence level for the business divisions’* portfolios.
2021
in EUR million

Unexpected Loss
(99.9%)

Expected Loss
2021

2020

2021

2020

Private customers

21

26

109

DirektBankService

20

19

Corporate customers

22

43

Real estate financing

15

20

Private banking
Treasury

2
6

Corporate customers

10

LBB /BSK

98

Limit for the
Unexpected Loss
2021

2021

2020

200

225

55%

54%

109

97

190

205

57%

47%

149

288

300

337

50%

85%

239

250

410

315

58%

79%

155

23
177

172
119

2020

122

18
11

Limit utilisation

725

290

78%
312

220
773

1,250

53%

57%

78%
1,020

58%

76%

* The presentation for 2020 includes the business divisions as of the reporting key date 31 December 2020. The new customer
segmentation was introduced in the reporting system in 2021.

Risk minimisation
Various elements of the risk minimisation are used to reduce the counterparty default risks.
The business divisions formulate their respective collateral strategies within the framework
of respective risk strategies.
Various risk minimisation techniques are used based on the various types of counterparty
default risk (issuer, counterparty, borrower risk).
Physical and personal collateral items with a total value of EUR 19.9 billion as at 31 December 2021
formed the essential position with the credit risks. The volume of the collateral is orientated to
exposure amount and default probability. The collateral is measured based on firmly
stipulated criteria. A further risk minimisation is produced by compensation agreements.
The responsibility for the collateral management with credit risks lies in the back office. The
back office is responsible for the recognition, the audit and the regular measurement of the
collateral as well as for the management of the credit risk minimisation techniques. For this
purpose the collateral items are recorded and managed by the back office in a central ITbased collateral system.
When monitoring and reviewing real estate valuations, LBB/BSK differentiates between
monitoring based on market fluctuations and monitoring on a regular basis and as required.
Real estate portfolios that are used as collateral undergo monitoring each year on the basis
of a statistical procedure (market fluctuation concept, MSC). In the case of monitoring based
on observed market fluctuations, the Berliner Sparkasse uses the market fluctuation
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analysis of the German Banking Industry Committee (Deutsche Kreditwirtschaft) and the
Association of German Pfandbrief Banks (Verband Deutscher Pfandbriefbanken, vdp). The
LORA module market fluctuation analysis for real estate continues to be used in a
supporting role for the institute's own portfolio. The assessment must be reviewed if
stipulated fluctuation margins are exceeded. Insofar as impairment arises from this
monitoring or other monitoring (e.g. object rating update), a review of the market and lending
values will then be triggered by the responsible credit analyst. No need for action was
determined in relation to this in LBB/BSK in 2021.
For the object types that cannot be monitored using the market fluctuation concept, a
corresponding individual review must be performed by the valuation experts in accordance
with the list of object types. This review must be arranged by the credit analyst too.
Due to the Covid 19 pandemic, there was a temporary lack of market evidence on certain
types of properties such as hotels and restaurants, department stores and shopping centres
as well as other management real estate. Value checks or, in individual cases, property
inspections for these property types were carried out as soon as the market evidence was
restored or the contact restrictions were lifted.
In addition to the annual review of real estate collateral based on the MSC, the valuation of
real estate must be reviewed by the valuation experts in accordance with the published
property type list.
LBB/BSK has defined criteria in its regulations related to the monitoring and review of real
estate valuations on a regular basis and as required.
In case of issuer risks a minimisation of risks will be carried out by offsetting long and short
positions. In addition guarantee relationships are taken into consideration. Collateral is no
longer provided through credit derivatives.
In the case of counterparty risks, risk minimisation occurs as a result of offsetting opposing
risk situations through netting agreements. In LBB/BSK the so-called Close-Out-Netting is
used hereby, which is usually carried out with the credit deterioration of a counterparty up
to the insolvency. Receivables and liabilities are offset against each other. This results in
the fact that the ensuing claims are determined for both parties by a claim for compensation
in the amount of the net market value of these business transactions or the resulting nonrealised profit or loss and the amounts are netted. In addition, individual collateral
agreements (collateralisation agreements) can be concluded with OTC derivatives,
securities loans and repo transactions beyond the already concluded netting contracts.
Counterparty risks were reduced by netting agreements in the amount of EUR 770 million
and collected collaterals by around EUR 276 million.
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Transfer risks
LBB/BSK limits country and transfers risks through volume-based country limits. The
country risk is disclosed as a total of the country exposure.
The respective country limits are passed by the Management Board by taking the risk
content of the respective economy as well as the development of the individual credit
portfolio into consideration.
The country exposure is presented below. The assignment of customers to regions is
performed via the risk country, with the estimate of the transfer risk performed via the rating
class.
Exposure foreign volumes
in EUR million
EU States
Western Europe (without EU)
Eastern Europe (without EU)
American States including USA
Other
LBB /BSK international volumes

31/12/2021

31/12/2020

3,842

4,897

931

952

16

26

1,092

953

38

36

5,918

6,864

International volumes weighted by
low transfer risk

5,877

6,810

medium transfer risk

18

22

increased transfer risk or without rating

23

34

5,918

6,866

LBB / BSK international volumes

The UK's exit from the EU led to a corresponding shift in exposure to Western Europe.
Organisations with maximum creditworthiness such as, for example, the European
Investment Bank are not regulated by country limits. Owing to their supranational activities
they cannot be directly allocated to a region, for example Europe. The exposure of the
organisations with the highest credit rating amounted to EUR 0.5 billion on the accounting
date. The exposure of all countries including these organisations amounted to EUR
6.4 billion.

Treatment of problem loans
Jeopardised commitments will principally fall into the processing competence and
responsibility of the risk supervision division, in which these loans are reconstructed or
processed.
The "Current Credit Exposure" (CCE) and in particular the outstanding payments of the
defaulted problem loans (Non-performing Loans) are protected to a large extent at LBB/BSK
by individual value adjustments and provisions and as a result of the offsetting of collateral.
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Formation of the credit risk provisions
The competence of the risk supervision divisions comprises, among others, the formation
of individual value adjustments. In excess of defined amount limits individual Management
Board members or the entire Management Board will decide about the amount of the
individual value adjustment.
The proposals for the amount of the individual value adjustments are based on firmly
defined criteria, which among others depend on the type of collateral or on the status of the
commitment (reconstruction or unwinding).
The credit risk provision requirement (in particular general value adjustments) will also be
determined for non-defaulted commitments, which do not receive any individual value
adjustment, within the meaning of a portfolio analysis. The risk parameters default
probability, exposure at default and loss ratio will flow into its calculation. With regard to the
particular uncertainty in the Corona crisis, there are additional general value adjustments.
More detailed explanations can be found above at the beginning of Chapter 3.

Reporting
Individual borrower-related counterparty default risks on various aggregation levels as well
as key ratios of the credit portfolio model will be reported to the Management Board on a
quarterly basis in the Monthly Risk Report (MRR Long Report). In order to recognise risk
concentrations promptly, these are divided up according to industries and countries. In
addition, evaluation lists relating to risk concentrations are included according to the
concentration risk concept on the level of the group of affiliated customers (GvK).
A detailed group credit risk report, which contains a commented presentation of the largest
risk concentrations at GvK level, is created quarterly.
In addition to the monthly and quarterly reporting the Management Board will be informed
daily according to MaRisk about any possibly occurred limit overruns from a defined volume.

Key ratios of the internal reporting relating to the counterparty default risk
The measurement and control of the counterparty default risks is based on a risk adequate
presentation of the business transactions which bear a credit risk. Credit risks as well as
counterparty, issuer and borrower risks are measured in a product-specific manner and
quantified based on the "Current Credit Exposure" (CCE).
Besides the CCE, the Credit Exposure (CE) is also analysed in the internal control, which
additionally comprises non-drawn limits which were however committed to the customers.
These limits can be committed both revocably as well as irrevocably. The internal reporting
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of the counterparty default risks to the management is essentially based on this factor.
Therefore, the following presentations are shown based on the Credit Exposure.
The total credit exposure of LBB/BSK without the internal borrowers SKP and Berlin Hyp
amounted to EUR 63.8 billion as at 31 December 2021 (key date in the previous year: EUR
59.5 billion).
Of this, approximately EUR 41.5 billion was attributed to the CCE of credit risks from
commercial lending (key date in previous year: EUR 35.0 billion).
The CCE of issuer, counterparty and borrower risks from capital market transactions are
included in the credit exposure in the sum of EUR 9.2 billion (key date in the previous year:
EUR 11.3 billion). Depending on the aggregation level, netting or offsetting effects can vary
in terms of amount.
The credit exposure as at 31 December 2021 is presented by industry in the following table.
LBB/BSK allocates an industry to each customer in line with the statistical classification of
economic activities. These industries are grouped and combined to form main industries.
The credit volume in the credit trade and with regional authorities related, as in past years,
to a large extent to the Treasury business. Product-driven, the volume related to private
customers and real estate financing consisted of credit risks.
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LBB/BSK schedule of credit exposure by industry, not including the internal
borrowers SKP, LBBH and Berlin Hyp, as at 31 December 2021

Credit Exposure
in EUR
million

in %

in EUR
million

in %

in EUR
million

in %

Investment companies
(Beteiligungsgesellschaften)

675

1

478

1

113

1

Chemical industry

122

0

28

0

90

1

Services

5,625

9

4,461

11

270

3

Regional authorities

1,692

3

17

0

1,662

18

Health & social care

764

1

568

1

0

0

Trade & commerce

2,532

4

1,588

4

247

3

Real estate financing

16,159

25

13,923

34

29

0

Banking

21,111

33

14,250

34

6,752

74

Private individuals

14,845

23

5,983

14

0

0

216

0

143

0

0

0

Other
Insurance
Total industries1
1

of which CCE issuer,
counterparty and borrower
risks

of which CCE credit risks

38

0

31

0

0

0

63,779

100

41,469

100

9,163

100

For mathematical reasons, rounding differences may occur in tables.
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Credit quality
The credit exposure broken down according to rating classes pursuant to the master scale
used is displayed in the following graph; the internal borrowers SKP and Berlin Hyp are not
included.
Credit exposure presentation as per rating classes in EUR million as on 31/12/2021
Rating classes

in EUR million

in %

15,447

7%

1 (AAA)

2,100

7%

1 (AA+)

2,118

4%

1 (AA)

3,234

10%

1 (AA-)

4,161

6%

1 (A+)

3,490

6%

1 (A)

3,277

4%

1 (A-)

3,739

7%

2

4,229

6%

3

4,269

6%

4

3,805

6%

5

3,600

6%

6

3,139

6%

7

1,811

6%

8

1,652

4%

9

1,298

2%

10

829

2%

11

545

1%

12

242

0%

13

396

1%

14

93

0%

15

95

0%

15 (B)

17

0%

15 (C)

1 (AAAA)

13

0%

16

5

0%

17

79

0%

18

87

1%

6

0%

63,777

100.00%

no rating class available
Total of CE rating classes
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Liquidity risk

The liquidity risk includes the insolvency risk and the refinancing cost risk, each taking the
market liquidity risk into consideration.
The market liquidity risk is the risk that financial securities cannot be traded on the financial
markets at a specific time or at the expected prices.
The insolvency risk, also referred to as the liquidity risk in the strict sense, is the risk of
being unable to fulfil payment obligations falling due either in full or on time.
The refinancing cost risk is the risk of being unable to obtain refinancing funds subject to
the expected terms and conditions.
Safeguarding liquidity and refinancing capability are of the highest priority to LBB/BSK.
The task of the Treasury division is to guarantee the supply of liquidity to LBB/BSK. Liquidity
planning and control must ensure the solvency and the maintenance of the key liquidity
ratios under supervisory law at all times, including in crisis situations. Accordingly, a wide
range of tools, which is continuously being developed, is available for the recording, control
and monitoring of liquidity risks.
In financial year 2021, LBB/BSK was solvent at all times for all observed scenarios. The
liquidity key ratios under supervisory law were complied with at all times.

Measurement and limitation of liquidity risks
The insolvency risk is measured and limited using a liquidity progress review and 365 day
perspective. The results of the insolvency risk stress tests are defined as the survival period
and are also limited.
A standard method and system is used within the Group to measure the liquidity risk.
The refinancing cost risk is incorporated into the risk bearing capacity calculation.
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Control of the liquidity risks
The liquidity risk policies of LBB/BSK are based on the holding of sufficient stocks of assets,
which can be liquidated, in order to be able to cover actually existing or liquidity burdens
calculated from stress tests.
It is the aim of the liquidity management to also always dispose over sufficiently secured
liquidity according to the described method with short-term bottlenecks as well as with
ongoing general or institution-specific liquidity crises.

Reporting of the liquidity risks
A presentation of the economic liquidity risk situation was made daily in 2021. The liquidity
risk reports were provided to the Senior Management of the divisions responsible for risk
controlling and Treasury and the responsible head of department. The entire Management
Board is given a monthly update in the form of the Monthly Risk Report (MRR). Internal
reporting includes the monitoring of early warning levels, which trigger defined escalation
measures if met.
The utilisation of these limits was deemed acceptable in the course of 2021.
The regulatory key figures Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio
(NSFR) are regularly reported to the entire Management Board as part of the MRR. The
LCR is reported on a monthly basis, the NSFR on a quarterly basis at the end of each
quarter. If the regular monitoring shows that the relevant internal and regulatory thresholds
are not met, a separate ad-hoc report is submitted to the Risk Controlling division
management. In the course of 2021, all regulatory thresholds were always met.

Risk concentrations / refinancing
A concentration of refinancing exists if refinancing funds are too concentrated in certain
divisions. In the event of defaults in individual divisions, diversification that is too low can
lead to refinancing difficulties and therefore directly to an increased liquidity risk.
LBB/BSK uses a balanced mix of instruments for the refinancing of its lending business.
This includes in the first place savings, sight and term deposits of customers and in the
second place Pfandbriefe [covered bonds]. In addition there are other securitised debts as
well as liabilities to credit institutions. The regional origin of the refinancing funds mainly
concentrates on the German speaking countries with a special concentration of the deposits
of customers located in the core region Berlin and its catchment area.
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Shares of essential balance sheet items in the balance sheet total (liabilities) of
LBB/BSK

in %

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Liabilities due to credit institutions

19.9

18.4

Liabilities due to customers

65.5

63.0

Securitised debt

5.9

6.6

Trading portfolio

0.0

0.0

Provisions

0.9

3.4

Subordinate liabilities

0.7

0.8

Equity

4.1

4.4

Other liabilities

2.8

3.3

100.0

100.0

Total liabilities LBB/BSK
For mathematical reasons, rounding differences may occur in tables.

Quantitative liquidity risk
The stipulations under supervisory law regarding the liquidity key ratios of LBB/BSK were
complied with at all times. At the end of the year, the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) was
180% (key date in the previous year 192%) and the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) was
135%.2
Net liquidity amounted to EUR 5.3 billion at year-end 2021 (previous year's value EUR 4.3
billion).

Residual term breakdown
The following table shows the financial obligations of LBB/BSK as at 31 December 2021,
broken down according to their contractually agreed residual terms. The presentation is
based on the AMM report (Additional Monitoring Metrics for Liquidity Reporting) without
other cash flows, such as guarantees and credit lines.

2

The NSFR according to CRR II came into effect on 28 June 2021. Therefore, no previous

year's values are available for this ratio.
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Liabilities according to residual terms and refinancing structure

in EUR million

2021

Collateralised refinancing
<= 1 month

2

> 1 month and <= 1 year

0

> 1 year and <= 5 years
> 5 years
Total

7,750
0
7,752

Own issues
<= 1 month
> 1 month and <= 1 year

5
111

> 1 year and <= 5 years

2,147

> 5 years

1,200

Total

3,463

Liabilities derivatives
<= 1 month
> 1 month and <= 1 year
> 1 year and <= 5 years
> 5 years
Total

85
128
136
1993
548

Liabilities financial customers
<= 1 month

2,258

> 1 month and <= 1 year

53

> 1 year and <= 5 years

158

> 5 years

710

Total

3,179

Liabilities customers
<= 1 month
> 1 month and <= 1 year
> 1 year and <= 5 years
> 5 years
Total

3.3

28,481
4,548
398
729
34,156

Market price risks

Market price risks consist of a potential loss of value, which is caused by disadvantageous
changes in market prices or price-influencing parameters.
Market price risks are in particular entered into with the form of credit spread, interest, share,
option and exchange rate risks in the Treasury division. The market price risk is calculated,
limited and controlled holistically. This means both general as well as special interest risks
are included in the determined Value at Risk (VaR). Industry and sector-specific categories
and credit spread risks are taken into consideration. The fluctuations of own credit spreads
are consistent with the business model and management philosophy.
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The focus of the interest change risk control is placed on the compensation of interest
change risks from customer business and long-term refinancing as well as the long-term
generation of income from deadline transformation as a result of the interest structure.
Interest change risks from pension obligations are also reported.

Method of risk measurement in the case of market price risks
The calculation method for the value-at-risk is the historical simulation method based on
ten-year time series. All market price risk factors, including option risks, are included. The
value-at-risk is determined on the basis of a holding period of one day and a confidence
level of 99%.
The approximately 1,800 risk factors at present (for example, exchange rates, yield curve
points, volatility points, etc.) are taken into consideration for each business division and for
the total bank return. Beyond the stated processes the risk content of the positions is
examined daily by means of stress tests in a multitude of various scenarios (historic, fixed
as well as exposure-related scenarios) and reported at the end of the month in the monthly
market risk report.
The forecast quality of the model is reviewed by means of clean backtesting (determination
of the one-day value changes of a constant portfolio retrospectively). The number of
backtesting outliers, i.e. the number of days on which a greater loss occurred at LBB/BSK
than was predicted by the model, was in the "green zone" with one outlier. The outlier
occurred in October 2021 primarily as a result of a flattening of the yield curve, which was
observed in the course of the month in connection with market participants' expectations
regarding reactions of the central banks in an environment of rising inflation rates.
LBB/BSK has classified itself as a non-trading book institution.
The capital backing of the regulatory market risk position is determined using the
standardised approach pursuant to Article 351 et seqq. CRR and includes the foreign
currency position of the banking book. Due to the shortfall of the de minimis limit for the
foreign currency item of 2% of the total amount of own funds, there was no equity backing
for foreign currency risk in 2021.

In addition to the primary present value control, the monthly simulation of the interest surplus
for the entire bank for the following 12 months is performed under the assumption of a
constant balance sheet. When doing so, both the scenario of the continued existence of the
current interest rate situation and interest rate change scenarios are simulated. Deviations
from the status quo are also considered in relation to the risk coverage assets.
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Management of market price risks
The activities of the Treasury are integrated into risk strategy. Based on the risk bearing
capacity concept and the annual planning the strategic framework is implemented into
specific market price risk limits and passed by the Management Board.
Market risk control is carried out by the Treasury based on the market price risk
limits/capacity utilisations, the stress test results and the sensitivity analyses. It is
supplemented by annual loss limits and other, depending on the business activity, different
reports customised to fit the respective departments (e.g. deadline and risk profiles).
The Treasury division fulfils the classical functions of the liquidity managements, the
securities account-A-investment business within the scope of the asset allocation and the
strategic deadline transformation. The dismantling of the historical portfolio structures to a
dimension typical for a savings bank is carried out in the management of the phase-out
portfolios.
The steering committee of the Management Board is obligated to control the interest rate
portfolio. This advises on a monthly basis on a business policy re-assessment and, if
necessary, realignment of the interest change risk. The stated methods for controlling the
market price risks are also used for this purpose. In addition, the control is made possible
under cash value and term aspects as well as with a view to the interest surplus.
The committee will meet regularly or also as required for the new product process in order
to assess risks and organisational implications from new business types and to monitor the
necessary steps until these are launched. The final approval of a new product is carried out
by the respective Management Board at the mutual proposal of the committee for the new
product process. Comparable methods will apply to activities on new markets.

Control of the market price risks
The market price risks are controlled independently from the Treasury in the Risk
Controlling division.
The monitoring of the market price risks consists of a system of risk- and loss-restricting
limitations and thus associated process regulations. The regular reporting of the market
price risks is elementary as the information flow is ensured hereby. This way, any necessary
control measures can be taken at short notice, if necessary.
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Reporting of market price risks
The results of the daily risk as well as P&L analyses are reported amongst other to the
Chairman of the Management Board as well as the Management Board members
responsible for the risk controlling and Treasury divisions.
The differentiated risk reporting of the market price risks includes:


the daily report pursuant to MaRisk (presentation of the material market risk aspects
on one page),



the monthly report pursuant to MaRisk (detailed presentation of the market risk
aspects), which is the reporting system for disposition committee meetings and the
credit and risk committee meeting,



the reporting with an explanation of the development in the course of the quarter
within the framework of the monthly risk report prepared quarterly as a long report as
well as the key figures in the monthly short risk report.

Market price risk limit and assertions of claims
The key date values are presented in the following table.
LBB/BSK Value-at-Risk* (holding period 1 day, confidence level 99%)
VaR
in EUR million
Share risk
Currency risk
Interest risk
Credit-Spread risk
LBB/BSK

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

1

1

0

0

11

15

4

6

12

17

* Due to diversification effects, the LBB/BSK value is not calculated as the sum of the individual activities.

The total VaR of LBB/BSK was restricted by a limit in the amount of EUR 23 million over
the whole course of the year. The limit was reviewed on schedule at the start of the year
and decided on by the Management Board. The partial risks in the individual assets classes
are not limited separately by VaR limits.
The market price risk has decreased slightly primarily due to disposition measures and
convexity effects (decreasing interest sensitivity of pension liabilities with rising interest
rates).

Interest change risks
The uncertainty about the change in the market interest and a thus associated possible loss
represents a significant risk for banks. This risk is also determined in LBB/BSK within the
scope of the VaR calculations and the interest surplus simulation and is therefore subject
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to limitation and regular monitoring. The interest change risk in the interest book is controlled
holistically and takes all incurred cash flows into consideration.
As at the end of the year, LBB/BSK was predominantly on the assets side with regard to interest
rate fluctuations for maturities of up to eight years and on the liabilities side for longer maturities
due to the remaining pension liabilities even after outsourcing.

Exchange rate risks
LBB/BSK does not enter into any essential positions in foreign currencies. The currency risk
of EUR 41 thousand (previous year: EUR 49 thousand) shown in the LBB/BSK Value-atRisk overview mainly stems from cash value mismatches between foreign currency assets
and liabilities.

Share and fund risks
The shown share risks primarily result from fund shares, which, for reasons of materiality,
are not scrutinised but are instead treated in the same way as shares for risk controlling
purposes. Specific stress tests are also carried out for various types of funds for the purpose
of further risk monitoring, in order to take the composition of the fund portfolio into account.
The cash contribution transferred to the transferred TBG fund in October 2021 as part of
the outsourcing of LBB/BSK's pension liabilities to Metzler Pensionsfonds AG will be
invested in a money market fund until the implementation of a look-through of the Metzler
Pensionsfonds planned for the first quarter of 2022.

Market liquidity risks
The market liquidity risk is monitored within the scope of the market price risk.
A special scenario simulates the particular change in value of the portfolio under
consideration. It is assumed that all interest rates along the interest rate positioning move
by one basis point in the "wrong" direction. Depending on the algebraic sign of the delta
(first derivation from the valuation function based on a risk node), the market value of the
risk node is increased (delta<0), decreased (delta>0) or left unchanged (delta=0).
The scenario with EUR 10 million did not show any significant loss potential as at the
reporting date.

Hedging relationships
Unless they form part of the entire bank controlling and are therefore considered as part of
the loss-free valuation of the banking book in accordance with IDW RS BFA 3, economic
hedging relationships are presented as a valuation unit according to Section 254 HGB.
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Operational risks

The operational risk is defined as a risk of losses, which occur as a result of the
inappropriateness or the failure of internal processes and systems, people or as a result of
external events. Operational risk takes into account, among other things, risks arising from
violations of employee and social concerns, respect for human rights and risks arising from
inadequate management in the fight against corruption and bribery. This definition includes
legal risks, but does not include strategic risks and reputational risks.
As part of the reputational risk management process, it is the Compliance division’s
responsibility to assess the reputational risks for LBB/BSK.
The goals and measures for risk mitigation purposes, which are to be defined at business
division level, are determined by the responsible decentralised risk managers.

Organisational structure
The responsibility for the controlling of operational risks is assumed centrally by the Risk
Controlling division.
According to the strategy for operational risks the implementation of the framework
stipulations and the daily management of operational risks are the responsibility of company
divisions within the framework of their responsibility for the results.
The OpRisk committee is a body for all questions relating to the controlling and
management of operational risks. It supports the Management Board with the performance
of its monitoring function.

Risk control and monitoring
The operational risk is included in the risk bearing capacity concept for the total risk control
of LBB/BSK. The operational risk profile is stipulated compared to the risk appetite of
LBB/BSK; moreover measures and also priorities are defined for minimisation of risks. The
current situation of operational risks is reported to the Management Board on a quarterly
basis.
Special detailed reports regarding operational risks for the individual business divisions are
prepared each year and made available to the decentralised OpRisk officers (Risk
Managers).
Various instruments are used for the efficient control of operational risk, which to a large
extent are also part of the computation model for operational risks. Essential instruments
are:
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the self-assessment (qualitative OpRisk inventory), which is carried out according
to the Bottom-up approach,



the scenario analysis, which is used to determine the loss potential of the critical
scenarios of LBB/BSK,



the damaging event collection (internal/external),



the early warning system (risk indicators are recorded and monitored),



the controlling of measures (identification and monitoring of identified measures
from loss events) and



the risk transfer by insurance cover.

LBB/BSK uses standard software for recording losses as well as the tools developed by the
central OpRisk Controlling for calculating OpVaR, managing data and reporting.

Measurement of the operational risks
The calculation of the economic and regulatory chapter for operational risks is carried out
by means of an Advanced Measurement Approach. In applying this approach, an amount
was determined in 2021, both for the regulatory equity backing for LBB/BSK as well as for
the recognition in the risk bearing capacity, in the amount of EUR 93 million (previous year:
EUR 89 million). This value is the 99.9% quantile of the cumulative annual loss distribution
and is estimated in a suitably conservative manner.
The operational risk increased by EUR 4 million and is now EUR 93 million. This is
essentially due to the increase in legal risks and the associated provisions in connection
with the retroactive interest calculation of old savings contracts and the general terms and
conditions clause on the change mode.
Pandemic-related risks are taken into account in the model through the scenario analysis.
In 2021, no further claims were reported due to the Corona pandemic compared to 2020.
At LBB/BSK, there are currently no failures of systems or restrictions in their performance
due to the crisis situation; there has been no increase in cyber incidents or fraudulent acts.
In response to the Corona pandemic, the possibility of mobile working, which was already
available in advance, was further increased. The increased number of employees working
mobile does not result in any increased operational risks. The procedure for mobile working
is a standard procedure of the savings bank IT service provider FinanzInformatik.
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Personnel risks
The personnel risk is controlled based on risk factors and differentiates between fluctuation,
availability, qualification and motivation risks. The aim is to identify negative trends and to
initiate suitable measures in order to prevent or minimise risks.

IT and system risks
No IT and system risks (information risks), which may jeopardise the existence of the
company, are currently expected with a high degree of probability.
The IT risk management is defined centrally and holistically and includes a constant
sensitisation to risks of the employees as well as a regular risk analysis with the aid of
established procedures. Periodically defined risk indicators are examined for the risk
identification.

Security and emergency management, outsourcing
LBB/BSK has a written emergency plan for critical business processes. For the coordination,
control and management of information security, LBB/BSK is guided by DIN
ISO27001/2013. In order to implement the requirements arising from this standard,
LBB/BSK uses the "Sicherer IT Betrieb" (SITB) tool by SIZ GmbH, a company belonging to
the German savings bank organisation. A crisis task team, which performs decision-making
and management functions in a crisis, has been established.
All MaRisk-related outsourcing of LBB/BSK is controlled and monitored by the partner and
service provider management team in the organisation and productivity management
division. This central service provider management does not have any technical
responsibility for ensuring the separation of functions for the outsourced activities and
processes. This is the responsibility of the technically competent process owner at LBB/BSK,
who can also call on the services of a performance monitoring body (LüS). The partner and
service provider management team works in close consultation with the LüS and monitors
it regarding the compliance with the specifications for outsourcing. As part of the risk
analysis, the risk of outsourcing for the business activities is determined and the materiality
is defined.

Legal risks
The legal department performs the function of a legal risk control. The focus is placed here
on ensuring risk-limiting standards, as well as on relevant legal and contractual issues and
the handling of them.
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The legal aspects of essential projects (e.g. the implementation of EU Directives, launch of
new products) are coordinated with the legal department. For risk prevention, the legal
department provides samples of contracts and other declarations of legal significance. In
case of deviations or innovative regulations the legal department is to be involved. Insofar
as the help of external lawyers is used at home and/or overseas, the principle control also
lies with the legal department.
In its accompanying legal advice the legal department designs the contracts, business
terms as well as other legally important declarations in cooperation with the other divisions.
Insofar as legal texts are submitted by a third party, the legal department is always to be
involved.
If unforeseen developments occur (e.g. as a result of a change in case law) or mistakes
have been made, the legal department assists with the identification, remedy and future
avoidance of such detriment or mistakes. The legal department carries out the examination
and assessment of incidents based on the legally relevant facts and manages the conduct
of the process. This will in particular apply to the defence of asserted claims.
The reporting of the legal department about legal risks is carried out by Management Board
templates and the documentation of the ongoing court proceedings by institutionalised
reports to sectors concerned.
In particular, provisions in the amount of EUR 12.25 million were newly created in 2021 for
the general terms and conditions price adjustment clause and for other legal risks from the
personnel area. Due to the German Federal Court rulings on the general terms and
conditions, the legal situation is currently unclear and price adjustments are therefore
currently only possible at great expense. For interest on long-term savings contracts, there
was a net addition to the existing provision from 2020 in the amount of EUR 3.27 million in
2021 in the amount of EUR 28.63 million to a total of EUR 31.85 million. For the currently
relevant legal risks from the German Federal Court rulings on general terms and conditions
price adjustment clauses, interest on long-term savings contracts and other legal risks from
the personnel area, there are provisions totalling EUR 44.1 million as at 31 December 2021.

3.5

Other risks

Sale of the third-party card business
In connection with the sale of the third-party card business and the winding up of the
associated DirektBankService division, there are uncertainties regarding the adherence to
schedules, the timing and amount of purchase price payments for the portfolios, the
assumption of migration costs and the remaining remanence costs with resulting material
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risks. In addition, there are operational risks from a faster-than-expected departure of
employees.

Business policy and strategic decisions
Strategic risk is defined as the risk of a failure to reach the long-term corporate goals as a
result of strategic decisions based on incomplete, false or inaccurate information. The
control of the strategic risk is carried out by the entire Management Board; certain decisions
moreover require the approval of the Supervisory Board.
The strategy adopted and regularly updated by the Management Board of LBB/BSK sets
out the binding strategic direction of Berliner Sparkasse, which can be specified in separate
functional strategies.
The monitoring and control of the strategic targets are carried out once a year based on the
defined target achievement indicators and target values (target/actual comparison). In
addition, the Management Board discusses the most important strategic projects and
measures in the so-called PULS (PULS = quarterly Management Board discussion of
strategic measures) in order to be able to make adjustments during the year and ensure
that strategic goals are achieved. In addition, a monitoring of selected financial and risk
targets is carried out during the year based on standardised reports.
The strategic and general business risks are taken from the corporate strategy once a year
and are taken into account in the medium-term planning (MFP). The results are integrated
into the risk inventory.
Strategic leadership is provided by the Management Board.

Management Report

63 of 147

E. Supplementary report
On 12 January 2022, the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin)
published its intention to set a countercyclical capital buffer of 0.75% of risk-weighted
assets on domestic risk positions and to introduce a sectoral systemic risk buffer of 2.0% of
risk-weighted assets on loans collateralised with residential real estate. Currently, the ratios
are zero per cent in each case. By general order dated 31 January 2022 with effect from
1 February 2022, BaFin ordered the corresponding buffers with an implementation period
until 1 February 2023. The introduction of these capital buffers or additional capital
requirements will reduce the free RWA potential and thus the new business opportunities
at LBB/BSK accordingly.
Russia has been at war with Ukraine since 24 February 2022 ("Russia-Ukraine war"). The
effects of the Russia-Ukraine war represent a value-creating event after the balance sheet
date and therefore have no influence on the recognition and measurement of assets and
liabilities as at the annual financial statement key date.
In connection with the Russia-Ukraine war, there could be negative effects on the economy
and restrictions in the business activities of many companies due to sanctions, interruptions
in the supply of raw materials to Europe, supply chain problems or significant losses in the
value of corresponding investments in Russia, Ukraine or Belarus.
For LBB/BSK, this could have an indirect impact on the valuation of receivables from
corresponding companies or the loan portfolio, particularly in the corporate customer
business. In addition, the solvency of debtors from Russia, Ukraine or Belarus could be
significantly impaired by the war events with the consequence of corresponding direct risk
provisioning expenses. LBB/BSK sees an additional impairment potential of up to EUR 10
million after taking into account government guarantees, existing collateral and risk
provisions made for receivables in the three countries mentioned. Currently, no significant
negative effects are expected for the direct borrowers in the affected countries. Due to the
partial exclusion of Russia from international payment transactions, payment defaults by
debtors from Russia are likely.
As a result of the war and the direct effects on borrowers in the affected countries and
indirect effects on many other borrowers, the profit transfer to LBBH in 2022 could also be
significantly lower than forecast for 2022 due to increasing risk provision expenses in the
loan portfolio and write-down requirements in the securities portfolio. In addition, there may
be corresponding consequential effects due to increasing RWA for the regulatory capital
and the regulatory ratios (in particular the CET1 capital ratio). In such situations, the CIR
and return on equity could also develop less favourably than presented. It cannot be ruled
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out that further developments in the Ukraine war in the 2022 Fiscal Year will also have a
negative impact on risk management indicators.
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F. Opportunities and forecast report
The forward-looking statements contained in the forecast report are based on estimates
and conclusions drawn from information available at the present time. The statements are
based on a series of assumptions that relate to future events and have been incorporated
into corporate planning. Uncertainties and risks exist with regard to the occurrence of future
events, many of which are beyond the LBB/BSK's control. Accordingly, actual events may
deviate from the forward-looking statements made in the forecast report.
In particular, future effects of the Corona pandemic, indirect consequences of the intensified
geopolitical conflict in Eastern Europe, the consequences of the rapidly accelerating rise in
inflation on our business area and the development of LBB/BSK's results are currently
difficult to estimate. In this context, the forecasts presented below are characterised by a
high degree of uncertainty.
The development of the past years has shown that the forecasting possibilities in a volatile
environment are limited. LBB/BSK discusses the main opportunities and risks of the
forecasts for central management in detail below. Opportunities are defined as possible
future developments or events that could lead to a positive deviation from the forecast or
target for LBB/BSK. On the other hand, risks are defined as possible future developments
or events that could lead to a negative deviation from the forecast or target for LBB/BSK.
The bank-specific risk types are explained separately in the extended risk report.

1.

Outlook of the basic and competitive conditions

Inflation is only expected to ease later in the year and remain well above the 2% mark for
long periods. The steeper price trend is being transmitted to wage development in a delayed
and muted manner. This reduces real incomes and is at the expense of the actually high
catch-up potential in consumption.
Concerns about a firming of inflation and the withdrawal of monetary policy support already
initiated by some central banks will exert latent upward pressure on government bond yields
in the capital markets. The European Central Bank (ECB) will gradually reduce its bond
purchases over the course of the year and may also consider the first key interest rate hikes.
In Berlin's economy, the pandemic is having an impact on cultural workers and event
organisers as well as in the stationary retail trade and the hospitality industry. Long lead
times, the risk of new requirements and staff losses suffered after the pandemic waves
make it difficult for these sectors of the economy to return to business as usual. In addition,
a difficult start to the year is to be expected due to the very high number of infections. For

Management Report

66 of 147

the time being, Berlin will bring up the rear in the reduction of pandemic-related
unemployment compared to the rest of Germany. In general, the increase in the number of
people in employment has lost momentum over the last few years. However, Berlin's
economy is compensating for the associated braking effects with above-average
productivity gains, which result not least from the changed sector mix in the city and should
therefore continue. Both the online and mail-order trade and the core area of the digital
economy are likely to gain in importance and thus provide growth impulses for the city. The
outlook for the real estate industry, on the other hand, is more subdued, as it faces changing
social and climate policy requirements, while the tailwind associated with low interest rates
is fading. In economic terms, Berlin is likely to have a small overall growth lead over the
federal government in 2022.

2.

Forecast

With regard to macroeconomic development, the forecast for the financial year 2022 is
based on the framework data from LBB/BSK’s medium-term plans for 2022 to 2026.
Specifically, they are:


Growth rate of gross domestic product in Berlin: 3.3%



Growth rate of gross domestic product in Germany: 4.1%



Inflation rate Germany: 2.0%



Savings ratio Berlin: 11.5%



Unemployment rate Berlin: 8.5%



Collective agreement pay scale interest in the banking sector: 1.5%



3-month Euribor: -0.46%



10-year SWAP rate: 0.05%

The assumptions are continuously adjusted in the context of Berliner Sparkasse's economic
monitoring. With the spread of the omicron variant and military conflicts in Ukraine, the
economic outlook has changed recently. In addition, the cost of living rose sharply.
According to the latest forecasts, this means that the values for some key data will change
in the 2022 Fiscal Year:


Growth rate of gross domestic product in Berlin: 4.0%



Growth rate of gross domestic product in Germany: 3.0%



Inflation rate Germany: 4.3%



10-year SWAP rate: 0.75%

The development of the most important performance indicators is shown below based on a
comparison of the 2022 forecast with the actual values for the 2021 financial year:
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For 2022, LBB/BSK expects earnings before taxes or profit transfer to LBBH in the amount
of EUR 85 million, a figure that would therefore be EUR 43 million higher than the result for
2021. The result for 2022 will continue to be influenced by the effects of the low-interest
phase in the interest surplus. However, this will be more than compensated for by
significantly lower administrative expenses. Furthermore, risk provisioning will be
moderately reduced, as the burdens of the Corona pandemic have already been taken into
account through additional general loan loss provisions.
The administrative expenses of EUR 805 million in 2022 are expected to be significantly
below the level of the previous year (31 December 2021: EUR 852 million). The effects from
the outsourcing of pension obligations, which will lead to significantly lower pension
expenses in personnel expenses, should be mentioned here in particular. On the other
hand, there will be higher expenses for the bank levy and the security reserve.
With regard to employee capacities, LBB/BSK expects the further reduction to 2,948 by
the end of 2022 (31 December 2021: 2,992), which will be primarily be achieved through
termination agreements.
For the end of 2022, a CET1 capital ratio in the amount of 16.0% (31 December 2021:
18.5%) is planned. In addition to the expected business growth, RWA-increasing effects
from the consideration of new supervisory requirements (especially EBA repair and Basel
IV) are decisive for the expected reduction in the ratio. Since the postponement of the Basel
IV implementation was not published until after the planning was completed, it could not yet
be taken into account in the above figures. This estimate is based on scenario calculations
that are based on conservative macroeconomic assumptions.
The balance sheet total of LBB/BSK is forecast to increase for the end of 2022 with a
figure of EUR 45.1 billion (31 December 2021: EUR 52.5 billion). The reduction compared
to 2021 results from the planned repayment of the ECB tender (TLTRO III) in the course of
2022 in the amount of EUR 7.8 billion.
With regard to receivables from customers, we are expecting an increase to EUR 29.9
billion (31 December 2021: EUR 27.4 billion), resulting primarily from the growth in regional
customer business. Plans are in place here for an expansion of commercial real estate
financing as well as asset transactions with corporate customers, among other things.
We expect liabilities to customers to amount to EUR 32.1 billion at the end of the year
(31 December 2021: EUR 34.4 billion). The portfolio as at 31 December 2021 is increased
by ongoing short-term liabilities, which were no longer assumed for planning purposes at
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the end of 2022. In the current interest rate environment, the deposit business will become
less attractive due to the collection of custody fees.
The planned Cost-Income-Ratio for 2022 is 80.9%, which is significantly below the level
of the value as at 31 December 2021 (85.3%). This is due to significantly lower planned
administrative expenses.
The return on equity is forecast to be 5.0%. The previous year's figure of 10.1% was higher
due, among other things, to the significant conversion of reserves pursuant to Section 340f
HGB into the special item pursuant to Section 340g HGB.
As a result of the war waged by Russia against Ukraine since 24 February 2022 ("RussiaUkraine war") and the direct effects on borrowers in the affected countries and indirect
effects on many other borrowers, the profit transfer to LBBH in 2022 could also be
significantly lower than forecast for 2022 due to increasing risk provisioning expenses in the
loan portfolio and write-down requirements in the securities portfolio. In addition, there may
be corresponding consequential effects due to increasing RWA for the regulatory capital
and the regulatory ratios (in particular the CET1 capital ratio). In such situations, the CIR
and return on equity could also develop less favourably than presented. It cannot be ruled
out that further developments in the Ukraine war in the 2022 Fiscal Year will also have a
negative impact on risk management indicators.

3.

Opportunities and risks


Corona pandemic
The effects of the Corona pandemic continue to be felt. As a service metropolis,
Berlin's economy is particularly affected in the consumer-related economic sectors.
Thus, the return to normality in the hospitality and tourism industry, in the
entertainment industry and culture, in trade fair operations as well as in stationary
retail is currently still difficult against the background of high incidences and the
occurrence of further virus variants - combined with the likelihood of new measures
to contain the pandemic. Due to the volatile situation, there is still a high degree of
uncertainty in assessing the situation.
The concrete effects of the Corona pandemic on the economy, individual markets
and sectors can therefore still not be solidly estimated at present. The forecasts
included are characterised by a high degree of uncertainty.
However, if the effects on the economy are reflected in sustained economic and
capital market burdens and the current situation persists significantly or worsens,
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this could have a negative impact on the relevant markets of LBB/BSK, especially
in Berlin. Therefore, it cannot be ruled out that further developments regarding the
Corona pandemic could lead to significant negative effects on the planned earnings
figures.
In such a situation, the profit transfer to LBBH could also be significantly lower than
in 2021 due to increasing risk provisioning expenses and burdens in the interest and
commission result. In this case, the other key performance indicators, such as the
cost-income ratio, might also develop less favourably than presented in the forecast
report. In addition, there could be corresponding consequences for the regulatory
capital and the regulatory ratios. Furthermore, this could result in considerable
liquidity risks. It cannot be ruled out that further developments in the Corona
pandemic in the 2021 financial year will also have a significant negative impact on
the risk management ratios.
A further risk may arise from the deterioration in the rating of borrowers if current
market values come under pressure or the lending values are impaired. The extent
to which a rapid recovery will emerge is also not foreseeable under the current
conditions.
Customer behaviour is changing noticeably towards cashless or contactless
payment and thus a move away from cash. This leads to increased card sales, but
at the same time ATM revenues decline. Furthermore, the lower volume of tourism
has a negative impact on ATM revenues. This has a lasting impact on commission
surplus.
LBB/BSK sees the greatest risks in risk provisioning. The Corona pandemic has an
impact on the solvency of our customers. If the Corona pandemic takes a different
course with stronger and/or longer-lasting influences on economic growth, this
would result in corresponding additional capital requirements and an increase in risk
provisioning.
After LBB/BSK had temporarily closed several locations in the course of the first
lockdown, these locations will now remain open under the applicable regulations of
the newly adopted Infection Protection Act. This allows us to continue to attract new
customers and provide full service to existing customers. To this end, LBB/BSK
relies on modern digital support concepts.
In addition to the risks associated with the Corona pandemic, there are opportunities
for innovation. LBB/BSK was able to make further progress in the digitalisation of
internal processes and create further flexibility through the use of mobile work.
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Low interest rate phase
The interest rate level remains low, and the yield curve is also flat. The ECB will only
gradually soften its balance sheet expansion policy and raise interest rates slightly
at best. The burdens on the interest result will continue and thus represent a risk for
LBB/BSK. It is not possible to compensate for this with additional income. Therefore,
there is an urgent need to cut costs.



Increasing regulatory pressure
Increasing regulatory and statutory requirements limit the potential for banks to
make changes, and have a negative impact on profitability as a result of increased
equity and management costs. The high level of capital and personnel needed to
meet regulatory requirements drives costs up. This creates risks for LBB/BSK for
the development of its portfolio and new business as well as thus also for the loan
and securities portfolio and with regard to the intensity of competition.
The ECB focuses on the strategic and sustainable orientation of the business model
as well as the risks assumed, e.g. within the framework of the Profitability Forecast
Exercise (PFE) and Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP). The
sustainability of the business models is also put to the test by further regulatory
provisions, for example the obligation to provide third parties with access to payment
data (Payment Service Directive, PSD2).
In addition, there are extensive German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority
(BaFin) expectations for dealing with sustainability risks with regard to business
organisation and risk management.
Further tightening of regulatory requirements such as the setting of macro-prudential
capital buffers and "Basel IV" are planned for the coming years, which will also place
a heavy burden on LBB/BSK. The macroprudential capital buffers include the
countercyclical capital buffer, the ratio of which was set at 0.75 per cent of the total
exposure amount determined in accordance with Article 92 Para. 3 German Capital
Adequacy Regulation [Kapitaladäquanzverordnung] according to the general ruling
of the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority of 31 January 2022, with
effect from 1 February 2022, and which will be used to calculate the institutional
capital buffer from 1 February 2023 to be applied for the calculation of the institutionspecific countercyclical capital buffer as well as the systemic risk buffer with 2
percent of the risk-weighted assets collateralised with residential real estate in
Germany. Both capital requirements are to apply from February 2023 and represent
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additional, new capital requirements. The introduction of these capital buffers or
additional capital requirements will reduce the free RWA potential and thus the new
business opportunities at LBB/BSK accordingly.
In addition, future regulatory interventions could be accompanied by restrictions and
thus earnings risks as well as the implementation of new regulatory requirements
with additional administrative expenses.


Implementation of cost programme
There is a risk that the measures from the cost programme taken into account in the
results planning cannot be realised and implemented as planned, e.g. due to new
regulatory requirements or the need for additional staff, and that the planned profit
transfer cannot be achieved as a result.
At the same time, however, there is also the chance of a faster and more rapid
implementation of planned measures with the consequence that the corresponding
positive effects on earnings can already be achieved at an earlier point in time and
thus a higher profit transfer can be realised.
In addition, there are risks from LBB/BSK's membership in the institution-related
guarantee system of the Sparkasse Financial Group. As part of compensation and
support measures, special payments could be demanded from the institutions in the
protection system, which would have a negative impact on LBB/BSK's result and
thus on the profit transfer. The same applies to possible obligations to make
additional contributions to the restructuring fund for credit institutions. It is currently
not foreseeable whether and in what amount such payments will be made.



Digitalisation
The Corona pandemic has once again intensified the cross-industry digitalisation
push. This is expressed in the banking industry in increased demands on digital
banking and a rising demand for digital banking products and services. Customers
are looking more intensively at cashless and thus digital or contactless payment
methods. In addition, online banking is increasingly in demand.
LBB/BSK recognised this trend early on and has been able to significantly increase
the share of online banking users to around 75% in recent years with a digital
"onboarding strategy". The S-App, which has won several awards as Germany's
best banking app, supports this strategy advantageously and is now used by around
half a million LBB/BSK customers.
A strong change in customer behaviour can also be seen in the increasing number
of telephone contacts with the Bank's media units. Here, LBB/BSK is endeavouring

Management Report

72 of 147

to transfer the services provided by the staff to digital channels. Among other things,
the savings bank solution "Linda", which also won the award for best chat bot, is
used here. New digital offers such as the document safe S-Trust underline
LBB/BSK's aspiration to strengthen customer relationships and develop new
sources of income beyond traditional banking products.
The omnichannel approach in the customer business is to be reflected in new
organisational processes, the flexibilisation of the sales network and the
establishment of further media units.
Building on its competitive advantage as a large branch bank, LBB/BSK has extra
opportunities for securing and expanding market shares through demands-oriented
offers, an adequate price-performance ratio, high visibility and good quality advice
as well as through the targeted onboarding of customers into the digital world.
Falling barriers to switching to competitors represent a risk for LBB/BSK, but
conversely also open up opportunities.


Property market
Due to the pandemic, commitments to hotel real estate, restaurants and real estate
in the event industry continue to be entered into only very cautiously. These
segments account for less than 5% of the asset volume of the Commercial Real
Estate Financing business area, so that risks are present but limited.
Demand for office properties in Berlin remains unchanged despite a slight increase
in vacancies (expected level of approx. 5% corresponds to a market-compatible
vacancy reserve). Prime and average rents are above those of the pre-pandemic
year 2019. The trends towards home office and new work may have long-term
effects that cannot be validly assessed at present, but are considered minor by most
market participants. Accordingly, no remarkable change in demand is to be
expected in the medium term.
The Berlin housing market remains tight. The significant influx of new residents in
recent years has not been matched by a corresponding increase in residential
construction. For the foreseeable future, the demand for housing will remain far
higher than the supply of housing, so that rent levels and thus purchase prices and
market values are likely to remain at least stable or continue to rise.
Once the unconstitutionality of the "rent cap" has been established, the political
debate on the expropriation of real estate companies with more than 3,000
apartments (per company) may contribute to investors and developers turning away
from the Berlin housing market again. This poses the risk that the currently financed
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business in the development segment for new residential construction (rent) cannot
be replaced by adequate new business when it expires.
The proven quality requirements will continue to be adhered to, which may have a
negative impact on new business in the environment of increasingly margin- and
risk-aggressive competitors. Future potential can be tapped through the market
position achieved and the reputation as a competent and reliable financing partner
as well as an optimisation of internal processes.


Third-party card transactions
Due to the planned termination of the cooperation agreements, no more new
business will be transacted in the Amazon portfolio. In addition, the portfolios are to
be transferred in the next few years, so no further interest and commission income
will be generated from these portfolios from then on. On the other hand, there is the
opportunity to realise significant cost savings, especially in the IT area.



Berlin as a business location
Companies in the service sector make up the majority of Berlin as a business
location. Companies from the health industry, media and creative industries, tourism
and the congress industry in particular shape Berlin's economy. Berlin has also
developed into one of the most important start-up ecosystems internationally. Due
to above-average growth rates, the Berlin economy has been able to develop very
positively in many areas. LBB/BSK offers Berlin companies sector-specific advisory
services and, together with its local networks, can support founders in the start-up
phase in line with their needs and retain them in the long term.



Russia-Ukraine war
Reference is made to the explanations in the Supplementary Report section.

4.

General statement

With the comprehensive "Z25!" programme for the future, LBB/BSK is using its own
resources to create the conditions for securing its future in a time of very great change. The
core points are the focus on the core business as the capital city savings bank, the reduction
of complexity, lower costs and higher earnings in the customer business. In the 2022
financial year, LBB/BSK will continue to systematically work through this programme for the
future on the basis of strict cost management.
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The focus will be on further expanding the leading market position in the capital region. In
doing so, LBB/BSK will focus on coming into direct contact with all customers in order to
overcome the consequences of the pandemic and to set the course for securing its
economic future.
LBB/BSK's business model has proven to be robust and sustainable even under the
noticeably stressful conditions of a dramatically changing environment for banks and
savings banks and the Covid 19 pandemic. Nevertheless, numerous risk factors make a
forecast difficult: These include the continuing uncertainties regarding the further course of
the pandemic and the associated economic risks, the ongoing low interest rate policy of the
European Central Bank, a highly tense geopolitical situation as well as further tightening
within the framework of regulatory and legal requirements. In addition, it remains to be seen
how inflation will affect the German economy and consumer behaviour.
LBB/BSK continues to consistently identify possible costs and savings potential. The
overriding goal is and remains its sustainable profitability.
For the 2022 financial year, LBB/BSK continues to expect an orderly liquidity situation and
thus continued full refinancing of the business volumes in the collateralised and noncollateralised money and capital markets.
For the 2022 financial year, LBB/BSK is planning for earnings before taxes in the amount
of EUR 85 million, which will be transferred in full to LBBH
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Balance sheet of Landesbank Berlin AG as at 31 December 2021
Assets

Notes
Text digits EUR thousand EUR thousand

Cash
a) Cash on hand
b) Balances at Central Banks
including: at the Deutsche Bundesbank

EUR thousand EUR thousand

308,023
13,135,577
13,135,577
13,443,600

Receivables from credit institutions
a) Mortgage loans
b) Municipal loans
c) Other advances
including:
due daily
against mortgaging of securities

1, 19

Receivables from customers
a) Mortgage loans
b) Municipal loans
c) Other advances
including:
against mortgaging of securities

2, 19

0
177,959
1,659,034
221,868
0

11,111,341
1,531,851
14,737,628
12,379

(8,415)
25,786,571

3, 9, 19
0

50,078

0

(50,078)
0

75,103

0

(75,103)
0

b) Bonds and debentures
ba) from public issuers
including:
eligible as collateral at the Deutsche
Bundesbank
bb) from other issuers
including:
eligible as collateral at the Deutsche
Bundesbank

125,181

1,723,476

2,083,789

1,723,476

(2,083,785)
6,304,995

7,087,088

5,896,979

(6,663,719)
8,028,471
0

c) Own debentures
Nominal amount

Tangible assets
Other assets
Prepaid expenses
a) from the issuing and loan business
b) other

(384,116)
(0)
3,300,763
10,735,981
1,441,360
13,609,230

27,380,820

Shares and other
non-fixed-interest securities
Participating interests
including:
in credit institutions
in financial service institutions
in securities institutions
Shares in affiliated companies
including:
in credit institutions
in financial service institutions
in securities institutions
Trust assets
including: Trust loans
Intangible assets
a) self-created industrial property rights and similar
rights and values
b) concessions acquired against payment, industrial
property rights and similar rights and values as well
as licences to such rights and values
c) goodwill
d) advance payments made

331,378
8,124,218
(8,124,218)
8,455,596
0
242,333
3,058,430

1,836,993

Debentures
and other fixed-interest securities
a) Money market instruments
aa) from public issuers
including:
eligible as collateral at the Deutsche
Bundesbank
ab) from other issuers
including:
eligible as collateral at the Deutsche
Bundesbank

Previous
year
EUR
thousand

8,028,471

9,170,877
0
(0)
9,296,058

235,893
156,716

250,234
155,907

435,307

(31,362)
(32,484)
(0)
410,170

0

4, 9
5, 9
31,362
32,484
0
5, 9
390,336
0
0

227,726

18
227,726

(365,199)
(0)
(0)
190,924
(183,246)

6
18,262

25,733

33,915
0
0

27,699
0
0
53,432
73,696
862,503

52,177
67,997
501,830

6
7
8
10,562
106,385

12,695
296,109
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Total assets:

116,947
52,484,477

308,804
49,144,658

Balance sheet
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Notes
Text digits EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liabilities due to credit institutions
a) Issued mortgage registered Pfandbriefe
b) Issued public registered Pfandbriefe
c) other liabilities
including:
due daily
issued mortgage registered Pfandbriefe to secure raised
loans to the lender
and public registered Pfandbriefe

10

Liabilities to customers
a) Issued mortgage registered Pfandbriefe
b) Issued public registered Pfandbriefe
c) savings deposits
with agreed period of notice
ca) of three months
cb) of more than three months

11

EUR thousand EUR thousand

85,455
0
10,378,835

147,798
0
8,914,449

1,422,453

(948,080)

0
0

(0)
(0)
9,062,247

10,464,290
453,545
0

436,580
0

4,545,352
29,396,561

4,545,794
9,625
4,555,419
25,972,253

4,537,316
8,036

d) other liabilities
including:
due daily
issued mortgage registered Pfandbriefe to secure raised
loans to the lender
and public registered Pfandbriefe

29,204,487

(25,724,940)

0
0

(0)
(0)
30,964,252

34,395,458
Securitised debt
a) issued debentures
aa) mortgage bonds
ab) public Pfandbriefe
ac) other debentures

Previous
year
EUR
thousand

12
2,770,109
260,104
79,625

2,902,602
268,208
84,293
3,255,103
0

3,109,838
0

b) other securitised debts
including:
Money market instruments

0

Trust liabilities
including: Trust loans
Other liabilities
Prepaid expenses
a) from the issuing and loan business
b) other

18

Provisions
a) Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
b) Tax provisions
c) Other provisions

15

Subordinate liabilities
Fund for general bank risks
thereof special items according to Section 340e (4) HGB
Equity
a) Requested capital
Issued capital
aa) Share capital
less non-requested outstanding capital contributions

16

556,847

(0)
3,255,103
190,924
(183,246)
756,807

199,712

29,377
370,455
399,832

3,109,838
227,726
227,726

13
14
30,441
169,271

152,812
2,020
343,011
497,843
392,962
478,558
7,223

1,352,948
2,009
337,292
1,692,249
396,443
265,558
(7,223)

17
1,200,000
0

b) Capital reserve
c) Retained earnings
ca) statutory reserve
cb) reserve for shares in a controlling company or company with a majority participation
cc) reserves according to the statutes
cd) other retained earnings

1,200,000
0
1,200,000
920,038

1,200,000
920,038
0
0
0
41,205

2,161,243
52,484,477

0
0
0
41,205
41,205
0
2,161,243
49,144,658

613,375
613,375

676,064
676,064

3,065,243
3,065,243

3,403,694
3,403,694

41,205
0

d) Balance sheet profit/balance sheet loss

Total liabilities:
Contingent liabilities
b) Liabilities from guarantees and from warranty contracts

29

Other obligations
c) Irrevocable credit commitments

29
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Income statement of Landesbank Berlin AG for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2021
Expenses

Notes
Text digits

Interest expenses

EUR
thousand

EUR
thousand

EUR
thousand

Previous
year
EUR
EUR
thousand thousand

16, 20, 27

a) Interest expenses without consideration of positive interest
b) Positive interest

39,609

49,236

-120,595

-42,466
-80,986

thereof: Compounding of the bank-specific provisions
Fees and commission expenses
General administrative expenses

0

(15)
188,891

21, 27

6,770

186,692

22

a) Personnel expenses
aa) Wages and salaries

235,892

226,588

ab) Social contributions and expenses for
retirement pensions and for support

147,397

including: for retirement pensions

153,329

109,855

(116,695)
383,289

b) Other administrative expenses

Depreciation and amortisation on intangible assets

379,917

446,473

6

452,207
829,762

832,124

22,386

25,005

and tangible assets
Other operating expenses

106,402

23

thereof: Compounding of the non-bank-specific provisions

28,206

68,164
(36,120)

Depreciation and amortisation on receivables as well
as transfers to provisions in the credit business

24

0

131,749

5, 9

0

0

-1,132

-2,774

213,000

0

42,000

43,000

0

0

Depreciation and amortisation on participating
interests, shares in affiliated companies and
securities treated as fixed assets
Other taxes insofar as not disclosed under "Other
operating expenses"
Transfer to the fund for general bank risks
Profit transferred on the basis of income from profit
pooling, a profit and loss transfer or a partial profit
and loss transfer agreement
Net profit for the year
Total expenses:

1,320,323 1,290,730
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Notes
Text digits

Interest income from

EUR
thousand

EUR EUR thousand
thousand

Previous
year
EUR thousand
EUR
thousand

20, 27

a) lending and money market business
aa) interest income without consideration of negative interest

732,049

ab) negative interest

-62,509

767,468
-23,490
669,540

743,978

b) Fixed-interest securities and
debt register claims

-17,375

-12,751
652,165

Regular income from

731,227

20, 27

a) Shares and other non-fixed-interest securities

1,221

b) Participating interests

6,857

5,985

29,938

33,527

b) Shares in affiliated companies

Income from profit pooling,

1,612

38,016

41,124

470

1,370

21, 27

437,255

419,898

24

105,359

0

1,221

35,155

85,837

61,956

-

-

20, 27

profit and loss transfer or
partial profit and loss transfer agreements
Fee and commission income
Income from write-ups on receivables and certain securities
as well as from the reversal of provisions in the credit
business
Income from write-ups to participating interests,

5, 9

Shares in affiliated companies and securities treated as
fixed assets
Other operating income

23

Net loss for the year
Total income:

1,320,323 1,290,730
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Statement of changes in equity
in EUR million

Issued capital

Capital reserves

Share capital
Status as at 31.12.2020

Retained earnings

Balance sheet
profit/ balance
sheet loss

other retained
earnings

Total equity

1,200

920

41

0

2,161

Capital increases

0

0

0

0

0

Capital reductions

0

0

0

0

0

1,200

920

41

0

2,161

Status as at 31.12.2021

Cash flow statement
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Cash flow statement
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2021

As a capital market-orientated company that is not obliged to prepare consolidated financial statements,
Landesbank Berlin AG/ Berliner Sparkasse (LBB/BSK) has to extend the annual financial statements to
include a cash flow statement according to Section 264 Para. 1 Sentence 2 HGB. The presentation of the
cash flow statement is carried out line with Annex 2 of the German accounting standard No. 21 (DRS 21).
The cash flow statement provides information about the status and development of the cash and cash
equivalents of the financial year, broken down into to the divisions of current operating activities, investing
activities and financing activities.
The informative value of the cash flow statement is to be seen as low for credit institutions as it does not
allow any information to be derived regarding the actual liquidity situation. The cash flow statement neither
replaces the liquidity or financial planning for LBB/BSK, nor is it used as a controlling instrument.
EUR million
Net profit for the year

2021

2020

0

0

Depreciation and amortisation, value adjustments and reversals of impairment losses on
loans and advances and items of the fixed assets

135

152

Changes in provisions through profit or loss

223

219

Other non-cash expenses and income

-6

2

Profit/loss from the disposal of items of the fixed assets

-1

-32

Other adjustments (net)
Increase/decrease in receivables from credit institutions
Increase/decrease in receivables from customers
Increase/decrease in assets held for trading
Increase/decrease in securities (provided no financial assets or assets held for trading)
Increase/decrease in other assets used in operating activities

-34

-38

1,397

521

-1,494

-2,033

0

0

695

981

516

61

Increase/decrease in liabilities due to credit institutions

1,533

6,509

Increase/decrease in liabilities due to customers

3,432

2,402

-145

-473

0

0

-1,776

-273

-733

-724

0

0

Increase/decrease in securitised debts
Increase/decrease in liabilities held for trading
Increase/decrease in other liabilities used in operating activities
Interest expenses/interest income
Income tax expense/income
Received interest payments and dividend payments

765

922

Interest paid

-51

-158

Extraordinary cash inflows

0

0

Extraordinary cash outflows

0

0

Income tax payments

0

-1

4,456

8,037

Cash flow from current operating activities

Cash flow statement
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1,149

-292

-600

-849

3

0

-4

-8

0

0

-13

-16

Change in cash and cash equivalents due to other investing activities (net)

0

0

Cash inflows from extraordinary items

0

0

Cash outflows from extraordinary items

0

0

535

-1,165

Cash inflows from equity transfers

0

0

Cash outflows from reductions in equity

0

0

Cash inflows from extraordinary items

0

0

Cash outflows from extraordinary items

0

0

Dividends paid

0

0

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to other capital (net)

-3

-15

Cash flow from financing activities

-3

-15

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January

8,456

1,599

Change in cash and cash equivalents

4,988

6,857

0

0

13,444

8,456

Payments for investments in financial assets
Payments received from the disposal of fixed assets
Payments for investments in fixed assets
Payments received from the disposal of intangible fixed assets
Payments for investments in intangible fixed assets

Cash flow from investing activities

Changes in cash funds due to exchange rate and measurement-related changes
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December

Within the scope of the cash flow statement, the cash and cash equivalents of LBB/BSK at the beginning
of the financial year are carried over by the depiction of the cash flows from the
•

current operating activities,

•

investing activities as well as the

•

financing activities

to the cash and cash equivalents available at the end of the financial year. The total from these cash flows
corresponds with the change in the cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period. The cash and cash
equivalents comprise the cash in hand and the balances at the Deutsche Bundesbank.
The cash flow from the current operating activities is presented according to the indirect method based on
the net profit for the year. After this the net profit for the year is adjusted by all non-cash income and
expenses. According to DRS 21 in particular, interest and dividend payments affecting payments as well
as tax payments in the cash flow from the current operating activities are disclosed separately. Accordingly
the net profit for the year is initially adjusted in the position "Other adjustments (net)" among others by the
interest result and the income tax expenses.
The cash flow from investing activities essentially results from cash inflows and outflows in connection
with the disposal or the acquisition of financial assets, tangible assets and intangible assets.
In the change in cash and cash equivalents from the financing activities in addition to the relationships to
the equity providers in particular the changes from the provision or repayment of subordinate liabilities are
taken into consideration.
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Notes of Landesbank Berlin AG 2021
Landesbank Berlin AG, Berlin, (LBB) is a capital market-oriented, non-listed credit institution.
It is a subsidiary of Landesbank Berlin Holding AG, Berlin, (LBBH) and is included in the
consolidated financial statements of Erwerbsgesellschaft der S-Finanzgruppe mbH & Co.
KG, Neuhardenberg, (Erwerbsgesellschaft) (smallest and largest group of consolidated
companies within the meaning of Section 285 No. 14 and 14a HGB).
The consolidated financial statements of the Erwerbsgesellschaft are published in the
electronic Bundesanzeiger [German Federal Gazette].
The registered office of LBB is based in Berlin. The company is entered under Number HRB
99726 B in the trade register of the District Court of Berlin-Charlottenburg.
The entire business operations of LBB are depicted in Berliner Sparkasse irrespective of
the market presence. Berliner Sparkasse (BSK) is an institution under public law with partial
legal capacity. It is managed as a branch of the joint stock company [Aktiengesellschaft]
Landesbank Berlin AG. Therefore, the designation Landesbank Berlin AG / Berliner
Sparkasse (LBB/BSK) is used below.

Disclosures relating to accounting and measurement
methods
The annual financial statements of LBB/BSK were prepared according to the principles of
proper accounting by complying with the accounting regulations of the German Commercial
Code (HGB) for large stock corporations and the German Stock Corporation Act
[Aktiengesetz], extended by the provisions of the German Regulation Governing the
Accounting of Credit Institutions [Verordnung über die Rechnungslegung der Kreditinstitute
- RechKredV]. The regulations of the statutes were additionally complied with.
The accounting and measurement methods were retained.
The annual financial statements were prepared based on the going concern (Section
252 Para. 1 No. 2 HGB).
The measurement of the assets, liabilities and pending business was carried out according
to the regulations of Sections 252 et seqq. HGB in conjunction with Sections 340 et seqq.
HGB. The regulation governing the accounting of credit institutions was complied with.
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Scheduled depreciations are carried out with assets, which are measured pursuant to
Section 340e Para. 1 Sentence 1 HGB according to the regulations applicable to the fixed
assets and whose use is limited in time.
In connection with the merger of LBB Finance (Ireland) plc into LBB/BSK, which has no
effect on the asset position, the option to continue the book value in accordance with Section
24 German Transformation Act [Umwandlungsgesetz - UmwG] was exercised.

Loans and advances and liabilities
Receivables are principally recognised with the nominal amount. Liabilities are generally
accounted for at the settlement amount. Liabilities issued at fair value are recognised at the
compounded value. Share premium and debt discount amounts on receivables and
liabilities are transferred to the prepaid expenses and deferred income and reserved as
scheduled.
Recognisable risks in the loan business were sufficiently taken into account by the formation
of single value adjustments. General value adjustments exist for deferred risks in the loans
business. Internal group receivables are not included in the calculation of the general value
adjustment. Irrevocable interest is not collected.

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised at amortised cost. The reversal of premiums and discounts
from fixed-interest securities in the fixed assets with an effect on the result is carried out
proportionate to interest over the term to maturity. In the case of variable interest rate
securities, premiums are reversed up to the next payment adjustment date, while the
collection of discounts is only implemented on disposal.
In the case of anticipated permanent depreciation, write-downs are performed (mitigated
lower-of-cost-or-market principle, Section 253 Para. 3 HGB). In deviation from this,
investment funds are valued like securities in the liquidity reserve.

Securities in the liquidity reserve
Securities in the liquidity reserve are recognised on the valuation date at the original
acquisition costs and/or the lower of the stock exchange or market price (strict lower-ofcost-or-market principle, Section 253 Para. 4 HGB). If the stock exchange or market price
has increased compared to the previous accounting date, the impairment loss is reversed,
to no more than the original acquisition costs (requirement to reinstate original value,
Section 253 Para. 5 HGB).
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Credit derivatives
Credit derivatives are accounted for in accordance with IDW RS BFA 1.
For Credit Default Swaps where LBB/BSK assumes the position of a collateral provider,
and which are not assigned to a valuation unit in accordance with Section 254 HGB, the
rules for loan collateral provided shall apply. If the occurrence of the credit event is seriously
to be expected on the reporting date, a provision is formed in the sum of the settlement
amount necessary based on a reasonable commercial assessment.
Credit default swaps where LBB/BSK assumes the position of a collateral taker, and which
are not assigned to a valuation unit in accordance with Section 254 HGB, are treated in
accordance with the recognition-of-loss principle according to the principles developed for
pending transactions.

Market valuation
Insofar as market values are available for securities, these will be used as fair values. In the
event of non-active markets the fair values will be determined based on discounted cash
flows, whereby interest that can be observed on the market, general Credit Spreads
(external category spreads according to industry, origin and rating) and individual Credit
Spreads (instrument- and issuer-specific) will be entered into the discount factors. For the
determination of the latter, the last observed plausible individual spreads or more recent
spreads of related bonds or credit default swaps as well as own estimates are used in a
differentiated analysis.
When valuing derivatives, stock exchange prices are also taken as a basis in principle. In
case of missing stock exchange prices the market value will be calculated based on financial
mathematical valuation methods, in particular cash value method and option price methods,
which are customary for the industry. The parameters entered in the measurement models
will be determined as of the accounting date based on available market conditions. The
Black-Normal model is used to determine the fair values for interest options within the
current environment of low to negative interest rates. In addition, the intensities model is
used for the assessment of instruments with Credit Spread exposure, such as bonds,
promissory notes and credit derivatives.
The control of the interest margin of all business allocated to the banking book is carried
out in its entirety. The book values of the allocated financial instruments are compared with
their cash values in conjunction with the loss-free valuation of the banking book in
accordance with IDW RS BFA 3. No excess liability arises after taking into account the
refinancing risk, risk costs and administrative costs. A provision was not formed.
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Valuation units
Unless they form part of the entire bank controlling and are therefore considered as part of
the loss-free valuation of the banking book in accordance with IDW RS BFA 3, economic
hedging relationships are presented as a valuation unit according to Section 254 HGB.
Underlying transactions, which are directly associated with an amount-, currency- and termcongruent hedging derivative and are therefore hedged against interest change and/or
exchange rate risks, shall therefore be considered as a valuation unit. Valuation units are
exclusively formed on micro-level, i.e. that the value changes from the hedged risk of the
underlying transaction are compared to individual hedging instruments. As proof for the
compensation of the contrary value changes from the underlying and hedging transaction
LBB/BSK applies the Critical Terms Match-Method for all valuation units. Within the scope
of this method it is documented that the essential parameters correspond between
underlying and hedging transaction. Against this background it is assumed that the value
changes between underlying and hedging transaction are completely balanced from the
start of the documented formation of the valuation unit until the maturity of the business
transactions, with regard to the hedged risk. No valuation units are being formed at present,
in which transactions that are highly expected will be included.
The effective part of a valuation is depicted on the balance sheet in line with the net hedge
presentation method. The recognition in the balance sheet for additionally existing
invalidities from the non-hedged risk is directed at whether these are to be attributed to the
underlying transaction (loan or security) or the hedging transaction (derivative). If the
negative invalidity is to be attributed to the derivative, an addition is made to provisions for
anticipated losses. If the negative ineffectiveness is attributable to the security, the provision
is recognised in the balance sheet if this is required by the application of the lower of cost
or market principle.

Offsetting
Receivables and liabilities which result from repurchasing transactions with Eurex Clearing
AG are offset against each other, provided that cumulatively they are fulfilled and these
transactions are conducted in the same currency and have the same maturities.
As at 31 December 2021, there was no offsetting amount, as in the previous year.

Intangible assets and tangible assets
Tangible assets and intangible assets are valued at acquisition cost and/or manufacturing
cost, amortised – assuming they are depreciable assets – in most cases on a straight line
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basis in accordance with their nominal useful life at the maximum rates permitted by tax
laws.
The manufacturing costs for self-produced software include development costs, insofar as
they can reliably be allocated to the respective capitalised asset, fulfil the recognition criteria
in accordance with Section 255 HGB and have not been recognised as expenses in
previous financial statements.

Intangible assets / tangible assets

Useful life

Buildings

25 / 33 / 50 years

Tenant fixtures

15 / 25 / 33 years

Operating facilities

5 - 25 years

Furnishings

8 - 13 years

Telephone systems

8 - 11 years

Office machinery/IT systems
Motor vehicles
Software

3 - 8 years
6 years
3 - 5 years

Low-value assets with acquisition costs of no more than EUR 60.00 to EUR 800.00 net are
written off in full in the year of their purchase and are shown as disposals in the fixed assets
movement schedule. For assets from EUR 800.01 net up to a maximum of EUR 2,000.00
gross, they are capitalised in collective assets depreciated over a period of between 3 and
13 years, differentiated by the asset group in question.

Provisions
In the 2021 financial year, LBB/BSK transferred a large part of its pension obligations to a
non-insurance pension fund. The obligations for active employees were transferred as at
31 December 2020 as a key date, and those for retired employees and pensioners as at
31 October 2021.
The pension obligations transferred to the pension fund are indirect pension obligations for
which there is a recognition option in accordance with Article 28 Para. 1 Sentence 2 German
Introductory Law to the Commercial Code [Einführungsgesetz zum Handelsgesetzbuch EGHGB]. This option was exercised in such a way that provisions for indirect pension
obligations were not formed in accordance with Article 28 Para. 1 Sentence 2 EGHGB.
The pension provisions are determined by external actuarial experts according to the
Projected Unit Credit Method (PUC) or according to the cash value method of the achieved
entitlement. In accordance with Section 253 (2) Sentence 1 HGB, they are discounted with
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the average market interest rate of the past ten financial years, which is produced with an
assumed residual term of 15 years. An interest rate of 1.87% (previous year: 2.30%) is used
as a basis. Wage and salary increases of 0.0 - 2.25% p.a. (previous year: 0.0 - 2.5% p.a.)
and as pension trend 1.0 - 2.0% p.a. (previous year: 1.0 - 2.0% p.a.) were used. The
biometric calculation bases (reference tables Prof. Heubeck 2018 G, IGSS mortality table)
were used with the calculation.
The other provisions are recognised with the settlement amount that is necessary according
to a reasonable commercial assessment. Provisions with a residual term of more than one
year according to Section 253 Para. 2 HGB will be discounted. Income from changes in the
discounting rate or interest effects resulting from changes to the estimate of the residual
term are reported in the same income statement item as transfers and/or reversals.
Estimates and assumptions are made for the valuation of the restructuring provisions.
Experiences from previous years (including personnel data, average rental terms, costs for
maintenance agreements) and expected market developments are incorporated into the
estimates and assumptions.

Currency translation
The annual financial statements are prepared in euros.
The translation of the assets and debts denominated in foreign currency as well as of
pending transactions is carried out at the reference rates published at the end of the year
by the European Central Bank. Forward rates were derived from this. Determined rates of
30 December 2021 4:30pm were used for currencies, for which the ECB does not determine
any reference rates.
Insofar as assets, debts or forward transactions are especially covered by assets, debts or
other forward transactions in the same currency, the results will be realised according to
Section 340h HGB in conjunction with Section 256a HGB.

Supplementary report
On 12 January 2022, the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin)
published its intention to set a countercyclical capital buffer of 0.75% of risk-weighted assets
on domestic risk positions and to introduce a sectoral systemic risk buffer of 2.0% of riskweighted assets on loans collateralised with residential real estate. Currently, the ratios are
zero per cent in each case. By general order dated 31 January 2022 with effect from
1 February 2022, BaFin ordered the corresponding buffers with an implementation period
until 1 February 2023. The introduction of these capital buffers or additional capital
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requirements will reduce the free RWA potential and thus the new business opportunities
at LBB/BSK accordingly.
Russia has been at war with Ukraine since 24 February 2022 ("Russia-Ukraine war"). The
effects of the Russia-Ukraine war represent a value-creating event after the balance sheet
date and therefore have no influence on the recognition and measurement of assets and
liabilities as at the annual financial statement key date.
In connection with the Russia-Ukraine war, there could be negative effects on the economy
and restrictions in the business activities of many companies due to sanctions, interruptions
in the supply of raw materials to Europe, supply chain problems or significant losses in the
value of corresponding investments in Russia, Ukraine or Belarus.
For LBB/BSK, this could have an indirect impact on the valuation of receivables from
corresponding companies or the loan portfolio, particularly in the corporate customer
business. In addition, the solvency of debtors from Russia, Ukraine or Belarus could be
significantly impaired by the war events with the consequence of corresponding direct risk
provisioning expenses. LBB/BSK sees an additional impairment potential of up to EUR 10
million after taking into account government guarantees, existing collateral and risk
provisions made for receivables in the three countries mentioned. Currently, no significant
negative effects are expected for the direct borrowers in the affected countries. Due to the
partial exclusion of Russia from international payment transactions, payment defaults by
debtors from Russia are likely.
As a result of the war and the direct effects on borrowers in the affected countries and
indirect effects on many other borrowers, the profit transfer to LBBH in 2022 could also be
significantly lower than forecast for 2022 due to increasing risk provision expenses in the
loan portfolio and write-down requirements in the securities portfolio. In addition, there may
be corresponding consequential effects due to increasing RWA for the regulatory capital
and the regulatory ratios (in particular the CET1 capital ratio). In such situations, the CIR
and return on equity could also develop less favourably than presented. It cannot be ruled
out that further developments in the Ukraine war in the 2022 Fiscal Year will also have a
negative impact on risk management indicators.
There were no disposals of particular importance that arose following the conclusion of the
financial year.
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Explanatory notes relating to the
balance sheet and the income
statement
Balance sheet
Assets
(1)

Receivables from credit institutions

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

up to three months

700

1,706

more than three months up to one year

214

967

more than one year up to five years

618

503

in EUR million
Maturity breakdown (residual term)

more than five years
Total

305

125

1,837

3,301

1,081

1,154

4

4

104

104

0

0

The following are included in this balance sheet item:
Receivables from affiliated companies
Receivables from companies with which an investment relationship exists
Subordinate loans and advances
Items intended to cover issued debentures and registered Pfandbriefe

The receivables from affiliated companies include receivables from S-Kreditpartner GmbH
amounting to EUR 1,080.6 million (previous year: EUR 1,153.6 million).

(2)

Receivables from customers

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

up to three months

3,412

3,003

more than three months up to one year

1,430

1,613

more than one year up to five years

6,572

6,441

15,967

14,730

in EUR million
Maturity breakdown (residual term)

more than five years
thereof with an indefinite term

(709)

(656)

27,381

25,787

Receivables from affiliated companies

61

323

Receivables from companies with which an investment relationship exists

39

47

0

0

6,237

5,978

Total
The following are included in this balance sheet item:

Subordinate loans and advances
Items intended to cover issued debentures and registered Pfandbriefe
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Debentures and other fixed-interest securities

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

marketable

8,028

9,296

listed

7,814

9,215

in EUR million
of securities contained in this balance sheet item the following are:

not listed

214

81

of which active in the following year

939

1,730

Items intended to cover issued debentures and registered Pfandbriefe

281

335

Depreciations on the fair value according to Section 253 Para. 3 Sentence 5 HGB were
waived for the following securities of the fixed assets, because the impairment is not
considered to be permanent:
Book values

omitted depreciations
cumulative

Fair values
31.12.2021

in EUR million

31.12.2020

Debentures

32

32

0

2

Total

32

32

0

2

LBB/BSK has the intention and the ability to temporarily hold impaired securities of the fixed
assets until the final maturity. The positions are subject to a regular standardised monitoring
procedure. In LBB/BSK impairments for debentures are not considered to be permanent if
they are solely as a result of interest-, liquidity- or credit-spread-induced fluctuations in value.
As the impairments disclosed here are not a result of an essential deterioration of the
creditworthiness of the issuers and there are no doubts about the interference-free servicing
of the interest payments and redemptions in future, no permanent impairment was to be
assumed on the accounting date.

(4)

Shares and other non-fixed-interest securities

in EUR million

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

51

53

0

0

51

53

of securities contained in this balance sheet item the following are:
marketable
listed
not listed
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The following shares or non-voting shares in domestic investment assets or comparable
foreign investment shares exceed a share ratio of 10 %:
31.12.2021
in EUR million
Bond funds

Book value (BW)

Difference MW-BW

237

omitted
depreciations

Distribution
1

0

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

marketable

3

3

listed

0

0

not listed

3

3

marketable

0

0

listed

0

0

not listed

0

0

(5)

236

Market value (MW)

1

Participating interests and shares in affiliated companies

in EUR million
The following are included the balance sheet item "Participating interests":

The following are included in the balance sheet item "Shares in affiliated companies":

Notes

93 of 147

List of shareholdings according to Section 285 No. 11, 340a (4) No. 2 HGB, including
details in accordance with Section 285 No. 11a HGB

Seri
al
no.

Capital
share
as %

Name/place

Deviati
ng
voting
rights
as %

Equity in
EUR
thousand

Result in
EUR
thousand

Affiliated companies
1.
2.

BSK Immobilien GmbH, Berlin 1) 5)

103

100.00

CidS! Computer in die Schulen gemeinnützige Gesellschaft mbH i.L., Berlin

5)

2) 5)

0

100.00

40

-10
-1,873

3.

Grundstücksgesellschaft Bad Freienwalde/Gardelegen GbR, Berlin

10.15

-52,097

4.

Grundstücksgesellschaft Lehrter Staße GbR, Berlin 5)

99.93

5,558

-29

5.

Grundstücksgesellschaft Weichselstraße GbR - STADT UND LAND-Fonds 1 -,
Berlin 5)

98.74

-73

156

6.

Josef Meyer Immobilien Verwaltungs KG - Alexanderhaus Immobilen-Fonds,
Berlin2) 3) 5)

49.00

-31,426

14,361

7.

Prinzregentenstraße 25 Immobilien Verwaltungs KG - Verwaltungsgebäude
Landesbank Berin Immoblienfonds, Berlin 2) 3) 5)

49.00

-2,316

1,711

8.

S-Kreditpartner GmbH, Berlin3) 5)

66.67

620,599

37,705

100.00

270

0

100.00

133

-10

24.03

13,171

0

0.76

32,101

1,077

3.00

67

4

3.13

1,860,143

15,181

12.00

291,189

15,380

12.00

358

33

3.79

898,649

-1,498

1) 5)

9.

S-Versicherungspartner GmbH, Berlin

10.

Wikendorf Bau- und Projektentwicklngsgesellechaft mbH i.L., Berlin5)

Other companies
11.

BBB Bürgschaftsbank zu Berlin-Brandenburg GmbH, Berlin 5)

12

BÜRGSCHAFTSBANK BRANDENBURG GmbH, Potsdam

13.

Deka Anteibegner GmbH, Neuhardenberg5)

14.

Deka Erwerbsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, Neuhardenberg

15.

Deutsche Factoring Bank GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen

16.

Deutsche Factoring GmbH, Bremen 5)

17.

Deutscher Sparkassen- und Giroverband öK, Berlin

5)

5)

5)

5)
5)

18.

Deutscher Sparkassen Verlag Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Stuttgart

2.70

211,905

8,186

19.

Deutsche Sparkassen Lessing AG & Co. KG, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe 5)

3.86

647,529

24,768

20.

EURO Kartensysteme GmbH, Frankfurt am Main 5)

2.17

12,292

105

5)

21.

Finanz Informatik GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main

22

Finanz Informatik Verwatungsgesebchaft mbH, Frankfurt am Main 5)

85,793

2,565

6.00

105

0

7.85

5)

7.80

12.00

297,458

0

24.

Mittelständische Beteiligungsgesellschaft Berlin-Brandenburg GmbH, Potsdam

5)

15.56

24,155

1,263

25.

NordEK Norddeutsche Einkaufskoordinationsgesellschaft der Berliner Sparkasse
und der Norddeutschen Landesbank Girozentrale, Berlin/Hanover 5)

-

265

13

26.

Partner für Berlin Holding Gesellschaft für Hauptstadt-Marketing mbH, Berlin 5)

27.

RSU Rating Service Unit GmbH & Co. KG, Munich 5)

28.

S CountryDesk GmbH, Cologne 5)

23.

LBS Norddeutsche Landesbausparkasse Berlin-Hannover, Hanover

29.

S Rating und Riskosysteme GmbH, Berlin

30.

Visa Inc., San Francisco 6) 7)

4.12

1,906

27

14.20

9,693

632

2.63

704

140

396

255

0.00

33,188,239

10,869,680

2.50
5)

50.00

2.56
0.01
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Deviati
ng
Equity in
Result in
Name/place
voting
EUR
EUR
rights
thousand
thousand
as %
Participating interests in large corporations [Kapitalgesellschaften] (Section 285 No. 11b HGB in conjunction with Section 340a
Para. 4 No. 2 HGB)
Seri
al
no.

31.

Capital
share
as %

SCHUFA Holding AG, Wiesbaden 5)

133,624

5.10

45,063

1)

The company has a profit transfer and/or controlling agreement.

2)

Further shares in the company are held in the group, therefore it is disclosed as an affiliated company pursuant to Section 271 Para. 2
HGB.

3)

Subsidiaries, but no control despite majority of the capital and voting rights owing to a deviating regulation in the statutes with regard to
higher majority requirements and/or legal restriction of the exercise of voting rights

4)

Data as at 30 September 2020 is available (deviating reporting date).

5)

Data as at 31 December 2020 is available.

6)
7)

Data as at 30 September 2021 is available (deviating reporting date).

Conversion as at 31 December 2021: EUR 1 = USD 1.1328

(6)

Intangible assets and tangible assets

Intangible assets
The research and development costs amount to EUR 1.9 million in the financial year
(previous year: EUR 5.4 million), thereof EUR 1.9 million (previous year: EUR 1.0 million)
relate to acquired intangible assets of the fixed assets.
Tangible assets

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Properties and buildings used within the framework of the own activity

22

22

Office and furniture equipment

46

51

in EUR million
The following are included in this balance sheet item:
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Development of the intangible assets and tangible assets

a) self-created
industrial
property rights
and similar
rights and
values

EUR million

b)
concessions
acquired
against
payment,
industrial
property rights
and similar
rights and
values as well
as licences to
such rights
and values

c) advance
payments
made

Intangible
assets total

Tangible
assets

Book value as at 31.12.2020

26

27

0

53

74

Acquisition/manufacturing costs as at 31.12.2020

35

181

0

216

240

Additions 2021

0

13

0

13

4

thereof capitalised interest for external capital

0

0

0

0

0

Disposals 2021

1

97

0

98

13

-1

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

33

98

0

131

231

Re-bookings 2021
Effects from changes in exchange rates
Acquisition/manufacturing costs as at 31.12.2021
Cumulative depreciation as at 31/12/2020

9

154

0

163

166

Depreciation in 2021 1)

7

7

0

14

9

Reversals of impairment losses 2021

0

0

0

0

0

Change in total depreciation in conjunction with
accruals

0

0

0

0

0

Change in total depreciation in conjunction with
disposals

1

97

0

98

12

Change in total depreciation in conjunction with rebookings

0

0

0

0

0

Cumulative depreciation as at 31.12.2021

15

54

:

79

163

Book value as at 31.12.2021

18

34

0

52

68

1)

Depreciation according to Section 253 Para. 3 Sentence 5 HGB in the amount of EUR 0.1 million (prev. yr.: EUR 0.2 million) was carried out
in the current year.

(7)

Other assets
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Loans and advances from collateral

238

578

Loans and advances from option transactions, futures and swaps

201

242

in EUR million

Trade receivables

10

9

Other

53

34

Total

502

863

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

6

7

16

11

4

5

(8)

Prepaid expenses

in EUR million
The following are included in this balance sheet item:
Difference between nominal and disbursement amount of loans and advances
Difference between nominal and disbursement amount of securities
Difference between issue and repayment amount of liabilities
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Details relating to several asset items
(9)

Development of the financial assets
Debentures and
other fixedinterest securities

Shares and other
non-fixed-interest
securities

Participating
interests

Shares in affiliated
companies

in EUR million
Book value as at 31.12.2020 1)

3,207

235

156

410

Acquisition/manufacturing costs as at
31.12.2020 1)

3,207

260

214

434

Additions 2021

572

0

1

27

Disposals 2021

1,142

11

0

2

Re-bookings 2021

0

0

0

0

Effects from changes in exchange rates

0

0

0

0

2,637

249

215

459

0

25

58

24

Depreciation in 2021

0

3

0

0

Reversals of impairment losses 2021

0

3

0

0

Change in total depreciation in conjunction with
accruals

0

0

0

0

Change in total depreciation in conjunction with
disposals

0

11

0

0

Change in total depreciation in conjunction with
re-bookings

0

0

0

0

0

14

58

24

2,637

235

157

435

Acquisition/manufacturing costs as at
31.12.2021 1)
Cumulative depreciation as at 31.12.2020

Cumulative depreciation as at 31.12.2021
Book value as at 31.12.2021
1)

1)

Pro rata interest is not included. This amounts to EUR 3.4 million in 2021 (previous year: EUR 6.8 million).

LBB/BSK has contributed EUR 25.1 million (previous year: EUR 29.0 million) to free capital
reserves in connection with its interest in S-Kreditpartner GmbH.
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Liabilities
(10) Liabilities to banks
in EUR million

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Maturity breakdown (residual term)
up to three months

9,135

1,125

more than three months up to one year

106

6,994

more than one year up to five years

475

508

more than five years

748

735

10,464

9,062

1,059

585

3

11

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

up to three months

2

3

more than three months up to one year

3

3

more than one year up to five years

3

4

more than five years

0

0

8

10

29,386

25,956

10

26

Total
The following are included in this balance sheet item:
Liabilities to affiliated companies
Liabilities to companies with which an investment relationship exists

(11) Liabilities to customers
in EUR million
Maturity breakdown (residual term) Savings deposits with agreed period of notice of more
than 3 months

Total
Maturity breakdown (residual term) Liabilities to customers without savings accounts
up to three months
more than three months up to one year
more than one year up to five years
more than five years
Total

30

25

424

402

29,850

26,409

91

122

7

8

The following are included in this balance sheet item:
Liabilities to affiliated companies
Liabilities to companies with which an investment relationship exists
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(12) Securitised debt
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

0

62

97

399

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Liabilities from collateral

272

375

Liabilities from option transactions, futures and swaps

191

229

6

5

in EUR million
The following are included in this balance sheet item:
Liabilities to affiliated companies
issued debentures due in the following year

(13) Other liabilities
in EUR million

Liabilities from deliveries and other services
Liabilities due to tax authorities

1

2

Other

87

146

Total

557

757

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

3

3

(14) Deferred income
in EUR million

The following are included in this balance sheet item:
Difference between nominal and disbursement amount of loans and advances

(15) Provisions
Development of the pension provisions:
31.12.2020

Consumptio
n

Provisions for pensions and
similar obligations

1,353

1,335

0

0

Total

1,353

1,335

0

0

in EUR million

1)

Rebooking 1)

Reversal

Compoundi
ng

31.12.2021

109

26

153

109

26

153

Transfer

The "Rebooking" column contains changes in provisions with no effect on income.

The spin-off of significant parts of the pension obligations to a non-insurance pension fund
led to a reduction in provisions for pension obligations of EUR 1,293.8 million as at
31 October 2021 in the year under review.
LBB/BSK continues to have subsidiary liability for the obligations according to Section 1
Para. 1 Sentence 3 BetrAVG (German Occupational Pensions Act).
In the event of a change in the implementation method, full funding of the pension fund in
relation to the necessary settlement amount of the pension obligations in question was
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required pursuant to Section 340a Para. 1 in conjunction with Section 253 Para. 1
Sentence 2, Para.2 HGB. The necessary settlement amount of the transferred pension
obligations was covered by the assets available in the pension fund.
For the determination of any underfunding of the pension fund to be disclosed pursuant to
Article 28 Para. 2 EGHGB, the provision value under commercial law of the pension
obligations concerned (necessary settlement amount pursuant to Section 340a Para. 1 in
conjunction with Section 253 Para. 1 Sentence 2, Para. 2 HGB) is compared with the fair
value of the pension fund assets. On the balance sheet date, there was a shortfall of EUR
9.7 million in the pension fund, for which no provision was recognised as a liability in
accordance with Article 28 Para. 1 Sentence 2 EGHGB.
The discounting of provisions for pensions at the average market interest rate of the past
ten financial years compared to the discounting at the average market interest rate of the
past seven financial years results in a difference of EUR 12.5 million (prev. yr.: EUR
185.3 million).
Development of tax provisions and other provisions:
31.12.2020

in EUR million
Tax provisions

Consumptio
n

Rebooking 1)

Reversal

Compoundi
ng

Transfer

31.12.2021

2

0

0

0

0

0

2

109

15

2

0

0

1

93

Personnel division

69

22

1

-3

28

0

71

Deliveries and services

38

30

7

1

29

0

31

9

0

3

0

0

0

6

Other

112

10

25

0

64

1

142

Total other provisions

337

77

38

•2

121

2

343

Restructuring

Loan business

1)

The "Rebooking" column contains changes in provisions with no effect on income.

The restructuring provisions include provisions for rented properties that are no longer used
for internal purposes, consisting of rent differences in the event of subletting and vacancies
in

the

amount

of

EUR

68.3 million

(previous

year: EUR

83.3 million)

and

renovation/restoration obligations at the end of the tenancy agreement/subletting in the
amount of EUR 17.8 million (previous year: EUR 18.5 million), for the reduction in staff in
the amount of EUR 0.3 million (previous year: EUR 0.2 million) and the restoration of IT in
the amount of EUR 6.3 million (previous year: EUR 6.9 million).
The other personnel provisions include provisions for payment arrears from semi-retirement
agreements. For protection in accordance with Section 8a (1) Sentence 1 of the SemiRetirement Act [Altersteilzeitgesetz - ATG], the bank acquires shares in investment funds
(acquisition costs as at 31 December 2021: EUR 34.3 million (previous year: EUR
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30.8 million)). The assets are used solely to fulfil obligations from semi-retirement
agreements and are protected against access by other creditors up to an amount equal to
the credit balance requiring protection. In accordance with Section 246 Para. 2 Sentence 2
HGB, they were used to settle the underlying obligations in this financial year, as follows:
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Reserves, not balanced: Settlement amount from semi-retirement agreements
(including employer’s social security contributions, future salary increases and
salary claims beyond 6 weeks of illness)

41

37

less fair value of investment fund shares (plan assets)

34

31

7

6

in EUR million

Reserves, balanced

The other provisions include additional provisions related to the loan business in the amount
of EUR 92.5 million (previous year: EUR 51.7 million). They include other reserves for
vacancies in the sum of EUR 9.4 million (previous year: EUR 5.1 million) and
renovation/restoration obligations in the sum of EUR 11.7 million (previous year: EUR 9.8
million) in connection with relocations as well as provisions for legal risks in the personnel
area in the amount of EUR 7.0 million (previous year: EUR 0.0 million).

(16) Subordinate liabilities
There is no obligation to repay the subordinate liabilities early at the request of the creditors.
In the event of liquidation, they may only be repaid after all preferential creditors’ claims
have been satisfied.
The subordinate liabilities are due to repaid at the end of 2039 (of which EUR 0.0 million
due in 2022). The original terms are between 10 and 30 years.
The subordinated liabilities do not include any liabilities to affiliated companies (previous
year: EUR 119.5 million). As in the previous year, there were no subordinate liabilities owed
to associated companies.
The interest expenditure for subordinate liabilities amounts to EUR 5.1 million (previous
year: EUR 5.7 million) by taking income from swap transactions into consideration in the
amount of EUR 5.9 million (previous year: EUR 5.8 million).
The pre-requisites for the attribution to the equity under supervisory law have been fulfilled
for a portfolio in the amount of EUR 298.0 million (previous year: EUR 323.4 million).
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The following subordinate liabilities exceed 10 % of the total amount:
31.12.2021
ser. no.

Nominal values in millions of
currency

Nominal values in EUR million

Interest rate in %

Maturity

(1)

EUR

200

200

1.7500

01.10.2029

(2)

JPY

15,000

115

5.1500

30.04.2027

(17) Equity
According to Section 3 of the statutes of LBB the share capital amounted to EUR 1,200.0
million as at 31 December 2021 and is divided into 1,200,000,000 no par value bearer
shares. In addition there is a capital reserve in the amount of EUR 920.0 million (previous
year: EUR 920.0 million) and retained earnings in the amount of EUR 41.2 million (previous
year: EUR 41.2 million).
The retained earnings are blocked from distribution in the amount of the residual book value
of the capitalised, self-created intangible assets of EUR 18.3 million (previous year: EUR
25.7 million).
The Return-on-Equity is 10.1% (previous year: 1.8%).
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Further details regarding the balance sheet
(18) Trust assets and trust liabilities
The reported fiduciary transactions concern receivables from customers in the amount of
EUR 227.7 million (previous year: EUR 183.2 million) as well as liabilities due to credit
institutions in the sum of EUR 223.5 million (previous year: EUR 174.1 million) as well
liabilities due to customers in the sum of EUR 4.2 million (previous year: EUR 16.8 million).
The portfolio of debentures and other fixed-interest securities has reached final maturity
(previous year: EUR 7.7 million).

(19) Assets assigned as collateral
Nominal value
in EUR million

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Bonds and debentures

6,894

6,974

Loan receivables

2,380

2,127

31

23

119

180

33

33

9,457

9,337

pledged at the ESCB

Account balances
deposited at Eurex
Bonds and debentures
Provision of collateral for domestic banks as a rule of repos and lending transactions
Bonds and debentures
Total

Out of the total amount of EUR 9,456.5 million (previous year: EUR 9,337.2 million), an
amount of EUR 9,172.9 million (previous year: EUR 7,572.8 million) to secure liabilities to
credit institutions. The bank's participation in the TLTRO III programme has a significant
influence on the assets transferred as collateral.
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Income statement
(20) Interest surplus
in EUR million
Interest income

2021

2020

653

731

from lending and money market business

670

744

from fixed-interest securities and debt register claims

-17

-13

38

41

1

2

Regular income
from shares and other non-fixed-interest securities
from participating interests
from affiliated companies
Income from profit pooling
Interest expenses
for deposits
for securitised debts
for subordinate liabilities
Total

7

6

30

33

0

1

-81

6

-102

-19

16

19

5

6

772

767

The interest surplus includes negative aperiodic interest expenses in the amount of EUR 7.9 million (previous year: EUR 0.0 million). This relates to interest for TLTRO III liabilities
with a negative interest rate, which concern the previous year. The aperiodic interest income
amounts to EUR 0.1 million (previous year: EUR 0.3 million). In addition, compensation
payments from interest-related valuation changes of derivatives in connection with the IBOR
reform totalling EUR -0.1 million (previous year: EUR 1.2 million) were recognised in interest
surplus.

(21) Commission surplus
2021

2020

55

45

127

126

32

32

21

22

Guarantee commission

6

6

International transactions

5

4

Card transactions

11

10

Other service business

23

20

248

233

in EUR million
Securities and issue transactions
Payment transactions /account management
Loan business
Loan business

Total
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The essential services provided to third parties for management and brokerage relate to the
brokerage of products of alliance partners (loans, insurances, asset management and
building savings contracts).
As in the previous year, commission surplus does not include any expenses or income from
other periods.

(22) Other administrative expenses
2021

2020

200

205

Business premises

92

93

IT expenses

90

88

Other material costs

31

27

Advertising costs

15

20

Expenses from bank levy

13

13

in EUR million
Third-party services 1)

Office equipment
Total
1)

6

6

447

452

contains EUR 95.0 million (previous year: EUR 89.8 million) of group cost allocations

The total fee calculated by the auditor can be found in the line "Third-party services" and is
divided up as follows:
2021

2020

1,388

1,303

for other assurance services

408

394

for tax consultancy services

0

0

94

48

1,890

1,745

In EUR thousand
Auditor’s fee
for audit services

for other services
Total

The other assurance services predominantly relate to statutory audits (including audits in
accordance with Section 89 of the German Securities Trading Act [Gesetz über den
Wertpapierhandel - WpHG] or the separate non-financial report in accordance with
Section 289b and c HGB (Limited Assurance)) or audits required by the Bank's statutes or
supervisory regulations, audits in connection with the ECB's TLTRO programme and audits
to which LBB/BSK is contractually obliged as part of the co-branding credit card business,
and as other services in particular advisory services relating to labour law.
As was the case the previous year, no reversals were performed during the reporting year
arising from the accruals and deferrals for the financial statements as at 31 December 2020.
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(23) Other operating income
Different effects had an impact on the balance of other operating expenses and income.
Expenses resulted primarily from the compounding of non-bank-specific provisions of EUR
28.2 million (previous year: EUR 36.1 million) and non-periodic interest income in the
amount of EUR 46.5 million (previous year: EUR 2.3 million). This was offset, among others,
by income from group cost allocation totalling EUR 24.1 million (previous year: EUR 16.7
million) and income from the reversal of provisions of EUR 29.6 million (previous year: EUR
12.8 million).
Currency translation resulted in net income of EUR 0.8 million (previous year: expense of
EUR 0.8 million).

(24) Risk provisions
in EUR million

2021

2020

Risk provision in the loan business

-104

124

-1

8

-105

132

Result from securities of the liquidity reserve
Total

The assessment of the risk provisions in the loan business is in particular determined by
expectations with regard to future loan defaults, the structure and quality of the loan
portfolios as well as macroeconomic factors of influence. Individual value adjustments and
provisions were formed in the amount of the expected defaults for all recognisable risks in
the domestic and foreign loan business. Individual value adjustments are reversed as soon
as the value of the receivable is increased accordingly, because either the measurement of
the collateral valuation and/or the creditworthiness of the borrower have improved
fundamentally and in the long-term.
A general value adjustment is made for the loan portfolio for which no specific loan loss
provision is required. The general value adjustment is determined based on a portfolio
approach by including the parameters of default probability, collateral items as well as
revenue and contribution ratios. In order to adequately reflect existing latent default risks in
the lending business in connection with the Corona pandemic, there is an additional general
loan loss provision for latent risks in the loan portfolio of EUR 75 million (previous year: EUR
75 million), which was determined on the basis of simulated changes in the relevant
parameters (probability of default and loss given default).
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The risk provisions for the loan business developed as follows:
Address risk
in EUR million

Direct writedowns
2021

Individual value
adjustment
2020

Total

General value
adjustment

Country risk
credit business

Provisions credit
business

Portfolio

Profit and loss

2021

2020

2021

2020

2021

2020

2021

2020

2021

2020

373

370

137

66

9

9

4

5

523

450

As at 01.01.

2021

2020

111

Transfers

0

0

49

35

1

75

0

1

0

0

50

111

50

Drawdowns

0

0

24

21

0

0

0

0

0

0

24

21

0

0

Reversals

0

0

180

11

1

4

3

1

1

1

185

17

185

17

31

31

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

31

31

Incoming payments
on depreciated loans
and advances

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

Re-bookings

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Direct writedowns

Changes in
exchange rates

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

As at 31.12. 1)

31

30

218

373

137

137

6

9

3

4

364

523

-104

124

1)

of which determined individual value adjustments EUR 97.8 million (previous year: EUR 87.2 million), general individual value adjustment EUR 119.2 million
(previous year: EUR 285.4 million)

The volume of risk provisions relates to:

in EUR million

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

10

12

Receivables from credit institutions
Receivables from customers

348

502

Debentures and other fixed-interest securities

0

0

Provisions

6

9

364

523

Total

(25) Extraordinary expenses and income
Extraordinary expenses and income were not recorded in the closed financial year.

(26) Income tax expenses Income from deferred taxes
Owing to the fiscal entity with LBBH the domestic results are taxed at this company.
Deferred taxes, which relate to temporary differences of LBB/BSK, are also disclosed at the
controlling company LBBH.

(27) Breakdown of the sales revenues according to areas of activity
in EUR million

Private
customers

Direct bank
service

Corporate
customers

Commercial
real estate
financing

Treasury

Other

Total

Interest surplus

121

176

115

151

151

58

772

Commission surplus

213

-10

47

17

1

-20

248

Notes

107 of 147

Other disclosures
(28) Off-balance sheet business/liability relationships and other financial
obligations
LBB/BSK is a member of the Deposit Reserve of the Landesbanken and Girozentralen and
therefore also in the protection scheme of the Sparkasse Financial Group that is recognised
as an institution protection scheme. The target volume of the financial funds that are to be
kept in reserve in the protection scheme that is to be calculated annually and is to be
generated by the member institutions by 3 July 2024 (fill-up phase). The annual contribution
which is necessary for this purpose will be determined by the German Savings Bank
Association (DSGV) as responsible body of the protection scheme. Part of the previous
contributions was made in the form of an irrevocable payment obligation within the meaning
of Section 285 No. 3a HGB. As at the balance sheet date, this amounted to EUR 31.4 million
(previous year: EUR 23.1 million). The claims from a cash account at the Deutsche
Bundesbank were pledged as collateral for this purpose. In addition, in the event of a
compensation or support case, immediate special or additional contributions can be
charged, the amount of which is not foreseeable from today’s perspective.
S-Kreditpartner GmbH has been linked to the Deposit Reserve of the Landesbanken and
Girozentralen since 1 January 2019. In accordance with the declaration dated 18 December
2018, LBB/BSK undertakes, with effect from the date of affiliation, to reimburse Deutscher
Sparkassen- und Giroverband e.V. (German Savings Bank Association) as the responsible
body for the Deposit Reserve of the Landesbanken and Girozentralen – and doing so in line
with its stake in S-Kreditpartner GmbH – for up to two-thirds of all expenses, including
interest and interest lost for supporting measures, which cannot be covered by the fund
established for S-Kreditpartner GmbH.
Information on LBB/BSK's obligations from the outsourcing of pension obligations can be
found in the notes on provisions.
Charges totalling EUR 300.5 million will arise in future from rental agreements with
individual terms up to and including 2032 (previous year: EUR 359.7 million).
LBB/BSK is the general tenant of the Alexanderhaus building. Within the framework of the
renovation measures that it commissioned, LBB/BSK exempted the fund as the lessor and
the fund subscribers from the fiscal and other financial losses and disadvantages in
conjunction with the renovation measures and the subletting. The exemptions issued to the
fund subscribers are limited in terms of value to 100% of their compulsory contributions
(EUR 21.1 million; excluding shares held in the Bank’s own portfolio). The exemptions
issued to the fund are not subject to any contractual restriction. At present, there are no
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recognisable or quantifiable financial risks arising from the exemptions. It is not expected at
the present time that LBB/BSK will make an assertion from these exemptions.
Securities lending transactions are used as part of liquidity management measures.
Borrowing is undertaken with the aim of being able to continue using the borrowed securities
as collateral for pension transactions. Lending is undertaken in return for a fee. In doing so,
the borrowed securities are not reported in the balance sheet, but lent securities continue
to be reported in the balance sheet. The risks arising from these transactions exist in the
settlement risk. The latter can be defined as the difference between the market value of the
underlying security and the received and/or provided collateral. On the accounting date,
securities were borrowed to the value of EUR 68.3 million (previous year: EUR 15.8 million);
as in the previous year, no securities were lent.
There is an additional funding obligation for LBB/BSK for the clearing fund with Eurex
Clearing AG, Frankfurt am Main. Should this fund not be sufficient following an enforcement
event in case of the default of another clearing member, the unaffected clearing members
may be subject to the assertion of a claim up to a liability limit of twice the contribution
liability. The liability limit of LBB/BSK on the accounting date is EUR 30.0 million (previous
year: EUR 30.0 million).

(29) Contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments
LBB/BSK has assumed, on behalf of DekaBank, the unconditional and irrevocable
guarantee for the fulfilment of all obligations of DekaBank arising from or in conjunction with
the issues, doing so in favour of the respective holders of partial debentures for the issues.
The contingent liability as at 31 December 2021 in the amount of EUR 6.2 million (previous
year: EUR 11.7 million) is reported in the balance sheet using the respective market value
of the outstanding certificates under the item "Liabilities from guarantees and from warranty
contracts". Due to the specific nature of the certificate business, a higher guarantee amount
may arise as a result of price increases.
LBB/BSK did not issue any letters of comfort during the reporting year. A letter of comfort
in favour of Berlin Hyp AG ended on 31December 2014. This referred to all of the company’s
obligations. The letter of comfort continues to exist for any obligations of Berlin Hyp AG
entered into up until 31 December 2014. As at 31 December 2021, the quantifiable share
of these contingent liabilities amounts to EUR 3.0 billion (previous year: EUR 4.6 billion).
However, a precise quantification of the entire extent of this liability, which also primarily
relates to derivatives, guarantees and provisions not accounted for, cannot be provided with
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a sufficient level of security. LBB/BSK was exempted from any third party claims by way of
an undertaking from LBBH.
The risk of drawdown of the liabilities reported in the balance sheet from guarantees,
indemnity agreements and irrevocable loan commitments is estimated to be low as a result
of the current creditworthiness and existing payment history of the borrowers. There is no
obvious evidence that would make another assessment necessary.

(30) Pension transactions
Bonds and debentures were sold under repurchase agreements in the nominal value of
EUR 2.0 million (previous year: EUR 10.0 million).

(31) Valuation units
Underlying transactions were included in the valuation units and hedged against the
following risks using the following amounts:
Underlying
transaction
Interest
change risk

Currency risk

Nominal value
in EUR million
Assets
Debts
Pending transactions

Underlying
transaction

Hedging transaction

Share risk

Credit risk

31.12.2021
6,305

X

115

X

3,714

X

31.12.2020
6,448

X

430
3,957

this includes nominal values of derivatives from hedging transactions: EUR 9,607.8 million (previous year: EUR 10,289.9 million)

The hedged risks amounted to EUR 26.3 million for assets (previous year: EUR 157.3
million), EUR 1.4 million for debts (previous year: EUR 25.0 million) and EUR 88.4 million
for pending transactions (previous year: EUR 143.3 million). The hedged risk corresponds
to the changes in the value (change in Hedged Fair Value) of the underlying transactions
that are fully offset in the valuation unit by way of hedging instruments. The decrease in
value changes compared to the previous year is primarily due to interest rate developments
and reflects a rebound in medium and long-term interest rates.

(32) Derivative financial instruments not measured at fair value

Categories of derivative transactions as
at 31.12.2021
in EUR million
Interest derivatives

Residual term
<= 1 year
3,755

up to 5 years
7,088

Nominal
amount Total

Replacement
costs
positive

Replacement
costs
negative

19,392

824

706

> 5 years
8,549

Notes

Interest rate swaps
Caps, Floors
Currency derivatives
Currency futures
Cross-Currency-Swaps
Credit derivatives
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3,754

7,028

8,549

19,331

824

706

1

60

0

61

0

0

182

0

0

182

0

0

175

0

0

175

0

0

7

0

0

7

0

0

0

5

0

5

0

0

3,937

7,093

8,549

19,579

824

706

Book values
on the
assets side

Book values
on the
liabilities
side

86

160

86

160

0

0

Currency derivatives

0

1

Currency futures

0

Cross-Currency-Swaps

Total

Categories of derivative transactions as
at 31.12.2021
in EUR million
Interest derivatives
Interest rate swaps
Caps, Floors

Credit derivatives
Total

Balance sheet item on the
assets side

Balance sheet item on the
liabilities side

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses

Miscellaneous Assets

Miscellaneous Liabilities

1

Miscellaneous Assets

Miscellaneous Liabilities

0

0

-

Prepaid expenses

0

0

Prepaid expenses

Provisions

86

161

The derivatives are used predominantly to manage interest change risks in the banking
book. They are predominantly managed via interest rate swaps. From a methodical
perspective, this management is subject to the Capital-at-Risk procedure based on a
holding period of ten (10) trading days and a confidence level of 99%.
The specified market values (replacement costs) indicate the fair value which would be
achieved or would have to be paid as a result of the sale or closing out (market value
including accrued interest); transaction costs are not included.
In LBB/BSK, the derivatives stated in the banking book are primarily part of banking book
management. They are therefore subject to a loss-free valuation in accordance with IDW
RS BFA 3 together with other financial instruments in the banking book.
Derivatives in the banking book that are not subject to banking book management are
subject to individual valuation in accordance with the recognition-of-loss principle. In the
case of negative market values, corresponding provisions must be formed for impending
losses arising from pending transactions within the meaning of Section 249 HGB. There
were provisions for impending losses within LBB/BSK as at 31 December 2021 in the
amount of EUR 0.0 million (previous year: EUR 0.0 million).
With upfront payments, any non-standard market terms and conditions, regarded from a
financial perspective as a discount or premium, are offset upon conclusion of a derivative.
They are recorded in the balance sheet as deferred income and/or prepaid expenses. The
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deferred income accounted for as at 31 December 2021 includes the fair value of existing
banking book derivatives reclassified as a result of the relinquishing of the trading book
status as at 1 January 2016, which are handled in the same way as upfront payments.
Default risks based on creditworthiness are typically countered by the conclusion of
collateral agreements. The resulting collateral provisions must be recognised as "Other
assets" and/or "Other liabilities".

Counterparty structure in the derivative business according to credit risk equivalents
(risk-weighted)
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Receivable class Institution

11

16

Receivable class Company

15

17

0

0

26

33

in EUR million

Receivable class Bulk business
Total

The stated credit risk equivalents were determined for 2020 according to the market
valuation method, as stipulated for the report on own funds and own funds requirements.
For 2021, the credit risk equivalents result according to the standard approach for
counterparty default risk after the CRR adjustment. They are listed in a manner weighted
according to counterparty risk, whereby counterparty netting is taken into account.
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(33) Portfolios in foreign currency
in EUR million
Assets
Liabilities

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

63

22

237

414
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(34) Remuneration paid to the Management Board and the Supervisory Board
as well as loans granted to this group of persons
There were no changes to the service contracts in the 2021 financial year. Beginning with
the 2019 financial year, the payment of non-pensionable salary components for all members
of the Management Board was paid in standard monthly instalments.
In its meeting held on 29 March 2021, the Supervisory Board of LBB/BSK intensively
discussed the variable performance-related remuneration of the Management Board and
made a decision based on the applicable provisions for the respective years. For the 2020
financial year, the Supervisory Board set an on-target bonus in the amount of EUR 0
thousand based on a recommendation by the Human Resources and strategy committee.
For the financial years 2016 to 2018, the Supervisory Board also conducted a review of the
retention bonus instalments for Dr Evers and Mr Kulartz, which are subject to a sustainability
review. Each half of the retention bonus instalments pending payment in the total sum of
EUR 62.1 thousand was granted in full and paid out.
In terms of the preceding financial years, no target bonuses were defined and/or no
sustainability audits were performed.
The composition of the Supervisory Board of LBB/BSK has changed as follows in
comparison to 31 December 2020:


Dr. Ulrich Netzer resigned from his mandate as at 31 December 2020 and Mr Marcel
Philipp exited the Supervisory Board as at 12 May 2021.



Professor Dr. Ulrich Reuter joined the Supervisory Board on 1 January 2021 and Mr
Burkhard Jung was elected to the Supervisory Board by the Annual General Meeting on
12 May 2021.

The following remuneration was paid to the members of the Management Board and
Supervisory Board of LBB/BSK during the reporting period:
in EUR thousand

2021

2020

Total remuneration of the Management Board

3,012

3,012

(62)

(73)

(of which performance-related variable remuneration)
Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board 1)
Transfer to pension obligations with respect to active Management Board members
paid to former Management Board members or their survivors

2)

1)

excluding VAT

2)

included therein for previous years EUR 0 thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand) €)

323

323

2,251

2,514

7,851

7,919
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The following provisions for pension obligations were made for active and former Executive
Board members or their surviving dependents. In addition, please refer to the introductory
remarks on accounting and valuation methods regarding provisions:
in EUR thousand
deferred for pension obligations with respect to active Management
Board members
deferred for pension obligations to former Management Board
members or their survivors
1)

31.12.2021 1)

31.12.2020

1,228

18,194

13,619

110,340

In 2021, pension obligations were transferred to a non-insurance pension fund; for active Executive Board members as at 31 December
2020 and for former Executive Board members and their surviving dependents as at 31 October 2021.

Third party benefits were not promised to individual Management Board members with
regard to their activity or granted in the financial year.
There are no remuneration components with a long-term incentivising effect (subscription
rights, other share-based remuneration elements) for the Management Board members.
The total amount, on the accounting date, of the granted advance payments and loans as
well as the contingent liabilities is illustrated as follows:
in EUR thousand
to members of the Management Board
to members of the Supervisory Board

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

6

5

449

457

The balances include annuity loans that were granted subject to standard customer market
conditions, as well as utilised overdraft facilities subject to staff terms and conditions and
accounting balances on credit card accounts. The reduction in relation to members of the
Supervisory Board is due to lower credit card balances as of the effective date.
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Remuneration paid to members of the Management Board for the 2021 financial year:
Other
remuneration 1)

Annual remuneration
in EUR thousand

Performanceunrelated
remuneration
Members of the Management
Board
Dr Johannes Evers
thereof non-pensionable
Michael Jänichen
thereof non-pensionable
Hans Jürgen Kulartz
thereof non-pensionable
Tanja Müller-Ziegler

905

Total

Performancerelated
remuneration for
the financial year
2020

Performancerelated
remuneration for
the financial
years 2016 to
2018

0

40

12

957

0

0

36

628

0

22

29

775

(375)
592
(412)
724
(311)
643

thereof non-pensionable

(263)

0

0

9

652

Total remuneration for 2021

2,864

0

62

86

3,012

1)

Other remuneration includes benefits in kind (use of company car) totalling EUR 76 thousand as well as the so-called employer’s net remuneration contribution
(employer's assumption of tax payments on the benefit in kind) in the amount of EUR 10 thousand; in addition to this, drivers are also employed subject to standard
collective wage agreements.

Remuneration paid to members of the Management Board for the 2020 financial year:
Other
remuneration 1)

Annual remuneration
in EUR thousand

Performanceunrelated
remuneration
Members of the Management
Board
O. Johannes Evers
thereof non-pensionable
Michael Jänichen
thereof non-pensionable
Hans Jürgen Kulartz
thereof non-pensionable
Tanja Müller-Ziegler

905

Performancerelated
remuneration for
the financial year
2020

Performancerelated
remuneration for
the financial
years 2016 to
2018

0

51

27

983

0

0

36

628

0

22

31

777

0

0

11

624

0

73

105

3,012

(375)
592
(412)
724
(311)
613

thereof non-pensionable

(233)

Total remuneration for 2020

2,834

1)

Total

Other remuneration includes benefits in kind (use of company car) totalling EUR 93 thousand as well as the so-called employer’s net remuneration contribution
(employer's assumption of tax payments on the benefit in kind) in the amount of EUR 12 thousand; in addition to this, drivers are also employed subject to standard
collective wage agreements.
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The following benefits for active Management Board members were paid out or put aside:
in EUR thousand

Expense / transfer zto
provisions in 2021

Expense/transfer to
provisions in 2020

Members of the Management
Board
Dr. Johannes Evers 1)

1,273

Pension provision
recognised in the
balance sheet /
present value of the
pension claim as at
31.12.2021"

1,156

393

Pension provision
recognised in the
balance sheet /
present value of the
pension claim as at
31.12.2020

8,678

Michael Jänichen

141

92

310

169

Hans Jürgen Kutertz 1)

430

1,017

149

8,317

Tanja Müller-Ziegler 1)
Total
1)

407

249

376

1,030

2,251

2,514

1,228

18,194

As at 31 October 2021, the pension obligations earned up to 31 December 2020 were transferred to a non-insurance pension fund.

(35) Number of employees on average for the year
2021

2020

Full time employed

2,388

2,477

Part time employed

1,086

1,063

Total

3,474

3,540
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(36) Statement of coverage assets
Details in accordance with Section 28 Para. 1 No. 1 German Pfandbrief Act
[Pfandbriefgesetz - PfandBG]:
Nominal value

Mortgage register

Public register

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Nominal value coverage assets

5,809,760

5,609,436

708,145

703,849

Nominal value Pfandbriefe outstanding

3,298,000

3,475,000

260,000

268,000

Nominal amount coverage

2,511,760

2,134,436

448,145

435,849

Present value coverage assets

6,339,923

6,363,573

734,522

749,151

Present value Pfandbriefe outstanding

3,419,302

3,707,142

261,920

275,024

Present value coverage

2,920,621

2,656,431

472,602

474,127

Risk-adjusted present value coverage assets

5,957,200

5,975,010

697,940

716,696

Risk-adjusted present value circulation

3,252,521

3,520,274

253,025

283,351

Risk-adjusted present value coverage

2,704,679

2,454,736

444,915

453,345

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

0

0

0

0

Share of fixed-interest coverage assets
(in %)

89.44

86.22

100.00

100.00

Share of fixed-interest circulation (in %)

95.60

95.83

100.00

100.00

Net present value of coverage assets in foreign
currencies (in EUR thousand)

0

0

0

0

Net present value of circulation in foreign
currencies
(in EUR thousand)

0

0

0

0

4.41

4.04

0.00

0.00

54.90

54.92

0.00

0.00

in EUR thousand

Supplementary information

Receivables without preferential right in insolvency
(nominal in EUR thousand)

Age of mortgage loans weighted by volume (in
years)
Mortgage lending value of mortgage loans (in %)

Mortgage register

Public register
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Details pursuant to Section 28 Para. 1 No. 2 PfandBG:
Maturity structure mortgage register
Fixed-interest periods of loans
in EUR thousand

Coverage assets

Share %

Coverage assets

31.12.2021

Share %

31.12.2020

Substitute cover

230,988

3.98

260,000

4.64

up to six months

620,180

10.67

859,672

15.33

> 6 months and up to 12 months

53,084

0.91

58,362

1.04

> 12 months and up to 18 months

265,992

4.58

58,315

1.04

89,143

1.53

86,768

1.55

> 2 years and up to 3 years

361,705

6.23

434,652

7.75

> 3 years and up to 4 years

364,906

6.28

365,077

6.51

> 18 months and up to 2 years

> 4 years and up to 5 years

643,932

11.08

434,075

7.74

> 5 years and up to 10 years

1,797,548

30.94

1,886,825

33.64

> 10 years

1,382,282

23.79

1,165,692

20.78

Total

5,809,760

100.00

5,609,436

100.00

Maturity structure of Pfandbriefe
in EUR thousand
up to six months

Pfandbriefe
outstanding

Pfandbriefe
outstanding

Share %

31.12.2021

Share %

31.12.2020

50,000

1.52

30,000

0.86

> 6 months and up to 12 months

50,000

1.52

397,000

11.42

> 12 months and up to 18 months

297,000

9.01

50,000

1.44

> 18 months and up to 2 years

367,000

11.13

50,000

1.44

> 2 years and up to 3 years

390,000

11.83

664,000

19.11

> 3 years and up to 4 years

265,000

8.04

390,000

11.22

> 4 years and up to 5 years

555,000

16.83

265,000

7.63

1,019,000

30.90

1,268,000

36.49

305,000

9.25

361,000

10.39

3,298,000

100.00

3,475,000

100.00

> 5 years and up to 10 years
> 10 years
Total
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Maturity structure public register
Fixed-interest periods of loans
in EUR thousand

Coverage assets

Share %

Coverage assets

31.12.2021

Share %

31.12.2020

Substitute cover

0

0.00

0

0.00

up to six months

3,800

0.54

115,000

16.34

53,000

7.48

25,000

3.55

258

0.04

11,400

1.62

> 6 months and up to 12 months
> 12 months and up to 18 months
> 18 months and up to 2 years

55,029

7.77

6,000

0.85

> 2 years and up to 3 years

82,691

11.68

61,573

8.75

> 3 years and up to 4 years

581

0.08

82,904

11.78

> 4 years and up to 5 years

56,250

7.94

728

0.10

> 5 years and up to 10 years

456,536

64.47

401,243

57.01

> 10 years
Total

Maturity structure of Pfandbriefe
in EUR thousand

0

0.00

0

0.00

708,145

100.00

703,849

100.00

Pfandbriefe
outstanding

Pfandbriefe
outstanding

Share %

31.12.2021

Share %

31.12.2020

up to six months

0

0.00

8,000

2.99

> 6 months and up to 12 months

0

0.00

0

0.00

> 12 months and up to 18 months

0

0.00

0

0.00

10,000

3.85

0

0.00

> 2 years and up to 3 years

0

0.00

10,000

3.73

> 3 years and up to 4 years

250,000

96.15

0

0.00

> 4 years and up to 5 years

0

0.00

250,000

93.28

> 5 years and up to 10 years

0

0.00

0

0.00

> 10 years

0

0.00

0

0.00

260,000

100.00

268,000

100.00

> 18 months and up to 2 years

Total

Details pursuant to Section 28 Para. 1 No. 2 PfandBG:
There are no derivatives that would constitute a share of the coverage assets in accordance
with Section 19 (1) No. 4 Sentence 3 PfandBG.
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Details in accordance with Section 28 (1) Nos 4/5/6 PfandBG:
Other coverage assets by state
Mortgage register
Debtors (direct or with guarantee}
in EUR thousand

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Belgium

15,000

15,000

Germany

215,988

245,000

Total

230,988

260,000

All other coverage assets are debentures according to Section 19 (1) No. 3 PfandBG.

Public register
Debtors (direct or with guarantee)
in EUR thousand

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Germany

0

0

Total

0

0

The public register does not contain any other coverage assets according to Section 20 (2)
PfandBG.
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Details in accordance with Section 4 (1a) PfandBG:
Liquidity coverage

31.12.2021

in EUR thousand
Mortgage bond
Excess liquidity cover 180-Day-Min.

342,259

Liquidity coverage on 14.01.2022

348,408

Cumulative liquidity balance on 14/01/2022

-4,149

public Pfandbriefe
Excess liquidity cover 180-Day-Min.

549,675

Liquidity coverage on 03/01/2022

549,675

Cumulative liquidity balance on 03/01/2022

0

Details in accordance with Section 28 (2) No. 1a PfandBG:
Mortgage register
Sizes
in EUR thousand
up to EUR 300,000
more than EUR 300,000 up to EUR 1,000,000

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

651,731

555,908

331,157

299 300

more than EUR 1,000,000 up to EUR 10,000,000

1,242,767

1,184,344

more than EUR 10,000,000

3,353,117

3,309,884

Total

5,578,772

5,349,436
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Details in accordance with Section 28 Para. 2 No. 1b and c PfandBG:
Object splitting (residential object types)
States

One and two-family
houses

Dwellings

Apartment blocks

Total

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Germany

332,065

260,178

295,813

248,202

3,200,995

3,033,676

3,828,873

3,542,055

Total

332,065

260,178

295,813

248,202

3,200.995

3,033,676

3,828,873

3,542,055

in EUR thousand

Regions
in EUR thousand
BadenWürttemberg
Bavaria
Berlin
Brandenburg

One and two-family
houses

Dwellings

Apartment blocks

Total

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

502

407

114

165

0

0

616

572

948

690

434

437

0

2,116

1,381

3,242

299,985

238,513

142,316

127,029

2,807,421

2,745,365

3,249,722

3,110,908

16,222

12,035

147,411

117,373

80,613

84,581

244,245

213,989

Bremen

566

0

0

0

4,954

4,955

5,520

4,955

Hamburg

615

270

564

0

9,128

9,281

10,307

9,551

Hesse

780

796

75

0

29,741

29,741

30,596

30,537

1,529

1,193

2,214

1,891

1,341

990

5,084

4,074

444

92

653

1,001

41,169

24,637

42,286

25,729

8,137

4,923

422

81

127,732

38,954

136,291

43,958

0

0

148

148

0

0

148

148

MecklenburgVorpommern
Lower Saxony
North RhineWestphalia
RhinelandPalatinate
Saxony

1,539

837

306

0

76,124

73,660

77,969

74,498

Saxony-Anhalt

487

268

87

23

10,082

6,658

10,656

6,948

SchleswigHolstein

256

152

1,071

55

12,167

12,214

13,494

12,422

54

0

0

0

523

523

577

523

332,065

260,178

295,813

248,202

3,200.995

3,033,676

3,828,873

3,542,055

Thuringia
Total
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Details in accordance with Section 28 Para. 2 No. 1b and c PfandBG:
Object splitting (commercial object types)

States

Office buildings

Trade buildings

Other buildings used for
commercial purposes

Industrial buildings

New buildings under
constructions, not yet
profitable

Building sites

Total

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Germany

1,060,407

1,095,679

292,772

303,737

93,618

99,900

302,023

307,526

0

0

1,079

539

1,749,899

1,807,381

Total

1,060,407

1,095,679

292,772

303,737

93,618

99,900

302,023

307,526

0

0

1,079

539

1,749,899

1,807,381

in EUR thousand

Regions

Office buildings

Trade buildings

Other buildings used for
commercial purposes

Industrial buildings

New buildings under
constructions, not yet
profitable

Building sites

Total

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

DE

Baden-Württemberg

0

0

6,126

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

6,126

0

DE

Bavaria

0

34,331

0

3,060

0

8,220

0

2,283

0

0

0

0

0

47,894

DE

Berlin

886,913

887,352

213,733

254,261

69,800

60,489

283,896

278,400

0

0

652

505

1,454,994

1,481,007

DE

Brandenburg

45,469

38,805

23,149

18,140

16,621

19,297

6,136

5,895

0

0

427

34

91,802

82,171

DE

Bremen

3,531

3,531

4,265

477

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

7,796

4,008

DE

Hamburg

25,944

31,235

0

0

0

0

3,269

6,634

0

0

0

0

29,212

37,869

DE

Hesse

36,508

37,800

0

0

3,694

5,257

0

5,365

0

0

0

0

40,202

48,422

DE

Mecklenburg-Vorpommern

676

729

13,560

13,560

0

0

2,128

2,170

0

0

0

0

16,364

16,459

DE

Lower Saxony

7,087

7,088

0

0

0

0

250

0

0

0

0

0

7,337

7,088

DE

North Rhine-Westphalia

11,781

9,232

1,020

1,020

3,475

6,603

1,485

1,485

0

0

0

0

17,761

18,340

DE

Rhineland-Palatinate

DE

Saxony

DE
DE
DE

Thuringia

In EUR thousand

Total

31.12.2020

0

0

0

551

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

551

37,316

44,105

18,250

0

28

34

0

0

0

0

0

0

55,593

44,139

Saxony-Anhalt

1,255

1,290

0

0

0

0

4,859

5,294

0

0

0

0

6,114

6,584

Schleswig- Holstein

3,928

181

12,668

12,668

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

16,597

12,849

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

1,060,407

1,095,679

292,772

303,737

93,618

99,900

302,023

307,526

0

0

1,079

539

1,749,899

1,807,381
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Details pursuant to Section 28 Para. 2 No. 2 PfandBG:
Mortgage register

Status of the lien on property

Payments in arrears (at least 90 days)

Outstanding amount, if payments in
arrears >= 5%

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Germany

50.3

10.6

74.4

20.5

Total

50.3

10.6

74.4

20.5

Berlin

26.5

9.0

74.4

20.5

4.2

1.6

0.0

0.0

Saxony-Anhalt

19.7

0.0

0.0

0.0

Total

50.3

10.6

74.4

20.5

in EUR thousand

Brandenburg

Details in accordance with Section 28 (2) No. 4a/b/c PfandBG:
Commercial

Residential construction

Number
31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Forced sale and receivership proceedings pending
as at the reporting date

0

0

0

0

Compulsory taxation carried out in
the financial year

0

0

0

0

Properties acquired to prevent losses within the
financial year

0

0

0

0

Details pursuant to Section 28 Para. 3 No. 1 PfandBG:
Public register
Sizes
in EUR thousand

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

up to EUR 10,000,000

21,251

23,137

more than EUR 10,000,000 up to EUR 100,000,000

50,000

153,387

more than EUR 100,000,000

636,894

527,325

Total

708,145

703,849
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Details pursuant to Section 28 Para. 3 No. 2 PfandBG:
Public borrowers by type and state
owed/guaranteed

State governments

Regional authorities

Local authorities

Other public debtors

Total

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

Germany (owed by)

0

0

50,000

140,000

0

0

515,928

544,220

565,928

684,220

Germany (ensured by)

0

0

0

0

0

0

142,216

19,629

142,216

19,629

Total

0

0

50,000

140,000

0

0

658,145

563,849

708,145

703,849

in EUR thousand

of which for reasons of export
financing
in EUR thousand
Total

State governments

Regional authorities

Local authorities

Other public debtors

Total

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Details in accordance with Section 28 (3) No. 3 PfandBG:
Customer groups with payments at least 90 days in arrears
Debtors
in EUR thousand
Germany

State governments

Regional authorities

Local authorities

Other public debtors

Total

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Outstanding amount, if payments in arrears >= 5 %
Debtors
in EUR thousand
Germany

State governments

Regional authorities

Local authorities

Other public debtors

Total

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

31.12.2021

31.12.2020

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
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Bodies of Landesbank Berlin AG

Management Board
Dr Johannes Evers
Chairman

Michael Jänichen

Hans Jürgen Kulartz

Tanja Müller-Ziegler

Supervisory Board
Helmut Schleweis

President of Deutscher Sparkassen- und Giroverband e.V. (German

Chairman

Savings Banks Association)

Frank Wolf *)

Berlin-Brandenburg District Manager, ver.di

Deputy chairman

Heiko Barten *)

Senior Adviser for Organisation and Productivity Management,
Landesbank Berlin AG

Michael Dutschke *)

Chairman of the Works Council of Landesbank Berlin AG

Dr. Michael Ermrich

Managing President of Ostdeutscher Sparkassenverband

until 31.12.2021
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Lutz Goldbeck *)

Member of the Works Council of Landesbank Berlin AG

Richard Gottlob *)

Group Head of International Sales, Landesbank Berlin AG

Gerhard Grandke

Managing President of Hessen-Thüringen Savings Bank

until 31.12.2021

Association

Sven Herzog *)

Investment advisor at the Landesbank Berlin AG Advisory Centre

Burkhard Jung

Lord Mayor of the City of Leipzig and President of the German

from 12.05.2021

Association of Cities and Towns

Daniel Kasteel *)

HR Adviser, Landesbank Berlin AG

Thomas Mang

President of Sparkassenverband Niedersachsen (Lower Saxony)

Marcel Philipp

Managing Director e.Mobility.Hub GmbH, Aachen

until 12.05.2021

Stefanie Rabe *)

Federal trade group leader of ver.di
Savings Banks and Bundesbank specialist division

Stefan Reuß

Managing President of Hessen-Thüringen Savings Bank

from 1.1.2022

Association

Prof. Dr Ulrich Reuter

President of Sparkassenverband Bayern (Bavaria)

Peter Schneider

President of Sparkassenverband Baden-Württemberg

Christina Stönner *)

Deputy Chairman of the Works Council of Landesbank Berlin AG

Walter Strohmaier

Chairman of the Management Board of Sparkasse NiederbayernMitte (Lower/Central Bavaria)
Federal Chairman of the German savings banks

Notes
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Spokesman for the Management Board of HASPA Finanzholding
and Hamburger Sparkasse AG

Ulrich Voigt

Chairman of the Board of Sparkasse KölnBonn

Ludger Franz Weskamp Managing President of Ostdeutscher Sparkassenverband
from 1.1.2022

Manfred Wiesinger *)

Manager of Media Sales and Marketing Division, Landesbank Berlin
AG

*) Employee representatives
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Mandates of members of the Management Board in supervisory
bodies of large stock corporations to be formed by law
(Section 340a Para. 4 No. 1 HGB)
Dr Johannes Evers
Chairman of the Management Board
Chairman of the Management Board of Landesbank Berlin Holding AG, Berlin

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
- S-Kreditpartner GmbH, Berlin
Member of the Supervisory Board of
- Finanz Informatik GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt am Main
-

Zoologischer Garten Berlin AG, Berlin

Michael Jänichen
Member of the Management Board
Member of the Management Board of Landesbank Berlin Holding AG, Berlin

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
- S-Servicepartner Berlin GmbH, Berlin
Member of the Supervisory Board of
- S-Kreditpartner GmbH, Berlin

Hans Jürgen Kulartz
Member of the Management Board

Member of the Supervisory Board of
- Deutsche Factoring Bank GmbH & Co. KG, Bremen
-

Deutsche Sparkassen Leasing AG & Co. KG, Bad Homburg v.d. Höhe

-

LBS Norddeutsche Landesbausparkasse Berlin-Hannover, Hanover

Notes

Tanja Müller-Ziegler
Member of the Management Board

Member of the Supervisory Board of
- Deutscher Sparkassen Verlag GmbH, Stuttgart
Member of the Administrative Board of
- DekaBank Deutsche Girozentrale, Frankfurt am Main

130 of 147

Notes

131 of 147

Mandates of employees in supervisory bodies of large stock
corporations, which are to be formed by law
(Section 340a Para. 4 No. 1 HGB)

Kai Uwe Peter
Member of the Supervisory Board of
-

LBS Norddeutsche Landesbausparkasse Berlin-Hannover, Hanover

Agnes Maria Wildner
Member of the Supervisory Board of
-

Berlinovo Immobilien Gesellschaft mbH, Berlin
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Responsibility statement of the legal representatives

To the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the
annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and
results of operations of the company and the management report gives a fair view of the
development of the business including the business results and the situation of the company
that corresponds with the actual circumstances and correctly shows the essential
opportunities and risks of the expected development of the company.

Berlin, 01 March 2022

The Management Board

Dr Evers

Jänichen

Kulartz

Müller-Ziegler
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Independent auditor's
certificate
To Landesbank Berlin AG, Berlin

Certificate regarding the audit of the annual financial
statements and the management report
Audit opinion
We have audited the annual financial statements of Landesbank Berlin AG, Berlin, consisting
of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021 and the income statement, the cash flow
statement and the statement of changes in equity for the financial year from 1 January to 31
December 2021, as well as the notes, including a summary of the accounting and valuation
methods. In addition, we have audited the management report of Landesbank Berlin AG,
Berlin, for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021.
In accordance with German statutory provisions, we have not audited the content of the
sections of the management report stated in the "Other information" chapter of our auditor’s
report.
In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,
– the accompanying annual financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the
additional requirements of German commercial provisions applicable to institutions and, in
compliance with the German principles of proper accounting, give a true and fair view of the
assets and financial position of the company as at 31 December 2021, and of its results of
operations for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021 and
– the accompanying management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the
company’s position. In all material respects, this management report is consistent with the
annual financial statements, complies with German statutory provisions and appropriately
presents the opportunities and risks of future development. Our audit opinion regarding the
management report does not extend to the content of the sections of the management report
stated in the "Other information" chapter.
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In accordance with Section 322 Paragraph 3 Sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has
not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements
and of the management report.

Basis for the opinions
We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements and of the management report in
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014; referred to
subsequently as "EU Audit Regulation") and in compliance with the German generally
accepted standards for financial statement audits promulgated by the Institute of Public
Auditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer, IDW). Our responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and principles are described further in the "Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the annual financial statements and the management report" section of our
auditor’s certificate. We are independent of the company’s entities in accordance with the
requirements of European law and German commercial and professional law, and we have
fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
Pursuant to of Article 10 Para. 2 lit f) EU Audit Regulation, we also declare that we have not
provided any prohibited non-audit services pursuant to Article 5 Para. 1 EU Audit Regulation.
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinions on the annual financial statements and the management report.

Key audit matters in the audit of the annual financial statements
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the annual financial statements for the financial year from 1 January
to 31 December 2021. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the annual
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
ACCOUNTING FOR PENSION OBLIGATIONS AFTER A CHANGE IN THE METHOD OF
IMPLEMENTATION FROM A DIRECT TO AN INDIRECT COMMITMENT BY TRANSFER
TO A PENSION FUND
Statements regarding the valuation of provisions for pensions and similar obligations are
included in the notes to the financial statements, section "Disclosures on accounting and
measurement methods", subsection "Provisions". Disclosures on pension provisions can be
found in the notes, under section "Disclosures on the balance sheet and income statement"
no. 15.

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK
In the annual financial statement as at 31 December 2021, the Bank shows provisions for
pensions and similar obligations of EUR 152.8 million (previous year: EUR 1,352.9 million).
The decrease is mainly due to the change in the implementation method from a direct to an
indirect pension commitment and the associated transfer of significant parts of the pension
obligations from earned commitments in the amount of EUR 1,294 million to Metzler
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Pensionsfonds AG (pension fund) as part of a debt assumption in return for a one-time
payment and transfer of assets as of 31 October 2021.
Through the involvement of the pension fund, the pension obligations are not extinguished
definitively due to the subsidiary liability of the accounting entity. Due to the insufficient assets
of the pension fund on the key date in relation to the necessary settlement amount according
to Section 253 Para. 1 Sentence 2, Para. 2 HGB, there is an option with regard to the
underfunding in this respect according to Article 28 Para. 1 Sentence 2 EGHGB not to form a
provision and to replace it with the disclosure according to Article 28 Para. 2 or Article 48
Para. 6 EGHGB in the notes. The Bank has made use of this option and disclosed the shortfall
of EUR 9.7 million in the notes.
There is a risk for the annual financial statement that the conditions for exercising the option to
carry indirect pension obligations on the liabilities side are not met and that the provisions are
not reported in the correct amount.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH
Based on our risk assessment and evaluation of the risks of error, we based our audit opinion
on both control-based and expressive audit procedures.
In a first step, we updated our knowledge of the business activities as well as the economic
environment, the corporate strategy and the procedures or business processes in the bank.
In order to assess the adequacy of the internal control system to ensure the correctness of the
provisions for pensions and similar obligations in the context of the change of the
implementation method from a direct to an indirect commitment of pension obligations by
transferring them to a pension fund, we performed observations and interviews, reviewed the
underlying pension fund contract as well as the Bank's opinion on the accounting assessment
of the transaction.
We then satisfied ourselves as to the adequacy and effectiveness of relevant controls
designed to ensure the accuracy of the provisions for pensions and similar obligations related
to the change of implementation mode.
In addition, we assessed the pension fund contract at the time of the transfer of the pension
obligations and examined on a sample basis the quantity structure underlying the
determination of the transferred pension obligations.
Finally, we verified the correct recognition of the derecognition in the general ledger by
reconciling all entries made in connection with this transaction to the underlying accounting
records and the contract.
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We checked the completeness of the required disclosures on the exercise of the option
pursuant to Article 28 Para. 1 Sentence 2 EGHGB in the notes.

OUR FINAL OBSERVATIONS
The Bank's approach to accounting for the change in the implementation method from a direct
to an indirect commitment of pension obligations by transferring them to a pension fund is
appropriate and in line with the applicable accounting principles.
COMPLETENESS OF INDIVIDUAL VALUE ADJUSTMENTS FOR RECEIVABLES FROM
CUSTOMERS
Statements regarding the applied on the accounting and valuation methods can be found in
the notes in the section entitled "Disclosures relating to accounting and measurement
methods" and in the subsection entitled "Provisions". Further disclosures on individual value
adjustments can be found in Note 24 in the "Risk provisions" section.

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK
The Bank's annual financial statement as at 31 December 2021 shows EUR 27.4 billion
(previous year: EUR 25.8 billion) of loans and advances to customers. This corresponds to
52.2% (previous year: 52.5%) of the balance sheet total.
The Corona pandemic leads to significant declines in turnover and/or profits in certain sectors
of the economy with the consequence of an increase in acute counterparty default risks. With
the Act on the Suspension of the Obligation to File for Insolvency [Gesetz zur Aussetzung der
Insolvenzantragspflicht - COVInsAG], the German legislator has (partially) suspended the
obligation to file for insolvency in accordance with Section 15a German Insolvency Code
[Insolvenzordnung - InsO] until 31 March 2021, if the insolvency or inability to pay is due to the
consequences of the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus (Corona pandemic). In addition, clients
have been granted participation in various statutory and voluntary moratoria as well as various
bridging support measures.
These measures lead to increased uncertainty in the assessment of debt servicing capacity
and to an increased risk of the accurate identification of claims on clients that are acutely at
risk of default.
Incorrect or incomplete identification of acute counterparty risks leads to these not being fully
taken into account through the formation of appropriate risk provisions and the receivables
from customers from the lending business are thus inaccurately valued.
For our audit, it was therefore of particular importance that adequate criteria for the
identification of acute counterparty risks in loans and advances to customers were defined in
the internal control system and that the internal control system is adequate and effective with
regard to the recognition of the criteria for the identification of acute counterparty risks in
receivables from customers.
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OUR AUDIT APPROACH
Based on our risk assessment and evaluation of the risks of error, we based our audit opinion
on both control-based and expressive audit procedures.
In a first step, we updated our knowledge of the business activities as well as the economic
environment, the corporate strategy and the procedures or business processes in the bank.
In order to assess the adequacy of the internal control system for the identification of
receivables from customers from the lending business that are acutely at risk of default or
have defaulted, we carried out observations and interviews and inspected the written rules and
regulations.
Subsequently, we satisfied ourselves of the appropriateness and effectiveness of relevant
controls to ensure the completeness of individual value adjustments on receivables from
customers. For the IT systems used, we tested the adequacy and effectiveness of the general
IT controls as well as automated process controls (e.g. the operation of the automatic days in
arrears counting) with the involvement of our IT specialists.
For all overdue loans and advances to customers, we have verified, on the basis of the days in
arrears count, that these have been identified as receivables from customers at acute risk of
default.
Based on a deliberate selection determined under materiality and risk aspects for borrowers in
industries directly affected by the Corona pandemic (including restaurants and hotels, travel
agencies and tour operators, retail in sales premises as well as sports, entertainment and
recreation services), we assessed the completeness of the identification of acutely defaultprone receivables from customers in the context of a credit case-by-case review by assessing
the ability to service the debt.
For the elements of a representative sample identified prior to the key date, we performed
expressive audit procedures and assessed for each sample element that there was no
evidence that the receivables from customers were at acute risk of default. For the period
between the key date of the representative sample determined and the key date of the audit of
the annual financial statements, we repeated the aforementioned audit procedures for further
randomly determined elements.
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OUR FINAL OBSERVATIONS
The procedure underlying the identification of acute counterparty risks in receivables from
customers is appropriate and in accordance with the applicable accounting and valuation
principles.

Other information
The Management Board and/or the Supervisory Board are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the following components of the management report which
have not been audited for their content:
– The separate non-financial report, which is referred to in Section A.5, "Controlling", and
– the declaration on company management in accordance with Section 289f Para. 4 HGB
(information regarding the proportion of female employees), which is contained in section
B.7., "Corporate Governance Statement" of the management report.
The other information also includes the other parts of the annual report. The other information
does not include the annual financial statements, the content of the audited management
report disclosures and our corresponding auditor’s certificate.
Our opinions on the annual financial statements and on the management report do not cover
the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion on these or give any
other form of assurance for these.
In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other aforementioned information
and, in so doing, to consider whether the other information
– is materially inconsistent with the annual financial statements, with the management report
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
– otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board for the annual
financial statements and the management report
The Management Board is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements
that comply, in all material respects, with the requirements of German commercial provisions
applicable to institutions, and for whether the annual financial statements, in compliance with
the German principles of proper accounting, give a true and fair view of the net assets,
financial position and results of operations of the company. In addition, the Management Board
is responsible for the internal controls it has deemed necessary in accordance with the
German principles of proper accounting in order to enable the preparation of annual financial
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.
When preparing the annual financial statements, the Management Board is responsible for
assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. It also has responsibility for
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to the continuation of the company’s operations. In
addition, it is responsible for financial reporting based on the accounting principle of
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continuation of the company’s operations, unless there are actual or legal circumstances to the
contrary.
Furthermore, the Management Board is responsible for the preparation of the management
report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the company’s position and is, in all
material respects, consistent with the annual financial statements, complies with German legal
requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In
addition, the Management Board is responsible for the arrangements and measures (systems)
it has considered necessary in order to enable the preparation of a management report that is
in accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, as well as to be able to provide
sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions in the management report.
The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process
for the preparation of the annual financial statements and the management report.

Auditor's responsibility for the audit of the annual financial statements and the
management report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
whether the management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the company’s
position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the annual financial statements and the
knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements, and
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an
auditor’s certificate that includes our opinions on the annual financial statements and on the
management report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in
compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits
promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material
misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements and this
management report.
We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also
– identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements and
of the management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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– obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the annual financial
statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the
management report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of these
systems.
– evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the Management Board and the
reasonableness of estimates made by the Management Board and related disclosures.
– draw conclusions on the appropriateness of the Management Board’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s certificate to the related disclosures
in the annual financial statements and in the management report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s certificate. However, future events or
conditions may cause the company to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.
– evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements present the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that the annual financial statements give a true and fair
view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the company in
compliance with the German principles of proper accounting.
– evaluate the consistency of the management report with the annual financial statements, its
conformity with German law and the view of the company’s position it provides.
– perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the Management
Board in the management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we
evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by the Management Board as a basis
for the prospective information and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective
information from these assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the
prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial
unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective information.
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
the relevant independence requirements and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and where
applicable, the related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the annual financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s certificate unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter.
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Other legal and regulatory requirements
Report on the audit of the electronic reproduction of the annual financial statements
and the management report prepared for the purpose of disclosure in accordance with
Section 317 Para. 3a of HGB
Pursuant to Section 317 Para. 3a HGB, we have performed a reasonable assurance
engagement to determine whether the data contained in the provided file
"landesbankberlin_198901 (1).zip" (SHA256 hash value:
0d3c65fe08f913e23fded6758dfc6def07be56775494173b0305ea548b096404) and prepared
for the purpose of disclosure comply with the requirements of Section 328 Para. 1 HGB on the
electronic reporting format ("ESEF format") in all material respects. In accordance with
German legal requirements, this audit extends only to the conversion of the information in the
annual financial statements and the management report into the ESEF format and therefore
neither to the information contained in these reproductions nor to any other information
contained in the aforementioned file.
In our opinion, the reproductions of the annual financial statements and management report
contained in the above-mentioned file and prepared for disclosure purposes comply, in all
material respects, with the requirements of Section 328 Para. 1 HGB regarding the electronic
reporting format. We do not express any opinion on the information contained in these
reproductions or on the other information contained in the above-mentioned file beyond this
opinion and our opinions on the accompanying annual financial statements and the
accompanying management report for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2021
contained in the preceding "Certificate regarding the audit of the annual financial statements
and the management report".
We conducted our audit of the file reproductions of the annual financial statements and
management report contained in the above-mentioned file in accordance with Section 317
Para. 3a HGB and the draft IDW Auditing Standard: Audit of electronic reproductions of
financial statements and management reports prepared for disclosure purposes in accordance
with Section 317 Para. 3a HGB (IDW PS 410). Our responsibility thereunder is further
described below. Our auditing practice has applied the quality assurance system requirements
of the IDW quality assurance standard: Requirements for quality assurance in the auditing
practice (IDW QS 1).
The company's Management Board is responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents
with the electronic reproductions of the annual financial statements and the management
report in accordance with Section 328 Para. 1 Sentence 4, No. 1 HGB.
Furthermore, the company's Management Board is responsible for the internal controls that it
determines are necessary to enable the preparation of the ESEF documents that are free from
material non-compliance, whether due to fraud or error, with the electronic reporting format
requirements of Section 328 Para. 1 HGB.
The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process of preparing the ESEF
documents as part of the financial reporting process.
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Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free
from material non-compliance, whether due to fraud or error, with the requirements of
Section 328 Para. 1 HGB. We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also
– identify and assess the risks of material non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328
Para. 1 HGB, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
– obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of ESEF documents in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of those controls.
– evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documentation, i.e. whether the file containing the
ESEF documentation complies with the technical specification for that file as set out in
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 as applicable at the reporting date.
– evaluate whether the ESEF documentation provides a consistent XHTML representation of
the audited financial statements and the audited management report.

Further information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation
We were elected as auditors by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on 12 May 2021. We were
commissioned by the Supervisory Board on 26 July 2021. We have been the auditors of
Landesbank Berlin AG without interruption since the 2016 financial year.
We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the
additional report to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (audit
report).

Other matters - Use of the audit opinion
Our audit opinion should always be read in conjunction with the audited Annual Financial
Statement and the audited Management Report as well as the audited ESEF documents. The
Annual Financial Statements and Management Report converted into XHTML format including the versions to be published in the Federal Gazette - are merely electronic
reproductions of the audited Annual Financial Statements and Management Report and do not
replace them. In particular, the ESEF opinion and our audit opinion contained therein can only
be used in conjunction with the audited ESEF documents provided in electronic form.
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Responsible auditor
The auditor responsible for the audit is Rainer Thiede.

Berlin, 9 March 2022
KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
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Landesbank Berlin AG
2021 Report of the Supervisory Board of Landesbank Berlin AG
The Supervisory Board and its committees dealt promptly, regularly and
comprehensively both in writing as well as orally with the situation and the business
development of Landesbank Berlin AG (LBB) and its subsidiaries and regularly
monitored the management of the Management Board.
The Supervisory Board was informed by the Management Board about the intended
business policies and other principle questions of the corporate planning, in particular
concerning the financial, investment and personnel planning, about the risk situation
and the Compliance, deliberated on all aspects which arose in this context and, if
applicable, expressed recommendations. Current individual topics were also
discussed between the CEO and the Chairman of the Supervisory Board. The Chairman
of the Supervisory Board also had direct discussions with the managers of the Internal
Auditing and Compliance departments.
Furthermore, the Supervisory Board and its committees passed resolutions regarding
the underlying transactions presented to it and other matters requiring a decision by
these bodies according to the rules of procedure and any additionally established
regulations.
Recurring subjects of the meetings included information from the Management Board
regarding current business development and the business divisions’ results, the
current situation and governance. There was also an intensive discussion with the
Management Board on a regular basis regarding the liquidity and risk situation as well
as developments in sales. The Corona pandemic and its effects on LBB also had a
significant impact on the reporting and discussions in this regard. In addition, the
ongoing low-interest phase and the resulting challenges for LBB, were thematic focal
points. Other focal points were the outsourcing of pension obligations, the ongoing
reporting on the Z25! cost programme and the unbundling of DirektBankService.
The available annual financial statements of LBB with the management report of LBB
for the financial year 2021 were audited by KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft,
Berlin, which was appointed as auditor of the financial statements by the General
Meeting by complying with the focus of the audit as stipulated by the Supervisory
Board (effects of the Corona pandemic) and issued with an unqualified auditor’s
report.

Supervisory Board Report

145 of 147

With regard to the separate non-financial report, the auditor performed a limited
assurance audit and did not come across any reason for objections to be raised.
The representatives of the auditor of the financial statements took part both in the
balance sheet meetings of the audit committee and the credit committee as well as in
the balance sheet plenary meeting. The auditor of the financial statements reported
on the fundamental results of his audit, that the company has proper commercial
organisation in place and that the risk management system in place at the bank in
accordance with Section 25a Para. 1 Sentence 3 KWG and Section 91 Para. 2 AktG is
fundamentally sufficient. Based on our findings the measures taken appear to be
generally effective.
The audit committee and the Supervisory Board have acknowledged the reports issued
by the auditor of the financial statements concerning the audits. They also audited the
annual financial statements and the management report, as well as the non-financial
report. There were no objections to the audit results of the auditor of the financial
statements. Therefore, the Supervisory Board adopted the annual financial statements
of LBB as at 31 December 2021 prepared by the Management Board in its meeting on
28 March 2022; the annual financial statements are thus deemed as adopted
according to Section 172 AktG.
Personnel details
As of 1 January 2021, Prof. Dr. Ulrich Reuter took up his mandate on the Supervisory
Board, succeeding Dr. Ulrich Netzer, who resigned as of 31 December 2020.
On 12 May 2021, Mr Marcel Philipp resigned from his role as member of the
Supervisory Board. Dr. Burkhard Jung took his place on 12 May 2021.
On 31 December 2021, Dr. Michael Ermrich resigned from his position as a member of
the Supervisory Board and thus also as Deputy chairman of LBB's Credit Committee.
He was succeeded on the Supervisory Board and the Credit Committee by Mr Ludger
Franz Weskamp on 1 January 2022.
On 31. December 2021, Mr Gerhard Grandke resigned from his position as a member
of the Supervisory Board and thus also from his position on the Credit Committee. He
was succeeded by Mr Stefan Reuß on the Supervisory Board and the Credit Committee
as of 1 January 2022.

The Supervisory Board thanks the members of the Management Board as well as all
employees for the work performed in the 2021 financial year.
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Berlin, March 2022
The Supervisory Board

Helmut Schleweis
Chairman
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